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Together, we weathered a global crisis

One country, standing united, hopeful.

Together, we made it through

And it is hand in hand, again

That we’ll provide for a better tomorrow.
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CHAIRPERSON’S 
REVIEW Dear Shareholder,

I am pleased to submit to you, on behalf of the 
Board of Directors, the audited financial statements 
of the Company and the LFL Group (“the Group”) as 
well as my comments on the Group’s performance 
for the financial year ending 30 June 2022. 

Overview 

After two years of the “Covid pandemic” when organisations had to adapt 
to continuous disruptions due to the restrictive sanitary lockdowns and the 
consequential repercussion on logistics and supply chains, the world economic  
order was further impacted, during the year under review, by Russia’s invasion  
of Ukraine in February 2022.

Besides the dramatic human and political impact of this war, Russia and Ukraine  
being major world suppliers in the food and energy sector, the effect of the war  
and associated economic sanctions resulted in a reduction of more than 20%  
in the supply of the world cereal stocks. Consequently, there was a huge surge  
in the price of maize and soya, the major ingredients of feed, increasing by  
more than 80% within a few months. This price increase together with a rise  
of more than 300% in the freight costs, at a time of significant depreciation of  
our currency against the USD, led to a major escalation in cost of production. 

Notwithstanding this new reality, the Group managed to show strong resilience  
with a profit before tax of Rs 211M while concurrently taking actions to mitigate  
this negative impact on the local farming community.

It is pertinent to highlight that LFL today operates in four different countries in  
the region and the challenges of this crisis were specific to each country.  
However, the agile management in response to each environment contributed  
to the positive results with nearly half of the profit coming from overseas 
entities:

LOCAL OPERATION

LFL Pailles
Sales on the local market were slightly affected as farmers reduced their 
production because of the recurring increase in their cost of production and 
the lower demand from consumers. During the last two years, the Company 
organised regular meetings with local farmers to keep them abreast of the 
international situation and emphasised the need to continue local production 
despite the increase in costs as local production was becoming, increasingly, 
more competitive compared to import.



 

L F L  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 2 2    76  

L F L  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 2 2

CHAIRPERSON’S 
REVIEW (CONT’D) We believe that Madagascar has the potential to 

become a major supplier of agricultural commodities 
for the region pending the implementation of 
structural reforms. This objective, however, is a long- 
term one and would necessitate an engagement of 
all stakeholders, including international institutions.  

LFL Seychelles
In the Seychelles, from the onset of the pandemic, 
the government intervened to support farmers in 
maintaining the price of feed at pre-Covid levels, 
which ensured that the animal production sector 
was not disrupted and the level of self-sufficiency 
maintained.

Our Company posted good results with sales 
increasing by 40% compared to 2021, and 
reasonable profits.

LFL Rwanda
LFL Rwanda has started its operations in Rwanda 
as from July 2021.

An ongoing production facility was purchased and 
it was a major challenge to start operations in the 
strict lockdown environment. However, our team 
is progressing swiftly along their learning curve 
and results are as projected. Given that maize 
is a basic component of the stable diet of the 
population, with the global food security scare, 
there was strong intervention of the authorities to 
build up the country’s reserve for the population. 
This measure resulted in an increase in the price 
of maize and our production costs went up 
sharply with difficulty to maintain our margins.

It is expected that the stock situation will be eased 
up and that with prices that are more reasonable, 
sales will pick up.

Human Resources 

All through the Covid pandemic, the health and 
safety of our employees was a prime concern. 
The Company constantly engaged in discussions 
with its employees in order to ensure that they 
could take necessary precautions to ensure their 
well-being. 

Sanitary protocols were maintained through the 
year with the setting up of alternative shifts with 
extensive disinfection of the equipment between 
shifts. All our personnel were encouraged and given 
facilities to be vaccinated as per recommendations. 

Free testing facilities were offered to those who 
showed symptoms. Work from home and Teams 
meeting have been extensively deployed.

Sustainability and Inclusiveness

LFL contributed Rs 1,170,117 to CSR projects. 
Rs 461,346 were donated to the “Fondation 
Solidarité” of the Eclosia group to sponsor a  
few projects.

For the year under review, the fund supported 
13 different projects with a focus on food relief 
projects to vulnerable groups. Furthermore, in 
partnership with Caritas and Terre de Paix, an 
additional 12 families were introduced to our 
“Poules Pondeuses” scheme, raising the total 
number of families to 36.

LFL is also engaged extensively in the reduction 
of its impact on the environment. Only 16% of the 
waste was sent to landfill with 205 mt of organic 
waste sent to the community garden of Baie du 
Tombeau for composting. We are also in the 
process of raising the share of renewable energy 
production through photovoltaic solutions with  
a view to reduce our CO2 emission.

Prospects

The world economy remains very volatile. The 
commodity markets are still very sensitive to 
weather conditions and geopolitical turmoils. 
The world’s grain stock compared to pre-Covid, 
and pre-Ukraine/Russia war levels is still low. 
However, it is expected that the 2023 cereal 
crops are going to be very satisfactory and if the 
war settles, the production of wheat, sunflower 
and maize could be boosted rapidly with positive 
impact on prices.
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LOCAL OPERATION (CONT’D)

LFL Pailles (cont’d)

Finally, the recurrent crisis over the recent years 
has reinforced the conviction in the whole 
farming community that the country needs to 
rely on its local production and be less dependent 
on imports.

Our investment in a pullet farm for the laying 
sector proved to be an effective move as with the 
ready availability of pullets, this sector has been 
the first animal production sector to return to  
pre-Covid production levels.

Moreover, new segments need to be developed 
and our teams are working with local institutions  
in the pig and milk sectors to put in place a 
strategic plan to increase the level of self-
sufficiency with respect to these products. 

On the logistics side, the challenges were tackled 
by our team ensuring that there was no disruption in 
the procurement of raw materials. Our investment, 
amounting to Rs 120M, in building of additional 
buffer storage capacity helped the Company to 
maintain production with no disruption in supply. 

However, it is important to mention at this juncture 
that irregular calls of vessels in Port Louis remains 
a cause of serious concerns. 

On the financial side, increased stock levels, higher 
price of commodity and the depreciation of our 
currency raise our working capital requirements 
thus impacting our costs.

LFL Riche Terre
Sales for LFL Riche Terre have been very satisfactory 
for dog and primate feed. LFL products remain 
the preferred brands of local consumers. 

Export sales of fish feeds were encouraging.  
Our proximity to East Africa and the increase in 
freight costs from remote destinations made our 
products more competitive. Given the positive 
trend in growth in sales volumes of this division,  
the Company is investing in an additional 
production line.

Rodrigues
Rodrigues was particularly affected by the stringent 
lockdown protocols of the last two years. Local 
production has been drastically reduced and the 
country now needs to import most of its poultry 
and eggs requirement for internal consumption. 

LFL is working with the Rodrigues Regional Assembly 
to put in place a strategic plan to urgently restore 
the local supply chain. 

INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS

LFL Madagascar
Since maize is available locally in Madagascar, 
our Company has been less affected by the 
imported food inflation. Prices were maintained 
at reasonable levels and the local farming sector 
was able to persue its normal organic growth. Sales 
increased by 19% during the year confirming that 
our strategy to encourage production of local 
agricultural commodities is the right one. 

Our investment in additional storage capacity and 
technical support has encouraged small farmers 
to produce more maize as their harvest can now 
be stored in adequate conditions reducing post-
harvest losses. 

Additionally, the Company is further developing 
its point of sales depots (Farmshops) throughout 
the country and at present. There are 120 selling 
points which are selling day-old chicks and feed 
to local farmers. 

The poultry industry in Madagascar is slowly 
developing into an integrated and well-structured 
industry contributing significantly to the economy 
of the country.  
 
The overall development landscape in Madagascar 
for agricultural products, however, remains 
challenging. The fiscal regime, regulations and 
procedures are fairly complex and not always 
business-friendly. Accordingly, LFL has joined the 
local feed association in order to collaborate with 
all parties with a view to improving local production. 

Gérard BOULLÉ
CHAIRPERSON

27 September 2022
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CORPORATE 
IDENTITY
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GROW
In uncertain times, resilience is essential for ongoing growth.  

Our expansion in Africa, namely in Rwanda, Seychelles and Madagascar,  

is a symbol of such resilience. By providing our regional teams  

with knowledge and training, we empower them to keep prospering.
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

Shareholders
No. of ordinary 

shares held
%

Management and Development Company Limited 57,251,916 60.58

Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée 5,816,223 6.15

1.1 Shareholders holding more than 5% of the Company

 •  At 30 June 2022, the shareholders holding more than 5% of the Company were:

Livestock
Feed Limited 

(LFL)

60.58%
Management and
Development Company
Limited (MADCO)

33.27%
Others

6.15%
Les Moulins de la
Concorde Ltée (LMLC)

1 | SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE

 •  The shareholding structure of Livestock Feed Limited (“the Company”)  
at 30 June 2022 was as follows:
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CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONT’D)

No. of shares
No. of 

shareholders
No. of shares 

owned
% shareholding

0 – 500 1,528 140,551 0.14

501 – 1,000 183 138,877 0.14

1,001 – 5,000 419 1,034,974 1.1

5,001 – 10,000 181 1,371,719 1.44

10,001 – 100,000 335 11,126,756 11.76

100,001 – 200,000 27 3,926,872 4.2

200,001 – 500,000 20 6,061,204 6.41

above 500,000 7 70,699,047 74.81

Total 2,700 94,500,000 100.00

1.3 Shareholders’ Agreements affecting Governance of the Company

  •  There are no shareholders’ agreements that affect the governance of the Company.

1.4 Annual Meeting

   •  The next Annual Meeting of the Company will be held on 14 December 2022. Shareholders 
are encouraged to attend the Annual Meeting which is a forum where the Chairperson and 
the Managing Director of the Company give a review of the Group’s and the Company’s 
performance for the year and which allows face-to-face interactions between the Members 
of the Board, management and shareholders of the Company.

   •  Shareholders also receive the annual report of the Company and the notice of Annual Meeting 
of shareholders, which is also published in the newspapers and on the Company’s website.

2 |  CONSTITUTION
  • The Constitution is in line with the Companies Act 2001.

   •  The shares of the Company are traded on the Development Enterprise Market (“DEM”) of the 
Stock Exchange of Mauritius and are free from any restrictions on ownership.

3 |  THE GROUP STRUCTURE
   •  The structure of Livestock Feed Limited and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) at 30 June 2022  

was as follows:

1.1 Shareholders holding more than 5% of the Company (cont’d)

  •  Livestock Feed Limited is a public company listed on the Development Enterprise Market 
(“DEM”) of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius. Its largest shareholder, MADCO, holds 60.58% 
of the ordinary share capital and the ultimate beneficial owner of MADCO is Mr. Pierre Elysée 
Michel Doger de Spéville.

1.2 Distribution of shareholding at 30 June 2022

 •  At 30 June 2022, the Company had 2,700 ordinary shareholders, distributed as follows:

Livestock Feed
Limited (LFL)

Subsidiaries Associate

Les Pondeuses  
Réunies Ltée

100%

LFL Investment Ltd
100%

LFL Madagascar SA
100%

LFL International  
Rwanda Ltd

100%

LFL Rwanda Ltd
100%

Mahé Distributors Ltd 
(now LFL (Seychelles) Ltd)

100%

Les Moulins de la  
Concorde Ltée

29.13%
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CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONT’D)

4|  THE ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

   •  The organisational structure of Livestock Feed Group at 30 June 2022 was as follows:

•  The profiles of the senior management of Livestock Feed Limited at 30 June 2022 were as follows:

LFL 
Managing Director

— 
Rocky FORGET

Business Units Services

LFL Pailles & Riche Terre 
Manager
— 

Christophe NOËL

Finance 
Chief Financial Officer

— 
Sébastien RAE

HR 
HR Manager
— 

Parvez EDOO

Procurement 
Head of Procurement

— 
Alexandre MAZERY

Marketing Manager
— 

Yusufi RAHIMBACCUS

Regional Development 
Manager 
— 

Fabrice ZAROUR

Engineering & Project  
Management 

Engineering Manager
— 

Kailash ISSUR

Les Pondeuses Réunies 
Manager
— 

Yusufi RAHIMBACCUS

Mahé Distributors Ltd 
(now LFL (Seychelles) Ltd) 

Manager
— 

Charles ADELINE

LFL Madagascar
— 

 Gyn Zhu LAM

LFL Rwanda
— 

 Steven EDOUARD

Rocky FORGET
Managing Director

The profile of the Managing Director is given on page 22.

Christophe NOËL
Manager – LFL Pailles  
and Riche-Terre

Christophe Noël joined the Company in 2006 as Marketing Manager.  
He was promoted Manager of LFL Pailles Operations in April 2008 and 
has also managed operations at LFL Riche Terre since 2014. He holds a 
BSc in marketing and an MBA from Surrey University.

Gyn Zhu LAM
Manager – LFL
Madagascar SA

Gyn Lam joined the Group in April 2021 and leads the LFL Madagascar 
management team. He initially pursued a career in the textile and apparel 
performance wear industry. Mr Lam’s expertise is in Management 
especially in African countries. During the course of his career, he spent 
over 20 years in Madagascar, 8 years in Tanzania and 3 years in Ghana.

Sébastien RAE
Chief Financial Officer

Sébastien Rae joined the Eclosia Group of Companies in 2006 as Group 
Financial Analyst and was promoted Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company in 2011. Mr Rae is an FCCA, holds an MBA and followed an 
executive education programme on Strategy from HEC Paris.

Alexandre MAZERY
Head of Procurement

Alexandre Mazery joined the Company in 2014 as Head of Procurement. 
Mr Mazery is a member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and 
Administrators of the UK.

Parvez EDOO
Human Resource Manager

Parvez Edoo, who joined the Company in 2019, holds an MBA from 
Surrey University. He has 20 years’ experience in the Human Resource 
field, acquired in different sectors.

Yusufi RAHIMBACCUS
Manager – Les Pondeuses  
Réunies Ltée

Yusufi Rahimbaccus joined the Company in 2006. She holds a BSc 
(Hons) in Agriculture SP Animal Production, a Masters “3e Cycle en 
Gestion” and an MBA in International Management from the University 
of Northampton. Since May 2020, Mrs Rahimbaccus has taken on  
the additional responsibility of leading the marketing and sales unit at 
LFL Pailles.

Fabrice ZAROUR
Manager – Regional 
Development

Fabrice Zarour joined the Company in 2012 as Technical Coordinator for 
Aquaculture Products at LFL Extrusion Unit. Mr Zarour holds a Masters 
in Aquaculture from the University of Montpellier II and a Degree in 
Agronomy from Bretagne Occidentale University. In 2014, Mr Zarour 
moved to LFL Pailles as Technical and Marketing Manager. Since May 2020, 
he has been leading the regional development initiatives of the Group.

Kailash ISSUR
Engineering Manager

Kailash Issur joined the Company in 2015 as Maintenance Manager. 
He holds a BEng (Hons) in Electrical & Electronic Engineering from the 
University of Mauritius and an MBA from the University of Edinburgh.  
Mr Issur is also a Certified Energy Manager from the Association of Energy 
Engineers (US) and was appointed Engineering and Project Management 
Manager of the Group in May 2020.
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4 |  THE ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE (CONT’D)

   •  A formal process of succession planning has been put in place through the “Talent Management” 
programme.

   •  The above managers and other senior officers do not hold shares in the Company.

 •  In addition, no senior officer of the Company has been granted any special right to subscribe 
for equity or debt securities of the Company.

5 |  THE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
   •  Livestock Feed Limited is a public company quoted on the DEM and, as such, is a Public 

Interest Entity.

   •  The Board of the Company assumes responsibility for leading and controlling the organisation 
and for meeting all legal and regulatory requirements. In addition, it ensures that the Company 
adheres to the principles of good governance.

   •  In that respect, a board charter and a directors’ code of ethics have been adopted by the Board to 
ensure that the core values of the Company also form an integral part of its governance. The board 
charter and the directors’ code of ethics are available for consultation on the Company’s 
website.

   •  Furthermore, all the employees of the Company adhere to the Code of Ethics of the Group.

   •  The Group believes that the most important part of working together is to give the opportunity 
to employees to express themselves and interact with the management on a daily basis.  
As part of the Communication Structure employees are given, through the “Conseil d’Entreprise” 
and the “Réunion Elargie,” the opportunity to interact with management and participate in 
the development of the Company. Furthermore, the “politique d’écoute” adopted gives the 
opportunity to employees to come forward if they become aware of non-conformity with the 
values of the Company.

   •  Moreover, the stakeholders of the Company are also involved in a dialogue on its organisational 
position, performance and outlook, and management ensures that the Company responds 
to their reasonable expectations and interests. In that respect, the following steps are taken: 

  (a) Suppliers

    The Company keeps a register of suppliers for products and services it purchases.  
The suppliers are evaluated on the quality of product delivered and the service they supply. 
The evaluation exercise allows the Company to determine its preferred supplier.

      The Company favours competitive bidding between the preferred suppliers to ensure that 
it gets the best product at the most competitive price. However, potential suppliers who 
are not on the preferred suppliers list are invited to quote and are screened according to a 
fixed established protocol.

  (b) Employees

      The satisfaction level of employees is evaluated every two years through an engagement 
survey. The result of this survey is analysed in focus groups consisting of representatives of 
employees and an improvement action plan is thereafter put in place. The last survey was 
carried out in 2021 and the results were above market average.

  (c) Clients

      A customer survey exercise is carried out by an independent organisation every two years.  
The results of the survey done in March 2021 have been analysed and an action plan put 
in place. Furthermore, there is a procedure to record complaints from clients which are 
tackled rapidly in line with LFL’s quality system management practices.

5.1 Statement of accountabilities

   •  The Chairpersons of the Audit and Risk Committee and Corporate Governance Committee 
report to the Board on the deliberations of their respective Committees, and as and when 
necessary, make recommendations to the Board.

   •  The Managing Director, who is a board member, reports on the operations and management 
of the Company and its subsidiaries to the Board. The Managing Director is accountable to the 
Board of the Company.

   •  Moreover, the accountabilities of the Chairperson, Company Secretary and the Board 
committees have been set out in their Position Statement and Terms of References respectively.

   •  The organisational structure of the Company is on page 16.

Shareholders

Managing Director

Corporate  
Governance 
Committee

Audit & Risk 
Committee

External 
Auditor

Internal 
Auditors

The Board
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6 |  THE BOARD STRUCTURE

6.1 The Board

   •  The Board, as the governing body, fully understands its role, responsibility and authority in 
setting out the strategy and monitoring the performance of the Company.

   •  The Company is headed by a unitary Board consisting at 30 June 2022 of eleven members.  
The Members of the Board are satisfied that:

  (i)  the Board is of an appropriate size, taking into account the organisation’s turnover, the 
complexity of its operations and its sector of activity;

  (ii)  the Board is well-balanced in regard to the skills, experience and knowledge of 
the organisation shown by its members, and, in the case of independent directors, 
independence of mind, which allows the directors to discharge their responsibilities 
towards the Company and its shareholders effectively; and

  (iii)  although there is only one executive director on the Board, the attendance of senior 
executives at the meetings and various sub-committees of the Board fulfils the spirit of 
the Code.

   •  Furthermore, non-executive directors who are considered by the Board as independent, 
have undertaken a self-assessment to determine whether their independence of character 
and judgement have been influenced during the year. This assessment was reviewed by the 
Corporate Governance Committee and the conclusions were reported to the Board.

   •  The roles of the Chairperson and the Managing Director are separate. The Chairperson,  
Mr Gérard Boullé, is a non-executive, non-independent director whereas the Managing 
Director, Mr Rocky Forget, is fully executive. They both have regular meetings to discuss 
matters concerning the Company and the Board is satisfied that the Chairperson commits 
sufficient time to carry out his duties and responsibilities effectively.

   •  The role and duties of the Chairperson are set out in a Position Statement which has been 
adopted by the Board of the Company.

   •  An evaluation is held every two years to assess the performance of the Board and the results 
of the evaluation are analysed by the Corporate Governance Committee. The suggestions/
recommendations made for improvement of Board proceedings are thereafter reported to  
the Board.

6.2 Composition of the Board

   •  The composition of the Board and the interests of the directors in the Company at 30 June 
2022 were as follows:

1 Richard ARLOVE - • • - • M - - - - 3

2 Gérard BOULLÉ - • - • • M - - - - 1

3 Michel DE SPÉVILLE, C.B.E. - • - • • M 0.031 0.062 36.22 - 3

4 Cédric DE SPÉVILLE - • - • • M - - 0.46 - 4

5 Eric ESPITALIER-NOËL - • - • • M - - 2.28 - 6

6 Gilbert ESPITALIER-NOËL - • - • • M - - 1.57 - 3

7 Rocky FORGET • - - • • M - - - - -

8 Jean Noël HUMBERT - • - • • M - - - - 2

9 Pierre-Yves POUGNET - • - • • M 0.101 0.034 - - 3

10 Jean RIBET - • - • • M - - 0.14 0.28 5

11 Jacqueline SAUZIER - • • - • F - - - - -
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•  Below are the profiles of the directors of the Company at 30 June 2022:

1 | Gérard BOULLÉ (Chairperson)

Holder of a “Maîtrise de Gestion” from the University of Paris IX Dauphine in France, Gérard Boullé is 
presently the Chief Operating Officer (COO), Food Industry of the Eclosia Group of Companies. He is 
a former President of the Association of Mauritian Manufacturers and is also Member of the Board of 
several companies of the Eclosia Group. 

Gérard Boullé was appointed Chairperson of the Company on 4 December 2013.

Directorships in other listed companies: Oceanarium (Mauritius) Ltd

2 | Michel DE SPÉVILLE, C.B.E.

Founder President of the Eclosia Group and Founder and Senator of the “Jeune Chambre Economique 
de l’Ile Maurice”, Michel de Spéville was elevated to the rank of “Commander of the Order of the British 
Empire” (C.B.E.), “Chevalier de l’Ordre de Mérite de Madagascar” and “Chevalier de la Légion d’Honneur 
de France”. He is an Honorary Citizen of the Moka-Flacq District of Mauritius and “Honorary Fellow 
Agribusiness” of the University of Mauritius. He is a former President of the Mauritius Chamber of 
Commerce & Industry, a former President of “L’Institut de la Francophonie pour l’Entrepreneuriat” (IFE) 
and is presently Chairperson and Member of the Board of various companies of the Eclosia Group.

Directorships in other listed companies: Oceanarium (Mauritius) Ltd, Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée 
and Tropical Paradise Co. Ltd.

Direct 
Shareholding
in Livestock 
Feed Limited

Indirect 
Shareholding
in Livestock 
Feed Limited
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6.2 Composition of the Board (cont’d)

3 | Cédric DE SPÉVILLE

Obtained a “Maîtrise en économie” from the University of Paris I Panthéon Sorbonne in 2001. He also 
completed an MSc in Accounting and Finance at the London School of Economics in 2003 and obtained 
a Masters in Business Administration from Columbia Business School in 2007. He was Consultant  
for COFINTER in Paris from 2002 to 2003 and joined the Eclosia Group in 2003. In January 2013, 
Cédric de Spéville was appointed Group Chief Executive Officer. He is a director of various companies 
of the Eclosia Group, a former President of the Mauritius Chamber of Commerce and Industry, a former 
President of Business Mauritius as well as a former Member of the Economic Development Board of 
Mauritius. He was appointed to the Board of the Company on 6 May 2009.

Directorships in other listed companies: Oceanarium (Mauritius) Ltd, Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée, 
Tropical Paradise Co. Ltd and Mauritius Freeport Development Co Ltd.

4 | Eric ESPITALIER NOËL

Holder of a Bachelor’s degree in Social Sciences and an MBA, Eric Espitalier Noël has extensive 
experience in the commercial and hospitality sectors, being a board member of various companies 
evolving in those sectors. He was first appointed to the Board of the Company in 1991 and is currently 
the Chief Executive Officer of ENL Commercial Limited.

Directorships in other listed companies: Automatic Systems Ltd, Commercial Investment Property 
Fund Limited, ENL Limited, Rogers and Company Limited, Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée and Tropical 
Paradise Co. Ltd (alternate director).

5 | Gilbert ESPITALIER NOËL

Holder of an MBA from INSEAD Fontainebleau, France, Gilbert Espitalier Noël is presently the CEO of 
New Mauritius Hotels Ltd. He was appointed to the Board of the Company on 16 February 1998.

Directorships in other listed companies: ENL Limited, New Mauritius Hotels Ltd and Rogers and 
Company Limited.

6 | Rocky FORGET

Holder of an MBA from Surrey University, UK, Rocky Forget joined the Eclosia Group of Companies 
in 1980, when he held a position in the farming division. He was appointed in 1991 as Technical & 
Commercial Manager of Livestock Feed Limited prior to being nominated General Manager in 1999. 
Rocky Forget was appointed Managing Director of the Company on 6 May 2009.

7 | Pierre-Yves POUGNET

An accountant by profession, Pierre-Yves Pougnet was appointed to the Board of the Company on  
26 September 1985 and is also a member of both the Corporate Governance Committee and the 
Audit and Risk Committee. He started his career with an audit firm and in 1975 joined the Eclosia 
Group where he occupied executive functions, amongst them the Managing Directorship of Panagora 
Marketing Company Limited and Food and Allied Industries Ltd (now Avipro Co Ltd). He was the  
Vice Chairperson of the Group when he retired in 2015.

Directorships in other listed companies: P.O.L.I.C.Y. Limited, Tropical Paradise Co. Ltd and Les Moulins 
de la Concorde Ltée.

8 | Jean Noël HUMBERT

Jean Noël Humbert is the holder of an Honours Degree in Agriculture and a Diploma in Agriculture 
& Sugar Technology. He has a vast experience in the field of agro-industry, having managed different 
companies in the sector and also resulting from his previous capacity as General Secretary of the 
Mauritius Chamber of Agriculture (1997-2005) and Chief Executive Officer of the Mauritius Sugar 
Syndicate (2005-2015). He has also acted as President of the National Productivity and Competitiveness 
Council. He is currently Chairperson of the Board of Directors of New Maurifoods Ltd and Chairperson 
of the Board of ENL Limited.

Mr. Humbert was appointed to the Board of the Company on 13 November 2015.

Directorship in other listed companies: ENL Limited and Oceanarium (Mauritius) Ltd.

9 | Jean RIBET

Jean Ribet holds a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of Cape Town, South Africa. He joined 
the Constance Group as Group Financial Controller in 1991 and was appointed Group Chief Executive 
Officer in 2004 with overall responsibility for the agro-industrial, tourism and investment activities of 
the Constance Group.

Directorships in other listed companies: BMH Ltd, Constance la Gaiété Company Limited, Constance 
Hotel Services Ltd, Hotelest Limited and IBL Ltd.

10 | Jacqueline SAUZIER

Jacqueline Sauzier has a scientific background in aquaculture and marine biology. Formerly Manager 
of the Mauritius Deer Farming Cooperative Society for more than 20 years, she has also invested her 
time in major national and regional projects in relation to the protection of the marine environment and 
biodiversity. She has been General Secretary of the Mauritius Chamber of Agriculture since April 2012 
and is the board director of several parastatal bodies. Mrs Sauzier was honoured with the distinction of 
Chevalier de l’Ordre du Mérite Agricole by the French Government in July 2018.



 

L F L  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 2 2    2524  

L F L  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 2 2

CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONT’D)

6.2 Composition of the Board (cont’d)

11 | Richard ARLOVE

Richard Arlove, FCCA, worked in Big Four accounting firms in Mauritius and in the UK, and as General 
Manager of companies marketing international brands prior to co-founding ABAX, a financial, corporate 
and fiduciary services company, in 2001. He was the CEO of ABAX until the company was acquired in 
2018 by Ocorian, a global trust and administration firm. He retired from Ocorian in August 2020, after 
two years as Regional Head of Africa, Middle East and Asia and Group ExCo member. Richard currently 
runs a business and finance consulting practice.

Richard has been and continues to be a board member of international companies and private equity 
funds investing in Africa and Asia and of national business and industry institutions.

Richard has been appointed director of the Company on 23 December 2020.

Directorships in other listed companies: IBL Ltd, Caudan Development Ltd and Promotion and 
Development Ltd.

6.3 Common directors

   •  The table below indicates the directors common to Livestock Feed Limited and other 
companies of the Eclosia Group.

 * Also alternate to Mr. Michel de Spéville in this company.

6.4 Directors’ dealings in securities of the Company

   •  The directors follow the principles set out in the DEM Rules on restrictions on dealings by the 
directors.

   •  None of the directors acquired shares of the Company during the year under review.

6.5 The Company Secretary

   •  The representatives of the Company Secretary, Eclosia Secretarial Services Ltd, are Associates 
of the Chartered Governance Institute, UK. They complete a minimum of twenty hours of 
training and skill development annually as required by the Chartered Governance Institute.

   •  The Company Secretary has access to Board Members and has been assigned the task of 
applying and implementing the principles of the Code by the Board.

   •  The duties of the Company Secretary have been set out in terms of reference which have 
been adopted by the Board. The said terms of reference are available for consultation on the 
Company’s website.

6.6 Board committees

6.6.1 The Audit and Risk Committee

   •  The roles and responsibilities of the Audit and Risk Committee are set out in its terms of 
reference and are in summary:

  - To assist the Board in fulfilling its supervisory responsibilities;

  -  To review the financial reporting process, the system of internal control and assessment of 
business and financial risks, the internal and external audit processes;

  -  To monitor compliance with laws and regulations as well as Board policies and Board 
decisions. In performing its duties, the Committee maintains effective working relationships 
with the Board of Directors, Management, as well as the Internal and External Auditors;

  -  To review regularly the risks register and ensure through internal audit reports that the 
identified risks are monitored and reviewed on a regular basis;

  -  To submit recommendations to the Board (for consideration and acceptance by shareholders) 
for the appointment and remuneration of the External Auditors.

   •  The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Committee are available for consultation on the 
Company’s website. These terms of reference are reviewed as and when required and, in any 
case, at least every five years.

   •  The composition of the Audit and Risk Committee at 30 June 2022 was as follows:

No. Directors LFL MADCO LMLC

1 Richard ARLOVE • - -

2 Gérard BOULLÉ (Chairperson) • - -

3 Michel DE SPÉVILLE, C.B.E. • • •
4 Cédric DE SPÉVILLE •  •* •
5 Eric ESPITALIER-NOËL • • •
6 Gilbert ESPITALIER-NOËL • - -

7 Rocky FORGET • - -

8  Jean Noël HUMBERT • - -

9 Pierre-Yves POUGNET • • •
10 Jean RIBET • - -

11 Jacqueline SAUZIER • - -

Name Position Status

Mr Richard ARLOVE Chairperson Independent Director

Mr Cédric DE SPÉVILLE Member Non-Executive Director

Mr Eric ESPITALIER-NOËL Member Non-Executive Director

Mr Pierre-Yves POUGNET Member Non-Executive Director

Eclosia Secretarial Services Ltd Secretary -
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6.6 Board committees (cont’d)

6.6.1 The Audit and Risk Committee (cont’d)

   •  The Audit and Risk Committee is presently composed of one independent director, the other 
Members being non-executive, non-independent directors. The Board is satisfied that the 
skills, knowledge of the organisation and experience of those non-executive directors allow 
them to discharge their responsibilities towards the Company and its shareholders effectively.

 •  The committee met four times during the year under review and confirms that it has discharged 
its responsibilities for the year in compliance with the above terms of reference.

 •  In those meetings, the committee considered the internal audit reports, the IT Audit report, 
the Food Safety report, the top 10 risks and the risk management process of Livestock Feed 
Limited and its subsidiaries.

6.6.2 The Corporate Governance Committee

   •  The roles and responsibilities of the Corporate Governance Committee are set out in its terms 
of reference and are in summary:

  -  To make recommendations to the Board on all corporate governance provisions to be 
adopted so that the Board remains effective in ensuring that the Company complies with 
prevailing corporate principles and practices;

  -  To ensure that the disclosure requirements with regard to corporate governance, whether in 
the annual report or other reports on an ongoing basis, are in accordance with the principles 
of the Code of Corporate Governance as recommended by the National Committee on 
Corporate Governance;

  - To make recommendations to the Board on the nomination and remuneration of directors.

   •  The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee are available for consultation 
on the Company’s website. These terms of reference are reviewed as and when required and, 
in any case, at least every five years.

 •  The Corporate Governance Committee has worked out an internal procedure which provides 
guidance to the Board on the nomination of directors. The procedure was approved by the 
Board and an induction programme for new directors has been reviewed by the Corporate 
Governance Committee and upon recommendation of the said committee, has been approved 
by the Board.

 • The induction programme is under the responsibility of the Chairperson of the Board.

 • The composition of the Corporate Governance Committee at 30 June 2022 was as follows:

 •  The Corporate Governance Committee met twice during the year under review. During 
these meetings, the Committee considered the corporate governance report, the directors 
retiring by rotation and their proposal for re-election at the next AGM and reviewed the board 
evaluation results.

6.7 Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings

   •  The attendance of the directors and committee members for the financial year ended  
30 June 2022 was as follows:

 * Ceased to hold office on 15 December 2021.

7 |  DIRECTORS’ APPOINTMENT PROCEDURES

7.1 Appointment procedures

   •  As per the Company’s constitution, every year one third of the directors longest in office retire 
by rotation and may offer themselves for re-election. These directors, if re-elected, have a 
three-year term after which they may once again stand for re-election.

   •  Moreover, according to the Company’s constitution, in cases of casual vacancies, the Board 
can appoint someone to serve as director of the Company until the next Annual Meeting, 
where his election will be ratified.

   •  The Company has a formal procedure for appointment of directors. This procedure stipulates 
that prior to the appointment of directors on the Board of the Company, the Corporate 
Governance Committee shall evaluate the profiles of candidates based on the requirements 
of the positions and the skills and expertise needed.

Name Position Status

Mr Richard ARLOVE Chairperson Independent Director

Mr Gerard BOULLÉ Member Non-Executive Director

Mr Eric ESPITALIER-NOËL Member Non-Executive Director

Mr Pierre-Yves POUGNET Member Non-Executive Director

Eclosia Secretarial Services Ltd Secretary -

No. Directors

Board 
attendance
(5 meetings)

Audit & Risk 
Committee
attendance
(4 meetings)

Corporate
Governance
Committee
attendance
(2 meetings)

1 Richard ARLOVE 4/5 4/4 2/2

2 Gérard BOULLÉ 5/5 - 2/2

3 Michel DE SPÉVILLE, C.B.E. 3/5 - -

4 Cédric DE SPÉVILLE 5/5 4/4 -

5 Pierre DINAN* 1/5 3/4 1/2

6 Eric ESPITALIER-NOËL 5/5 4/4 1/2

7 Gilbert ESPITALIER-NOËL 5/5 - -

8 Rocky FORGET 5/5 - -

9 Pierre-Yves POUGNET 5/5 4/4 2/2

10 Jean Noël HUMBERT 5/5 - -

11 Jean RIBET 5/5 - -

12 Jacqueline SAUZIER 4/5 - -
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7 |  DIRECTORS’ APPOINTMENT PROCEDURES (CONT’D)

7.1 Appointment procedures (cont’d)

   •  Once the appropriate candidate is selected by the Corporate Governance Committee, the 
latter will recommend the nomination of the person selected to the shareholders, or, in the 
case of casual vacancies, to the Board.

   •  A letter of appointment for non-executive directors has also been approved by the Board and 
non-executive directors are required to sign the said letter as soon as they are appointed to 
the Board.

7.2 Induction and orientation

   •  The Company has a formal induction process. Upon appointment, the director receives an 
induction and orientation programme where he is invited to visit the Company and familiarise 
himself with its operations. The director also receives, through an induction pack, copies of 
minutes of the last three board meetings held prior to his appointment, the last three financial 
statements, the mission statement of the Company and relevant legislations which shall enable 
him to understand the duties and obligations of being a director.

   •  Responsibility for the induction process lies with the Chairperson of the Board.

7.3 Professional development

   •  The Company provides opportunities for its directors to develop their knowledge and skills 
through workshops and development programmes.

7.4 Succession planning

   •  In order to keep a balance of skills and expertise at the level of the Board, succession planning 
is the responsibility of the Corporate Governance Committee which reviews the composition 
of the Board from time to time.

8 |  DIRECTORS’ DUTIES, REMUNERATION AND PERFORMANCE

8.1 Directors’ duties

   •  Upon a director’s appointment, the relevant legislations pertaining to the legal duties of acting as 
a director on the Board of the Company are communicated to him through the induction pack. 

   •  Furthermore, at the start of every financial year, the directors are provided with the close 
periods for trading on the Company’s securities for the year and the relevant legislations 
pertaining to declarations of interests under the Securities Act and the DEM Rules.

   •  In addition, a board charter setting out all the director’s duties and responsibilities with respect 
to the board governance has been adopted by the Board and is available for consultation on 
the Company’s website.

8.2 Code of ethics

   •  A code of ethics for the directors of the Company has been adopted by the Board and is 
available for consultation on the Company’s website.

   •  The said code of ethics provides guidance to the directors in dealing with ethical issues, 
conflicts of interest and related party transactions.

8.3 Conflicts of interest

   •  The Company Secretary maintains an interest register for the Members of the Board. It is, 
however, the responsibility of each director to ensure that any interests be recorded in this 
register.

   •  Whenever there is an actual or potential conflict of interest, the director concerned is not 
present at the part of the meeting in which the conflict or potential conflict is discussed and, 
therefore, does not debate or vote on the matter.

   •  Specific provisions relating to directors’ conflicts of interest and related party transactions are 
included in the directors’ code of ethics which is available for consultation on the Company’s 
website.

8.4 Board information

   •  Relevant board information is provided to Board members in a timely manner to enable them 
to have sufficient time to study the matters that will be discussed at the meetings and make 
appropriate decisions.

   •  Where necessary, directors may have access to independent professional advice at the 
Company’s expense, subject to the formal approval of the Chairperson, to enable them to 
discharge their responsibilities.

   •  A Directors’ and Officers’ Liability cover is in place for directors and senior officers of the 
Company.

8.5 Board evaluation

   •  The Board recognises the significance of board evaluation exercises which are carried out on 
a biennial basis. A board evaluation was carried out during the financial year 2021/2022.

   •  The board evaluation is done internally by way of a questionnaire and any weakness identified 
is examined by the Corporate Governance Committee and addressed by the Board.
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8 |  DIRECTORS’ DUTIES, REMUNERATION AND PERFORMANCE (CONT’D)

8.6 Remuneration

   •  The fees for Members of the Board, Audit and Risk and Corporate Governance Committees at 
30 June 2022 were as follows:

   •  The fees paid to the directors of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 were  
as follows:

 * Ceased to hold office on 15 December 2021.

   •  Non-executive directors have not received any remuneration in the form of share options or 
bonuses associated with the performance of the Company.

   •  The total remuneration and benefits received by the executive director during the financial 
year amounted to Rs 7,238,384.

8.6.1 Statement of Remuneration Philosophy

   •  A formal Statement of Remuneration Philosophy has been adopted by the Board of the 
Company. The philosophy is to offer a competitive package that will attract, retain and motivate 
directors and employees of the highest calibre and recognise value-added performance, 
whilst taking into account the Company’s financial position.

   •  In that respect, the remuneration offered to each category of jobs within the Company has 
been benchmarked and aligned with the current market rate.

   •  Moreover, the directors’ fees are also benchmarked on market norms and reviewed on a 
regular basis by the Board upon recommendation of the Corporate Governance Committee.

9 |  RISK GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL

9.1 Risk governance

   •  The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and for determining the nature and extent 
of the principal risks it is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives. It that respect, it 
has entrusted to the Audit and Risk Committee the responsibility of ensuring that Management 
identifies and manages all inherent risks on a regular basis.

   •  The management of the Company has set up a risk management process to identify and 
manage risks. Management keeps a risk register that is updated regularly when risk elements 
are observed. Risks are evaluated according to the likelihood of their occurrence and their 
potential impact on the business activity. This methodology helps to prioritise the risks and 
consequently the focus of management. The top 10 risks of the Company are monitored on 
a regular basis through cross-functional action meetings under the supervision of the Chief 
Financial Officer. For the year under review, sourcing of raw materials, logistics and exchange 
rate were the main areas of concern and actions to mitigate these risks were taken.

   •  A special Audit and Risk Committee meeting is held on a yearly basis to assess the risks of the 
Company. The committee monitors and evaluates the Company’s risk management process.  
It reviews the action plans and validates their implementation.

   •  The enterprise Risk Management Framework has been reviewed and updated during the 
financial year under review and new software to assist Risk Management due to be implemented 
in 2019/20 has been delayed till 2022/23.

   •  By virtue of its activities, the Group is exposed to a variety of risks as outlined hereunder:

  (a) Strategic and Business Risks

    The Company carries out a strategic planning exercise every three years. During this 
process, the macro-economic and environmental conditions as well as sectorial and 
internal factors of the Company are analysed to identify opportunities and threats for each 
segment in which it operates. Action plans are then put in place in the yearly budget.

  (b) Legal & Commercial Risks

    The Group minimises legal and commercial risks by consulting in-house and external 
Legal Counsels, who provide legal advice on relevant files as and when required. The legal 
and compliance departments also assist Business Units in complying with applicable laws 
and regulations in force.

No. Directors

Board 
Fees 

Rs

Audit & Risk 
Committee

Fees
Rs

Corporate
Governance

Committee Fees
Rs

1 Richard ARLOVE 180,000 110,000 70,000

2 Gérard BOULLÉ 300,000 - 55,000

3 Michel DE SPÉVILLE, C.B.E. 160,000 - -

4 Cédric DE SPÉVILLE 200,000 90,000 -

5 Pierre DINAN* 70,000 65,000 35,000

6 Eric ESPITALIER-NOËL 200,000 90,000 45,000

7 Gilbert ESPITALIER-NOËL 200,000 - -

8 Rocky FORGET 200,000 - -

9 Pierre-Yves POUGNET 200,000 90,000 55,000

10 Jean Noël HUMBERT 200,000 - -

11 Jean RIBET 200,000 - -

12 Jacqueline SAUZIER 180,000 - -

Chairperson Directors

Type of meeting
Annual Retainer

Rs
Meeting Fee

Rs
Annual Retainer

Rs
Meeting Fee

Rs

Board meeting 200,000 20,000 100,000 20,000

Audit and Risk 70,000 10,000 50,000 10,000

Corporate Governance 50,000 10,000 35,000 10,000
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9 |  RISK GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL (CONT’D)

9.1 Risk governance (cont’d)

 (c)  Information Technology Risks

   The Group’s management of Information Technology risks is detailed under section 8.4 above. 

 (d) Human Resource Risks

   The Group’s success depends on the commitment and performance of its employees. 
Procedures have been put in place for the recruitment and development of talents in the 
Group. The management of Human Resources is an ongoing process that involves careful 
planning so that the Company is geared to respond to any change in the environment. Policies 
have been put in place to ensure that all processes are carried out in line with international best 
practices. Furthermore, employees are strongly encouraged to participate in improvement 
teams to continuously improve our processes. This is further detailed in section 23 below.

 (e)  Health, Safety and Environmental Risks

    Given the nature of its business, the Group is exposed to events that can affect its employees. 
These risks are managed by means of constant auditing, and training in matters of 
environmental protection as well as occupational health and safety. In order to ensure the 
good running of plants and equipment, occupational risks at all operational locations are 
constantly monitored. By adhering to high technical standards, rules of conduct, and all legal 
requirements in environmental protection and occupational health and safety, the Group 
ensures that its employees’ health is not at risk. During the year, health protocols have been 
reinforced on all our sites. See also below Environment under section 22 and Health & Safety 
under section 24.

 (f)  Financial Risks

    The Group’s management of financial risks is detailed in note 3 of the financial statements.

9.2 Risk Management

   •  Insurance policies are maintained in all countries in which the company operates. These policy 
covers include fire and allied perils, machinery breakdown, loss of profits resulting from fire 
and allied perils and machinery breakdown, public and product liabilities, directors’ liability, 
burglary, money in transit, goods’ inland transit, marine cover and credit protection facility 
for non-group local and foreign credit clients. The adequacy of insurance covers is reviewed 
annually based on the advice of a consultant.

   •  With the global pandemic, a health and safety plan to respond to Covid-19 has been put in 
place. Sanitary and cleaning procedures have been reinforced to protect the health and safety 
of employees and stakeholders.

9.3 Business Continuity

   •  The business continuity process has been reviewed and consolidated. The process is detailed 
in section 23 below.

9.4 Internal control

   •  A sound internal control system is in place in the Company. The internal control system ensures 
that organisational objectives in terms of effectiveness and efficiency are met. It provides 
assurance that financial statements are prepared in compliance with relevant accounting 
standards and that the Company complies with laws, regulations and policies.

   •  The internal control process is audited by internal and external auditors who report directly to 
the Audit & Risk Committee on any material weaknesses which come to their attention.

   •  In addition to reviewing the Company’s risks, the Board has entrusted the Audit and Risk 
Committee with the responsibility of reporting on the effectiveness of Internal Control.

9.5 Data protection

   •  A lot of emphasis is being put on data protection and compliance locally and abroad with the 
Data Protection Act and GDPR. In this context, LFL has sought the services of a specialist to 
assist the Company to better manage this function. A planning of activities has been set and 
there is regular reporting to the Data Protection Committee (DPC) on the progress on the data 
protection initiatives.

   •  The year 2021/2022 was marked by the development of several actions to meet the 
requirements of the applicable legislations and the main elements are:

  (a)  Elaboration and deployment of a DPA Action Plan to monitor the progress of the different issues.
  (b)  Setting up of policies and procedures.
  (c)  Review and update of the Records of Processing Operations (RPO)
  (d)  Preparation and signature of Contracts with Processor and Data Sharing Agreement.
  (e)  Finalisation of Consent Forms of employees and their deployment.

   •  There was no case of data breach identified nor reported during the course of the year.

9.6 Information Technology and Information Security governance

   •  The Eclosia Group IT Executive Council (“the GIT”), supported by three sub-committees, is 
responsible to provide the necessary directions with regards to strategy, infrastructure and 
operations management in relation to information, communications and technology systems 
within the Eclosia Group including LFL.

   •  An Information Technology Policies and Procedures (“ITPP”) manual has been mandated by 
the GIT to provide guiding principles applicable to the management of IT related processes 
across Group Companies in order to:

  (a)  Establish responsibility and accountability for the use and maintenance of IT resources of 
Eclosia.

  (b)  Encourage management and staff to maintain an appropriate level of awareness, knowledge 
and skill to allow them to leverage IT resources in delivering quality service to the clients.

  (c)  Minimise the impact of IT incidents on service delivery.

  (d)  Protect the business information and any client information within its custody by 
safeguarding their confidentiality and integrity by maintaining their availability.
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9 |  RISK GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL (CONT’D)

9.6 Information Technology and Information Security governance (cont’d)

   •  The ITPP manual is reviewed annually by a sub-committee to accommodate process changes 
and adapt to new technologies.

   •  Independently, the Group IT Auditor reports to the Audit and Risk Committee of each Group 
Company about the level of compliance to the ITPP.

   •  An End User IT Security Policy is remitted to all new recruits and must be adhered to by all 
employees together with the cybersecurity awareness and eLearning programme.

   •  The new Microsoft D365 Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) System aimed at improving 
business operations and the decision-making process was successfully installed at LFL in 
2020. This new ERP system functions well and allows enhanced financial and cost controls.

   •  There are defined restrictions placed over the rights of access to information.

   •  This robust IT Governance Framework and initiatives proves that Information Management, 
Information Technology and Information Security is at the heart of LFL’s operations and that 
no efforts will be spared to maintain a reliable and secured IT environment.

10 |  AUDIT

10.1 Internal audit

   •  The Company outsources the internal audit functions to Eclosia Corporate Services Ltd which 
has a team of qualified professionals with extensive experience in auditing, fraud examination, 
risk management, information systems security, governance, health and safety, food security, 
quality systems, security and factory operations.

   •  Factory operation is also audited by technicians of MixScience, a major European operator in 
the animal feed sector.

   •  The Board, with the assistance of the Audit and Risk Committee and the Internal Auditor, 
monitors the effectiveness of internal controls.

   •  The Internal Auditors follow an established system of internal control and policies which 
ensure that the control objectives are attained.

   •  The Internal Audit team has an independent appraisal function which reviews the adequacy 
and effectiveness of internal controls and the systems that support them. This includes controls 
at both the operational and financial levels as well as offering guidance to Management in 
relation to the evaluation of overall business risks and actions taken to mitigate such risks.

   •  Weaknesses identified by the Internal Auditors during their reviews are brought to the attention 
of Management and the Audit and Risk Committee formally by way of risk-rated structured 
reports. These reports comprise the results of the current review together with updates on the 
corrective actions taken by Management to improve control systems and procedures.

   •  The Audit Reports are compiled by the Group Head of GRC (Governance, Risk and Compliance) 
who attends and reports on the findings at the Audit and Risk Committee. Thereafter, the 
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee brings before the Board any material issues 
requiring the special attention of the Directors.

   • The purpose, authority and responsibility of the Internal Auditors are formally defined in a charter. 

   •  The Internal Audit team has the authority to access and examine all information, both paper-
based and electronic documents, as well as to inspect physical assets. No complaints were 
received from the Internal Auditor during the year under review with respect to restrictions on 
access to records, management or employees of the organisation.

   •  The objectives of the reviews performed by the Internal Audit function are to give assurance 
on the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls, compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations as well as on the reliability of financial reporting.

   •  The Group Internal Audit Manager and the Group IT Auditor meet with the Chairperson of the 
Audit and Risk Committee once a year without the presence of management.

10.2 External Auditors

   •  Further to the tendering process carried out in 2019 to proceed with the rotation of the external 
auditors of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers were appointed external auditors of the  
LFL Group.

   •  The Audit and Risk Committee reviews the audit plan and fees of the external auditor prior to 
the yearly audits.

   •  The Audit and Risk Committee meets once a year with the external auditors to review the 
Company’s financial statements, management and representation letter and to assess the 
effectiveness of the external audit process. The external auditor also has the opportunity to 
meet the members of the Audit and Risk Committee without management presence.

   •  An assessment of the work and performance of external auditors is carried out yearly both 
by management and the Audit and Risk Committee. The criteria used for such assessment is  
as follows:

  - Quality of Services provided
  - Sufficiency of Audit Firm and Network Resources
  - Independence, Objectivity and Professional Scepticism.

   •  The audit fees of the external auditor of the Group for the financial year 2021/2022 were  
Rs 1,750,000 and the fees for non-audit services were Rs 895,000.

   •  After review of the non-audit services carried out by the external auditor during the year, 
Members of the Audit and Risk Committee confirmed that, in their opinion, those services do 
not affect the external auditor’s independence.
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11 |  SHARE OPTION PLAN
   • The Company does not have any Share Option Plan.

12 |  SHARE PRICE INFORMATION
   •  The following graph shows the evolution of the Company’s share price on the Stock Market 

during the year under review up to 30 June 2022:

13 |  DIVIDEND POLICY
   •  The Company has no defined dividend policy as such and pays dividends based on its current 

profitability and the liquidity requirements of the Company.

   •  The dividend paid for the financial year under review amounts to Rs 0.37 per ordinary share and 
Rs 1.20 per preference share.

14 |  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
   •  Related party transactions are disclosed in note 35 of the accounts and are at arm’s length and 

in the normal course of business.

15 | CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE
   •  The following contracts exist between the Company and its major shareholders for:

  - The provisions of management services as detailed in section 17 below;

  -  The sale of animal feed to Avipro Co Ltd (wholly-owned subsidiary of MADCO) in the normal 
course of business;

  -  The provision of secretarial services by Eclosia Secretarial Services Ltd (wholly-owned 
subsidiary of MADCO); and

  -  The provision of business support services by Eclosia Corporate Services Ltd (wholly-owned 
subsidiary of MADCO).

   •  Furthermore, the following contracts of significance exist with companies of the Eclosia Group for:

  -  The provision of sales and distribution services by Panagora Marketing Company Limited 
(subsidiary of MADCO) for dog food in the normal course of business; and

  -  The provision of IT Support Services by Eclosia Technology Services Ltd (wholly-owned 
subsidiary of MADCO).

16 | CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH A DIRECTOR
   • There is no contract of significance between the Company and any of its directors.

17|  MANAGEMENT AGREEMENTS
   •  Livestock Feed Limited has a management contract with MADCO in which six directors have 

an interest.

   • The above contract is remunerated in the form of management fees.
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18 |  MAJOR EVENTS

19 | DONATIONS
   •  Donations by the Group for the year under review were:

20| MISSION AND VISION
   •  The vision and mission statements of LFL are used as the guiding framework of all strategic 

decisions:

   •  These statements have been communicated to all stakeholders and employees across the 
Group and are available on the Company’s website.

21 | CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
   •  LFL contributed Rs 1,170,117 in CSR funds this year, of which Rs 708,777 was remitted to the 

National CSR Foundation through the MRA and Rs 1,445,253 to the “Fondation Solidarité” 
(“Fondation”) of the Eclosia Group.

   •  The “Fondation Solidarité” is a special purpose vehicle that coordinates the CSR actions of the 
Eclosia Group of companies and channels their contributions towards projects and initiatives 
aimed at strengthening communities, alleviating poverty and creating a more equitable society 
in Mauritius.

   •  For the year under review, the Fondation Solidarité funded 13 different projects. The Fondation 
actively participated in the food relief project during the Covid period by distributing 15T of 
food product to people in need.

   •  The Fondation accompanies the CSR teams of LFL in identifying, developing and supporting 
projects in line with the vision of the Group and its Companies. The CSR teams coordinate, 
oversee and monitor the implementation of these projects.

   •  This year, the Fondation Solidarité continued to support the back-yard farming project 
presented by LFL.

   •  LFL, in partnership with local NGOs Caritas, Mouvement pour le Progrès de Roche Bois, Terre 
de Paix and Etoile du Berger developed further its support to vulnerable families. For the year 
under review, 12 new families joined the “Poules Pondeuses Scheme”. This three-year-based 
project accompanies families in the implementation of their own hen houses and offers training 
on layer husbandry, financial management and entrepreneurship. Beneficiaries received 
training and layer hens were distributed. This initial support allows these families to generate 
regular revenue in the first year. The cash generated is thereafter used to further develop the 
activity allowing the beneficiaries to become more independent in the management of their 
hen houses and sustain this initiative in the long term.

   •  LFL supported a community garden project initiated by Action Environmental at Saint Vincent 
de Paul. Through this project, local community members were trained into sustainable 
agricultural practices. The garden started its operation in February of this year and the first 
organic vegetables and fruits have been placed on the market.

22 | ENVIRONMENT
   •  Livestock Feed Limited is committed to environmental sustainability. It has been an ISO 14000 

certified company since 2013. LFL Pailles has an effective environmental management system 
that ensures the compliance of its activities with Mauritian laws. The Company’s aim is to 
reduce the impact of its activities on the environment through the motto “Reduce, Reuse and 
Recycle.” Livestock Feed Limited has an environmental and energy policy which states that it:

  -  shall operate in an environmentally responsible manner and comply with all relevant 
environmental and energy laws, regulations and other requirements.

THE GROUP

2022
Rs 000

2021
Rs 000

Charitable donations 729 775

Political donations Nil Nil

Event Month

Approval of audited financial statements and  
publication of abridged financial statements

September

Annual meeting December

Dividend declaration May

Dividend payment June

Publication of quarterly accounts:

• 1st quarter: ending 30 September
• 2nd quarter: ending 31 December
• 3rd quarter: ending 31 March

November
February

May

«  Contribuer activement au 
développement durable et 
responsable du secteur de 
l’alimentation animale en 
apportant à nos partenaires 
des solutions performantes  
et adaptées. »

MISSION

«  Nous voulons être dans l’Océan 
Indien et l’Afrique de l’Est,  
le partenaire de référence de 
l’alimentation animale par un 
développement inclusif, valorisant 
les matières premières produites 
dans la région. »

VISION



 

L F L  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 2 2    4140  

L F L  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 2 2

CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONT’D)

22 | ENVIRONMENT (CONT’D)

  -  shall develop a training programme for all its employees and an awareness campaign 
for its stakeholders so as to raise awareness on environmental/energy issues and adopt 
environmental/energy best practices.

  -  shall dedicate appropriate resources and means so as to optimise its resources use and 
energy management.

  -  shall encourage Reduction, Reuse and Recycling of its waste with a view to preventing 
pollution and protecting the environment.

  -  shall encourage purchasing and use of energy-efficient equipment, including in the design 
and implementation of new projects.

  -  shall continually improve and review its environmental and energy management system 
which is based on the requirements of ISO 14001:2015 and ISO 50001:2011.

  -  shall set environmental and energy objectives and targets and measure its environmental 
and energy performance.

  -  shall communicate its environmental and energy policy and environmental performance to 
its stakeholders as and when required.

   •  Energy Management: Conscious of its responsibility to reduce the use of fossil fuel, the 
Company has since 2019 been certified as an ISO 50001. This certification recognise that the 
Company has put in place an efficient energy management system. We have thus reduced the 
consumption of electricity by 5.8% and steam by 13%. Furthermore, the Company is actively 
engaged to reduce further the use of fossil fuel in the next two years by investing in the setting 
up of 530 KWp of photovoltaic panels in Mauritius and 625 KWp in Madagascar. This addition 
will reduce fossil fuel consumption by more than 20%.

   •  The environmental sustainability management system is based on a methodology whereby 
the effect of our activities on the environment is systematically measured, and actions, as 
set by the management in an annual environmental and energy review committee, are put in 
place so as to mitigate the environmental impact of Livestock Feed Limited.

   •  For the year under review, major environmental & sustainability awareness actions were 
undertaken. LFL’s employees were encouraged to sort their waste selectively at home and use 
the waste sorting bins at LFL for recycling their home waste. They also participated in a forest 
rehabilitation project at Ebony Forest. LFL confirmed its effort to recycle its waste. Only 16% 
of the waste were sent to landfill, 29MT of waste was sent to be recycled, 205MT of organic 
waste was used for composting through community garden at Baie du Tombeau and Pailles.

   •  The Company also uses an eco-friendly browser “Ecosia” that runs on solar power. LFL’s clicks 
contributed to the planting of 1,963 trees as the tree planting initiative of this NGO.

23 | HUMAN RESOURCES
   •  Diversity, Equity and Inclusion (DEI)

   At LFL, we believe in the need to have more inclusive society and it starts by ensuring a 
workplace where Diversity, Equity & Inclusion (DEI) is high on the agenda.

   LFL has continued with its approach to have more gender equality or parity within its workforce. 
41% of the office-based workforce are women and the Company is focusing to increase the 
presence of women within its more automated factories. Moreover, LFL started an initiative to 
create more awareness about people with Handicaps and is working together with the local 
branch of the Global Rainbow Foundation to advance on this project in view of recruiting 
people in handicaps.

   •  Learning and Development

   2021/2022 has been a year with a continuity with LFL’s focus strategic orientation towards 
Employee Growth and Development. It is the continuity of the initiated strategy with the focus 
of designing career path of employees with a detailed mapping of their competencies. This 
strategy has now reached an important curve as the Company is now directing itself to talent 
management with the implementation of Organisation & People Review (OPR) for all the staff, 
including those at clerical and supervisory levels. LFL is also developing the framework for the 
implementation of the “Métiers de la Production” at operative level. This has resulted in the 
following metrics for Mauritius:

  (a)  More than MUR 2M spent for 2,707 hours of training. For the same amount spent, LFL has 
increased the hours of training by 56% by having a more systematic approach. A total of 
154 employees (Staff & Operatives) were trained during the year, and this represents 91% 
of the workforce having attended training sessions.

  (b)  Having a dedicated person for the Learning & Development function enables LFL to 
manage very closely the HRDC Refund mechanism. The Company optimised the scheme 
by getting 100% refunds of the eligible threshold while achieving an 85% completion of its 
Learning Needs Analysis (LNA).

  (c)  Internal trainings (Learning Initiative & Knowledge Empowerment – LIKE) represented 24% 
of the training hours during the year. The main emphasis of the LIKEs was on the knowledge 
transfer and succession planning in line with people going on retirement, deployment of 
new machines and the necessity of multi-skilled teams on both sites. 92% of LFL’s LIKEs 
were focused on technical trainings.

  (d)  Online training is now part of the mode of training culture and represents 16% of the 
training hours during the year. It also represents 22% of the amount spent and confirms 
the willingness for flexible training and micro learning patterns. It shows the acceptance of 
such a mode, its cost effectiveness and flexibility in situations of disruption.

   -  Leadership Training: LFL has maintained the Harvard Manage Mentor (HMM) which 
is a virtual platform that gives access to the “Best in Class” content in Management 
Development. LFL has extended the Talent programme and will continue with the current 
practice for its leaders. The programme will also be accessible to all staff irrespective of 
level as part of the OPR initiative. LFL currently has two colleagues attending Leadership 
Challenge Program (LCP) as well as two other colleagues attending Eclosia Lead, which 
is the Management Development program of the Eclosia group. Both are done at the 
Charles Telfair Institute.
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23 | HUMAN RESOURCES (CONT’D)

 2. Learning and Development (cont’d)

   -  Coaching and Mentoring: LFL has several managers and leaders being accompanied by 
different coaches in order to enhance their leadership capabilities. There are around 80 
hours of individual follow up by coaches who are experts in their areas of specialisation 
related to the Eclosia Leadership Competency Framework. Senior Managers of the 
Company also received training in Mentoring so that they can better accompany 
managers in developing leadership skills.

  (e)  Compliance-related training: this includes topics related to Health & Safety and Quality. 
Training in connection with Feed Safety, Fire Warden, First Aid, etc. for LFL’s personnel 
remain a focus for its business. During the current year, 86 colleagues have attended more 
than 260 hours of training sessions on compliance-related topics.

  (f)  Training follow-up: all training sessions are adequately prepared and followed up by doing 
pre- and post-briefing sessions. It is also a customary practice to do knowledge sharing 
after the completion of the training by the incumbent to his/her colleagues.

 • Employee Engagement

   In line with the results of the Engagement Survey conducted by Korn-Ferry, LFL achieved a 
score of 80%. The Company has conducted several focus groups and received proposals for 
maintaining and enhancing its USP as an Employer of Choice. Deployment of the actions 
identified, like Career Management through the OPR initiative and the training on “l’écoute 
active” has started.

 • Communication

   A lot of focus has been put on internal communication with LFL’s team members to ensure 
both top-bottom and bottom-up flow of information.

  (a)  Internal “Cellule d’écoute”: The Company has maintained this unit which is being seen 
as an invaluable tool by colleagues. It has also conducted training sessions on “l’écoute 
active” for its managers across all the sites – Mauritius, Madagascar, Seychelles and Rwanda.  
This was done to enable better communication between employees and their managers.

  (b)  Departmental Meetings have been set up across the Company systematically every 2 
months in line with LFL’s endeavor to promote internal dialogue. This is organised and 
monitored by the HR Dept and promotes both top-bottom and bottom-up communication.

  (c)  LFL has also increased the presence of the HR personnel on the floor by having a dedicated 
staff for Employee Relations.

  (d)  LFL Ki News is a weekly internal publication by the employees, and for the employees.  
It covers information that concerns different departments and sites which contributes to 
foster the sense of belonging among all team members. Elements from the outer countries 
where LFL operated have also been added to this weekly newsletter.

  (e)  Virtual Coffee Corner (“VCC”): VCC was initially meant to keep the connection between 
staff during the pandemic period as they were in WFH mode. It is a platform to promote 
internal communication – sharing valuable information, sharing of hobbies of colleagues 
and introducing new joiners. Following the engagement survey, the staff has asked to 
continue with the VCC. VCC has changed communication objectives and has become an 
edutainment platform – sharing of valuable information, videos on different “métiers” (with 
the aim to make colleagues discover products and sites), quiz and games, etc. A “Well-
being” part has been introduced – external guest speakers on topics like nutrition, funny 
videos, etc., the aim being to make the platform also a fun-centric one!

  (f)  Teambuilding (with a purpose): LFL organised ongoing unweeding sessions at Ebony Forest 
as well as outings at Island-Bio where emphasis was laid on sustainability, eco-awareness, 
etc.

  (g)  Awareness Campaign on Diabetes has been organised with APSA to create and enhance 
awareness on this topic. It is an ongoing project.

  (h)  Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR): LFL is in partnership with the local community to 
accompany vulnerable groups to be more autonomous. Unemployed women have been 
accompanied to better prepare themselves for the local labour market to get a job. This 
sponsorship has taken the form of sponsoring the school fees of the children and the 
parent commits to follow a programme to become more employable. It takes the form of 
preparing a CV, assistance in job search and preparing for interviews, etc.

 • Covid-19

  (a)  The Company maintained a stringent sanitary protocol to mitigate the potential risk of 
contamination and provided remote medical assistance by our company doctor for 
contaminated employees.

  (b)  It provided free transport in a company-hired van during the peak of the Covid cases in 
2021 to better contain the spread of the epidemic.

  (c)  LFL also successfully organised Work From Home (WFH) in terms of equipment and 
facilities for all administrative and production-support staff.

  (d)  Furthermore, Covid tests were done on site when the controls were loosened so as to 
better manage the spread.

 • Vaccination

  (a)  Covid-19 vaccination — the Company provided support and assistance for the booster 
dose by organising free transport and liaising with the authorities to book dedicated slots 
for the company employees at the vaccination centres. Free anti-flu vaccine was also 
given to employees via the company doctor to all those who wanted to be protected 
accordingly in anticipation of the winter season.
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24 | HEALTH AND SAFETY
   •  The Company benefits from the services of a Health and Safety Officer from the Eclosia Group 

of Companies who acts as facilitator for the Health & Safety team of Livestock Feed Limited. 
His role is to ensure compliance with the “Occupational Safety and Health Administration” 
and Safety & Health Laws through regular Audits. Furthermore, the Company has a full-time 
Liaison Officer who ensures that all the Health and Safety Laws are effectively applied.

   •  LFL maintained compliance of prevailing sanitary measures, ensuring safekeeping of premises 
and monitoring of team and related parties in order to safeguard the health of its employees. 
Covid detection kits are provided to any employee who shows symptoms of Covid-19.

   •  Great importance is placed on management commitment, communication, sensitisation and 
personnel training. Annual refresher training courses as well as sensitisation, safety & health 
programmes are carried out.

   •  Regular Health and Safety meetings with employee participation are scheduled to review 
actions required and carried out to mitigate risks in this area. An annual plan has been defined, 
placing emphasis on engineering control, Personal Protective Equipment (PPE), securing sites 
of operations and management of contractors.

25 | SUMMARY OF RESULTS, ASSETS & LIABILITIES

ECLOSIA SECRETARIAL SERVICES LTD
Corporate Secretary

27 September 2022

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES 
WITH RESPECT TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for:

(i)  Adequate accounting records and maintenance 
of effective internal control systems.

(ii)  The preparation of financial statements which 
fairly present the state of affairs of the Group 
and the Company as at the end of the financial 
year and the results of its operations and cash 
flows for that period and which comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and the Companies Act 2001.

(iii)  The selection of appropriate accounting 
policies supported by reasonable and prudent 
judgments.

The report of the external auditors confirming 
that the financial statements are fairly presented 
is on page 62.

The Directors report that:

(i)  Adequate accounting records and an effective 
system of internal controls and risk management 
have been maintained.

(ii)  Appropriate accounting policies supported 
by reasonable and prudent judgments and 
estimates have been consistently used.

(iii)  International Financial Reporting and Accounting 
Standards have been adhered to. Any departure 
from fair presentation has been disclosed, 
explained and quantified.

(iv)  All the principles of the Code of Corporate 
Governance for Mauritius (2016) have been 
complied with and explanations provided as 
to how they have been applied.

(v)  They consider that the annual report and 
accounts, which are published in full on the 

Company’s website, taken as a whole are fair, 
balanced and understandable and provide the 
information necessary for shareholders and 
other key stakeholders to assess the Company’s 
and the Group’s position, performance and 
outlook.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for 
the Company’s systems of control. The systems 
have been designed to provide the Directors with 
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, 
that transactions are authorised and properly 
recorded and that there are no material errors and 
irregularities.

An internal audit system is in place to assist 
management in the effective discharge of 
its responsibilities, and it is independent of 
management and reports to the Audit and Risk 
Committee.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their overall responsibility 
for maintaining a sound and effective system of 
internal controls to safeguard the Company’s 
assets and shareholders’ interests.

The Board accepts overall responsibility for 
risk management. Through the Audit and Risk 
Committee, the Directors are made aware of the 
risk areas which affect the Company and ensure 
that Management has taken appropriate measures 
to mitigate these risks.

Gérard BOULLÉ  Richard ARLOVE
CHAIRPERSON  DIRECTOR

27 September 2022

THE GROUP

2022
Rs 000

2021
Rs 000

Results – Net profit after tax 206,116 75,295

Current assets 1,894,289 1,556,421

Non-current assets 2,301,036 1,946,613

Total assets 4,195,325 3,503,034

Capital and reserves 2,528,727 2,204,453

Current liabilities 1,469,756 1,061,430

Non-current liabilities 196,842 237,151

Total equity and liabilities 4,195,325 3,503,034

STATEMENT OF  
DIRECTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
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As global supply wavered and food security became a growing concern  

around the world, our primary focus was to produce adequate quantities  

of feed to meet the market’s increasing demands.

PRODUCE
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STATUTORY 
DISCLOSURES

1 |  The directors have the pleasure to submit herewith their statutory disclosures 
together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022.

2 | PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
 
  The principal activity of Livestock Feed Limited is unchanged from last year  

and consists of the processing of animal feeds.

  The principal activities of the subsidiary companies are as follows: 

 LFL Madagascar SA: Processing of animal feed
 
  Les Pondeuses Réunies Ltée: Providing support services to small farmers in the 

laying sector

 LFL Investment Ltd: Investment holding

  Mahe Distributors Ltd (now LFL (Seychelles) Ltd): Sale and distribution of animal 
feed and chicks

  LFL International Rwanda Ltd: Investment holding

  LFL Rwanda Ltd: Processing of animal feed

  The consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
for the year ended 30 June 2022 is set out on page 69.

48
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3 | DIRECTORATE AT 30 JUNE 2022 4 | DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

  Except for Mr Rocky Forget who has an undetermined service contract with the Company, none 
of the other directors have any contract of significance with the Company.

 Director’s remuneration

  Directors’ fees (including bonuses and commissions) received and receivable from the Company 
were Rs 3,045,000 (2021: Rs 2,015,000).

Livestock Feed Limited

Gérard BOULLÉ (Chairperson)

Michel DE SPÉVILLE, C.B.E.

Cédric DE SPÉVILLE
Eric ESPITALIER-NOËL
Gilbert ESPITALIER-NOËL
Rocky FORGET
Pierre-Yves POUGNET
Jean Noël HUMBERT
Jean RIBET
Jacqueline SAUZIER
Richard ARLOVE
Pierre DINAN (Resigned effective 15 December 2021)

LFL Madagascar SA

Gérard BOULLÉ (Chairman)

Michel de SPÉVILLE, C.B.E.

Eclosia Corporate Services Madagascar Sarl  
rep. by Jérôme POUTOT 
Avipro Co. Ltd rep. by Thierry DE SPÉVILLE 
Agrifarms Ltd rep. by Cédric DE SPÉVILLE
Livestock Feed Ltd rep. by Rocky FORGET

LFL International Rwanda Ltd

Gérard BOULLÉ
Cédric DE SPÉVILLE
Rocky FORGET
Denis Claude PILOT

Les Pondeuses Réunies Ltée

Thierry DE SPÉVILLE (Chairperson)

Gérard BOULLÉ
Cédric DE SPÉVILLE 
Rocky FORGET 
Sébastien RAE

LFL Investment Ltd

Gérard BOULLÉ (Chairperson)

Cédric DE SPÉVILLE 
Rocky FORGET
Denis Claude PILOT

Mahe Distributors Ltd  
(now LFL (Seychelles) Ltd)

Rocky FORGET
Gérard BOULLÉ 
Sébastien RAE
Philippe Guillaume HUGNIN  
(Resigned effective 2 February 2022)

Cédric DE SPÉVILLE (Resigned effective 2 February 2022) 

LFL Rwanda Ltd

Rocky FORGET
Gérard BOULLÉ
Thierry DE SPÉVILLE 
Denis Claude PILOT
Emmanuel DE ROSNAY
Fred BYABAGABO (Resigned effective 25 November 2021)

5 | DONATIONS
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Charitable donations 729 775 5 358 

  Political donations -   -   -   -   

  729 775 5 358 

 

6 | AUDITORS        
         

The fees payable to the auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd were:

    Audit services Other services

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Livestock Feed Limited 1,540 1,340 873 100 

  Agro Bulk Ltd -   -   -   23 

  Les Pondeuses Réunies Ltée 105 105 11 11 

  LFL Investment Ltd 105 105 11 11 

    1,750 1,550 895 145 

           

7 | DIVIDENDS        

           

 
Dividends of Rs 34,965,000 (2021: Rs 37,800,000) on ordinary shares and Rs 424,391 (2021:  
Rs 424,391) on preference shares have been declared in respect of the current year.

           
Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

     

       

       

       

     

Gérard BOULLÉ  Richard ARLOVE
CHAIRPERSON  DIRECTOR

27 September 2022
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Our goal in building our silos was for the supply of feed  

to remain constant and uninterrupted throughout the country,  

reinforcing the population’s trust despite the challenging global situation.

feed
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We certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the Company has filed with 
the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are required of the Company under the 
Companies Act 2001.

ECLOSIA SECRETARIAL SERVICES LTD
Corporate Secretary

27 September 2022

SECRETARY’S 
CERTIFICATE

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022
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STATEMENT
OF COMPLIANCE

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

(Section 75 (3) of the Financial Reporting Act)

Name of Public Interest Entity:
Livestock Feed Limited

Reporting Period:
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022

We, the Directors of LIVESTOCK FEED LIMITED, confirm that to the best 
of our knowledge, throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2022, 
LIVESTOCK FEED LIMITED has applied the principles set out in the  
Corporate Governance Code for Mauritius except for the following:

(a) Composition of the Board

  There is only one executive director on the Board of Livestock Feed 
Limited. However, the Board believes that the attendance of senior 
executives at the meetings and various sub-committees of the  
Board fulfils the spirit of the Code.

(b) Composition of the Audit and Risk Committee

  The Audit and Risk Committee is presently composed of one 
independent director, the other Members being non-executive,  
non-independent directors. The Board is satisfied that the skills, 
knowledge of the organisation and experience of those non- 
executive directors allow them to discharge their responsibilities  
towards the Company and its shareholders effectively.

Gérard BOULLÉ  Richard ARLOVE
CHAIRPERSON  DIRECTOR

27 September 2022

FINANCIAL 
HIGHLIGHTS PER SHARE

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022
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PROvide
Our visionary approach and strategic course of action have proved crucial  

in ensuring food security in Mauritius. In our own way,  

we touched every Mauritian family and helped keep plates full.
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6%
Dividends

STATEMENT
OF VALUE 

ADDED

FINANCIAL 
HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE GROUP

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022
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Report on the Audit of the Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements

Our Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate 
financial statements give a true and fair view of 
the financial position of Livestock Feed Limited 
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the 
“Group”) and of the Company standing alone as at 
30 June 2022, and of their financial performance 
and their cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and in compliance with the Mauritian 
Companies Act 2001.

What we have audited

Livestock Feed Limited’s consolidated and separate 
financial statements set out on pages 68 to 134 
comprise:

•  the consolidated and separate statements of 
financial position as at 30 June 2022;

•  the consolidated and separate statements of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
for the year then ended;

•  the consolidated and separate statements of 
changes in equity for the year then ended;

•  the consolidated and separate statements of 
cash flows for the year then ended; and

•  the notes to the financial statements, which 
include significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements” section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in  accordance 
with the International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) issued by the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants (the “IESBA Code”). 
We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in 
our professional judgement, were of most 
significance in our audit of the consolidated 
and separate financial statements of the current 
period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as 
a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters.

INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF LIVESTOCK FEED LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

Key audit matter – Group & Company

Valuation of property, plant and equipment

As at 30 June 2022, the Group and Company 
had property, plant and equipment amounting  
to MUR 1.3 billion (2021: MUR 1.2 billion) and  
MUR 871 million (2021: MUR 763 million) 
respectively that are carried at revalued amount 
less depreciation.

The directors used external valuers to determine 
the fair value of the relevant assets. The external 
valuers used information and professional 
judgement concerning market conditions and 
factors impacting the individual assets.

The valuation of property, plant and equipment 
was considered to be a key audit matter due to 
its significance on the consolidated and separate 
statements of financial position and also due to 
the fact that it is inherently subjective as it involves 
a number of significant estimates and judgement 
which might materially affect the carrying value 
of the revalued assets. 

Please refer to note 5 of the financial statements 
for detail on these estimates and judgments.

Key audit matter – Group

Valuation of unquoted investments held at fair 
value through other comprehensive income

The Group holds unquoted investments held at 
fair value through other comprehensive income 
amounting to MUR 191 million (2021: MUR 121 
million).

As disclosed in note 9 of the financial statements, 
the directors apply different approaches to 
estimating fair values of the investments.

The valuation of the Group’s investments held 
at fair value was a key area of audit focus owing 
to its magnitude, the estimation uncertainties in 
the assumptions, and the degree of judgement 
required from the directors, particularly in the 
context of economic uncertainty.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

For the more judgmental valuations, which may 
depend on unobservable inputs, we evaluated the 
appropriateness of assumptions, methodologies 
and models used by the Group with the involvement 
of our valuation experts.

We performed an independent valuation of the 
unquoted investments, in order to assess whether 
the director’s valuations were within a reasonable 
range of outcomes in the context of the inherent 
uncertainties disclosed in the financial statements.

We evaluated whether the disclosures relating to 
the valuation of investments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income were complete and 
accurate.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We assessed the competence, experience, 
independence and integrity of the external 
valuation experts.

We assessed the appropriateness of the valuation 
methodology used by the external valuers for 
determining the fair value of property, plant and 
equipment.

We validated the key inputs and assumptions used 
by the external valuers, paying particular attention 
to the judgement applied by the directors.

We evaluated whether the disclosures relating to 
the valuation of property, plant and equipment 
were complete and accurate.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S  
REPORT (CONT’D)

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the annual report but does not include 
the consolidated and separate financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. We have obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report the 
statement of compliance, the corporate governance report, the statement 
of directors’ responsibilities, the statutory disclosures and the secretary’s 
certificate, in respect of the presentation of financial statements. All other 
information in the annual report will be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified 
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated and separate financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 
the consolidated and separate financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance with the 
Mauritian Companies Act 2001, and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and 
separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors 
are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
directors either intend to liquidate the Group and/or the Company or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s and Company’s 
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S  
REPORT (CONT’D)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated and separate 
financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high-level 
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated and separate 
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs,  
we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit.  
We also:

•  Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Group’s and Company’s internal control. 

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the directors.

 

•  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ 
use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Group’s and Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated and separate 
financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group and/or the Company to cease 
to continue as a going concern.

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure 
and content of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated and separate 
financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

•  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Group 
to express an opinion on the financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of the Group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement 
that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards 
applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, 
we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements of the current period 
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 
of such communication.
 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements

Mauritian Companies Act 2001

The Mauritian Companies Act 2001 requires that 
in carrying out our audit we consider and report 
to you on the following matters. We confirm that:

(a)  we have no relationship with or interests in the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries other than 
in our capacity as auditor and tax advisor;

(b)  we have obtained all the information and 
explanations we have required; and

(c)  in our opinion, proper accounting records have 
been kept by the Company as far as appears 
from our examination of those records.

Mauritian Financial Reporting Act 2004

Our responsibility under the Mauritian Financial 
Reporting Act 2004 is to report on the compliance 
with the Code of Corporate Governance (“Code”) 
disclosed in the annual report and assess the 
explanations given for non-compliance with any 
requirement of the Code. From our assessment of 
the disclosures made on corporate governance 
in the annual report, the Company has, pursuant 
to section 75 of the Mauritian Financial Reporting 
Act 2004, complied with the requirements of  
the Code.

Other Matter
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared 
for and only for the Company’s shareholders, as 
a body, in accordance with Section 205 of the 
Mauritian Companies Act 2001 and for no other 
purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept 
or assume responsibility for any other purpose or 
to any other person to whom this report is shown 
or into whose hands it may come save where 
expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Michael HO WAN KAU,
PwC Centre,  licensed by FRC

Avenue de Telfair, 
Telfair 80829, Moka, 
Republic of Mauritius

27 September 2022
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STATEMENTS OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS 
& OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

Notes
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 5 1,367,869 1,169,525 871,475 763,477 
Right-of-use assets 5A 21,403 19,949 11,977 12,594 
Intangible assets 6 70,902 54,135 39,495 47,731 
Deferred tax assets 20 4,460 952 -   -   
Investment in subsidiaries 7 -   -   274,818 273,817 
Investment in associates 8 616,626 554,884 58,798 58,798 

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 9 217,217 144,458 1 1 

Prepayments and other receivables 12A 2,559 2,710 -   -   
2,301,036 1,946,613 1,256,564 1,156,418 

Current assets
Biological assets 10 3,520 -   -   -   
Inventories 11 1,088,366 838,785 629,380 418,956 
Trade receivables 12 442,846 304,115 387,217 332,643 
Prepayments and other receivables 12A 142,614 209,669 166,252 116,500 
Derivative financial instruments 13 5,001 11,256 5,001 11,256 
Current tax receivable 14 31,098 4,978 6,042 4,978 
Cash and cash equivalents 31(b) 180,844 187,618 138,518 132,236 

1,894,289 1,556,421 1,332,410 1,016,569 
Total assets 4,195,325 3,503,034 2,588,974 2,172,987 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital 15 945,000 945,000 945,000 945,000 
Revaluation and other reserves 16 562,497 409,374 137,580 116,400 
Retained earnings 1,021,230 850,079 431,688 317,712 
Total equity 2,528,727 2,204,453 1,514,268     1,379,112 

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Preference shares 17 3,536 3,536 3,536 3,536 
Borrowings 18 54,385 78,855 -   4,872 
Lease liabilities 5B 13,782 19,769 11,572 12,131 
Deferred tax liabilities 20 94,677 93,880 83,141 78,664 
Retirement benefit obligations 19 30,462 41,111 29,560 40,490 

196,842 237,151 127,809 139,693 
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 333,160 269,401 182,978 203,334 
Borrowings 18 1,108,295 789,323 763,411 450,067 
Lease liabilities 5B 4,057 781 508 781 
Current tax payable 14 24,244 1,925 -   -   

1,469,756 1,061,430 946,897 654,182 
Total liabilities 1,666,598 1,298,581 1,074,706 793,875 
Total equity and liabilities 4,195,325 3,503,034 2,588,974 2,172,987 

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on: 27 September 2022

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

Notes
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

Revenue 22 4,522,196 3,246,582 3,031,633 2,177,993 
Cost of sales 23 (3,886,900)    (2,815,833) (2,683,486) (1,921,032)
Gross profit 635,296 430,749 348,147 256,961 
Other income 25 18,700           13,578 45,364 15,673 
Reversal of impairment 26 -                      -   1,001 27,353 
Impairment of receivables 12 (43,521)         (14,593) 661 (776)
Administrative expenses 23 (328,874) (329,743) (208,816) (195,226)
Operating profit 281,601           99,991 186,357 103,985 
Net finance costs 27 (88,120) (66,246) (45,691) (21,992)
Share of profit of associates 8(a) 18,200           52,897 -   -   
Profit before tax 28 211,681 86,642 140,666 81,993 
Tax expense 14 (5,565)         (11,347) 8,275 (1,736)
Profit for the year 206,116           75,295 148,941 80,257 

Other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Gains on revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment  5 70,542         173,595 62,531 82,206 

Deferred tax on revaluation surplus of property, 
plant and equipment 20 (13,368) (35,736) (10,646) (20,521)

Remeasurement of post employment benefit 
obligations 19 (3,840) 5,218 (3,840) 5,218 

Deferred tax on remeasurement of post 
employment benefit obligations 20 4,583 (944) (799) (944)

Changes in fair value of equity instruments at fair 
value through other comprehensive income 9(i) 72,759           24,875 -   -   

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss
Currency translation differences (4,468)           18,712 -   -   

Share of other comprehensive income of 
associates 8(a) 52,981           55,635 -   -   

Cash flow hedges 16 (26,066)           26,774 (26,066) 26,774 
Other comprehensive income for the year 153,123         268,129 21,180 92,733 

Total comprehensive income for the year 359,239 343,424 170,121 172,990 

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent 206,116           75,295 148,941 80,257 

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent 359,239 343,424 170,121 172,990 

Earnings per share 29 2.18 0.80 1.58 0.85 

Gérard BOULLÉ
CHAIRPERSON

Richard ARLOVE
DIRECTOR
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STATEMENTS OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

(Attributable to owners of the parent)

THE GROUP Notes

Share 
capital 
Rs000

Revaluation 
and other 
reserves 

Rs000

Retained 
earnings 

Rs000

Total 
equity 
Rs000

Balance at 1 July 2021 945,000        409,374 850,079 2,204,453 

Profit for the year                   -                     -   206,116 206,116 
Other comprehensive income for the year 16                   -          153,123 -            153,123 
Total comprehensive income for the year                   -          153,123 206,116 359,239 

Dividends 30                   -                     -   (34,965) (34,965)

Balance at 30 June 2022 945,000        562,497      1,021,230      2,528,727 

Balance at 1 July 2020        315,000        214,303      1,369,526 1,898,829 

Profit for the year                   -                     -   75,295 75,295 
Other comprehensive income for the year 16                   -          268,129 -   268,129 
Total comprehensive income for the year                   -          268,129 75,295 343,424 

Dividends 30                   -                     -   (37,800) (37,800)
Issue of bonus shares 630,000        (73,058) (556,942) -   

630,000        (73,058) (594,742) (37,800)

Balance at 30 June 2021        945,000        409,374 850,079 2,204,453 

   
(Attributable to owners of the parent)

THE COMPANY Notes

Share 
capital 
Rs000

Revaluation 
and other 
reserves 

Rs000

Retained 
earnings 

Rs000

Total 
equity 
Rs000

           
Balance at 1 July 2021   945,000        116,400        317,712      1,379,112 
           
Profit for the year   -                     -          148,941 148,941 
Other comprehensive income for the year 16 -            21,180                   -   21,180 
Total comprehensive income for the year   -            21,180        148,941          170,121 
           
Dividends 30 -                     -          (34,965) (34,965)
           
Balance at 30 June 2022   945,000        137,580        431,688      1,514,268 
           
           
Balance at 1 July 2020   315,000          96,725        832,197      1,243,922 
           
Profit for the year   -                     -            80,257 80,257 
Other comprehensive income for the year 16 -            92,733                   -   92,733 
Total comprehensive income for the year   -            92,733          80,257 172,990 
           
Dividends 30 -                     -          (37,800) (37,800)
Issue of bonus shares 630,000        (73,058)      (556,942) -   
    630,000        (73,058)      (594,742) (37,800)
           
Balance at 30 June 2021   945,000        116,400        317,712      1,379,112 
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STATEMENTS OF 
CASH FLOWS

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

Notes
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

Cash flows from operating activities        
Cash generated from operations 31(a) 135,973 108,668 (79,790) (89,502)
Interest received 25 471 -   96 -   
Interest paid  (48,717) (54,848) (20,905) (11,836)
Tax paid/refund 14(a) (19,518) (20,189) 243 (12,294)
Benefits paid 19(b) (2,204) -   (2,204) -   
Contribution paid 19(a) (15,414) -   (15,414) -   
Net cash from operating activities 50,591 33,631 (117,974) (113,632)

     
Cash flows from investing activities      
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 5 (217,451) (226,250) (95,276) (75,457)
Additions to right-of-use assets 5A (4,230) (1,622) -   (1,622)
Purchase of intangible assets 6 (31,109) (3,994) (1,283) (3,957)
Purchase of biological assets 10 (5,755) 26,774 -   26,774 
Proceeds from disposal of investment in associate -   -   -   15,000 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 38 2,445 -   2,199 
Proceeds from biological assets 10 2,235 14,992 -   11,012 
Net cash used in investing activities (256,272) (187,655) (96,559) (26,051)

     
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 6,671,005     1,716,814 (6,487,093) 1,271,684 
Payments of borrowings   (6,516,237) (1,215,308) 6,647,073 (1,065,231)
Principal paid on lease liabilities   (6,937) (5,777) (1,581) (2,615)
Proceeds on lease liabilities   4,230 -   -   -   
Dividends paid to company’s shareholders (71,955) (37,800) (71,955) (37,800)
Net cash from financing activities 80,106 457,929 86,444 166,038 

   
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (125,575) 303,905 (128,089) 26,355 

   
Movement in cash and cash equivalents    
At 1 July 149,061 (160,954) 132,213 105,858 
Increase/(Decrease) (125,575) 303,905 (128,089) 26,355 
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (392) 6,110 6,695 -   
At 30 June 31(b) 23,094 149,061 10,819        132,213 

     

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

1. General information

Livestock Feed Limited is a public limited company 
incorporated and domiciled in Mauritius. The address 
of its registered office is Eclosia Group Headquarters, 
Gentilly, Moka and its principal place of business is 
at Claude Delaitre Street, Pailles.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of these financial statements are set 
out below. These policies have been consistently 
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated.

The financial statements of Livestock Feed Limited 
comply with the Companies Act 2001 and have 
been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The financial statements include the consolidated 
financial statements of the Livestock Feed Limited 
and its subsidiary companies (The “Group”) and 
the separate financial statements of the Livestock 
Feed Limited (The “Company”). The financial 
statements are presented in Mauritian Rupee and 
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand  
(Rs 000), except when otherwise indicated.

The financial statements are prepared under the 
historical cost convention, except that:

(i)  land and buildings, plant and machinery and 
factory equipment are carried at revalued 
amounts;

(ii)  relevant financial assets and financial liabilities 
(including derivative instruments) are stated at 
their fair value;

(iii)  relevant financial assets and financial liabilities 
are carried at amortised cost;

 

(iv)  liability in respect of defined benefit pension 
plans are carried at the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation less the fair value  
of plan assets; and

(v)  consumable biological assets are stated at fair 
value less costs to sell.

(a) Basis of preparation

New standards, amendments to existing standards 
and interpretation issued and effective for the first 
time for the financial year beginning on 1 July 2021 

In the current year, the Group and the Company have 
assessed all of the new standards, amendments to 
existing standards and interpretations issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) 
that are relevant to their operations and effective 
for accounting periods beginning on 1 July 2021.

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2

Benchmark interest rates such as the London Inter-
bank Offered Rates (LIBOR) and other inter-bank 
offered rates have been prioritised for reform and 
replacement with Risk Free Rates (RFR) by global 
regulators.

The amendments introduce a practical expedient 
for modifications required by the reform, clarify 
that hedge accounting is not discontinued solely 
because of the inter-bank offered rate (IBOR) 
reform, and introduced is closures that allow users 
to understand the nature and extent of risks arising 
from the IBOR reform to which the Group and the 
Company are exposed and how the Group and the 
Company manage those risks as well as the Group’s 
and the Company’s progress in transitioning from 
IBORs to alternative benchmark rates, and how 
the Group and the Company are managing this 
transition. The adoption of the amendments 
had no material impact on the Group’s and the 
Company’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

2. Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(a) Basis of preparation (cont’d)

New standards, amendments to existing and 
interpretations issued but effective for financial 
years beginning after 1 July 2021 and not early 
adopted by the Group and the Company

Property, plant and equipment – proceeds before 
intended use (amendments to IAS16)

The amendments prohibit deducting from the 
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment 
any proceeds from selling items produced while 
bringing that asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management. Instead, an 
entity recognises the proceeds from selling such 
items, and the cost of producing those items,  
in profit or loss. The amendments are effective for 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2022. The amendments are not expected 
to have a material impact on the Group’s and the 
Company’s financial statements. 

Classification of liabilities as current or non-current 
(amendments to IAS 1) 

The amendments aim to promote consistency in 
applying the requirements by helping companies 
determine whether, in the statement of financial 
position, debt and other liabilities with an  
uncertain settlement date should be classified  
as current (due or potentially due to be settled 
within one year) or non -current. The amendments 
are effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2023 and are not likely to have a 
material effect on the Group’s and the Company’s 
financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1, “Presentation of financial 
statements”, on classification of liabilities 
(effective for annual periods beginning on  
or after 1 January 2023) 

These narrow-scope amendments to IAS 1, 
“Presentation of financial statements”, clarify that 
liabilities are classified as either current or non-
current, depending on the rights that exist at the end 
of the reporting period. Classification is unaffected 

by the expectations of the entity or events after the 
reporting date (for example, the receipt of a waiver 
or a breach of covenant). The amendment also 
clarifies what IAS 1 means when it refers to the 
“settlement” of a liability. The amendments are not 
expected to have a material impact on the Group’s 
and the Company’s financial statements. 

Standards, Amendments to published Standards 
and Interpretations issued but not yet effective

Where relevant, the Group is still evaluating the 
effect of the Standards, Amendments to published 
Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet 
effective for the current reporting period.

The preparation of financial statements in 
conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the 
process of applying the Group’s accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree 
of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

(b) Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings and plant and machinery, held 
for use in the production or supply of goods 
or for administrative purposes, are stated at 
their fair value, based on periodic valuations by 
external independent valuers, less subsequent 
depreciation for buildings and plant and machinery.  
Any accumulated depreciation of buildings at the 
date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross 
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount 
is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.  
For plant and machinery, the gross carrying 
amount is restated by reference to observable 
market data, and the accumulated depreciation is 
adjusted to equal the difference between the gross 
carrying amount and carrying amount of the asset 
after taking into account accumulated impairment 
losses. Valuations are usually carried out every 
3 years. All other property, plant and equipment 
is stated at historical cost less depreciation. 
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the assets’ 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can  
be measured reliably.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on 
revaluation are credited to other comprehensive 
income and shown as revaluation surplus in 
shareholders’ equity. Decreases that offset previous 
increases of the same asset are charged against 
the revaluation surplus directly in equity; all other 
decreases are charged to profit or loss. 

Properties in the course of construction for 
production, administrative purposes or for 
purposes not yet determined are carried at  
cost less any recognised impairment loss.  
Cost includes professional fees. Depreciation of 
these assets, on the same basis as other property 
assets, commences when the assets are ready  
for their intended use. 

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line 
method to write off the cost or revalued amounts 
of the assets to their residual values over their 
estimated useful lives as follows:
   Annual rates
Buildings 2% – 33%
Plant and machinery 2% – 20%
Factory equipment 3% – 100%
Furniture, fittings and equipment 2% – 100%
Motor vehicles 20%

Freehold land is not depreciated. 

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and 
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period. 

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater 
than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written 
down immediately to its recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and 
equipment are determined by comparing proceeds 
with carrying amount and are included in other 
income in profit or loss.

(c) Intangible assets

(i) Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business 
is carried at cost, as established at the date of 
acquisition of the business, less accumulated 
impairment losses, if any.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount 
of goodwill is included in the determination of the 
gains and losses on disposal.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for 
the purpose of impairment testing.

(ii) Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised 
on the basis of costs incurred to acquire and bring 
to use the specific software and are amortised 
using the straight-line method over their estimated 
useful lives (3-5 years).

Costs associated with developing or maintaining 
computer software are recognised as an expense 
as incurred. Costs that are directly associated with 
the production of identifiable and unique software 
controlled by the Group and that will generate 
economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one  
year, are recognised as intangible assets. Direct 
costs include the software development employee 
costs and an appropriate portion of relevant 
overheads.

Computer software development costs recognised 
as assets are amortised over their estimated useful 
lives (not exceeding 3 years).

Losses on scrappings of computer software are 
included in profit or loss.

(d) Investment in subsidiaries

Separate financial statements of the investor

In the separate financial statements of the investor, 
investments in subsidiary companies are carried 
at cost. The carrying amount is reduced to 
recognise any impairment in the value of individual 
investments. On disposal of an investment, the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount is charged or credited to the 
profit or loss.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(d) Investment in subsidiaries

Consolidated financial statements 

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured 
entities) over which the Group has control. 
The Group controls an entity when the Group is 
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from  
its involvement with the entity and has the ability  
to affect those returns through its power over  
the entity. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date 
on which control is transferred to the Group.  
They are de consolidated from the date that control 
ceases. 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to 
account for business combinations by the Group. 
The consideration transferred for the acquisition 
of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets 
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity 
interests issued by the Group. The consideration 
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or 
liability resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed 
as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at their fair values 
at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis, the Group recognises any 
non-controlling interest in the acquiree either 
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the 
amount of any non-controlling interests in the 
acquiree and the fair value of any previous equity 
interest in the acquiree (if any), over the fair value 
of the identifiable net assets acquired, is recorded 
as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the 
net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of 
a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised 
directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised 
gains on transactions between Group companies 

are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated 
unless the transaction provides evidence of an 
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting 
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group.

Transactions with non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling 
interests as transactions with equity owners of 
the Group. For purchases from non-controlling 
interests, the difference between any consideration 
paid and the relevant share acquired of the 
carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is 
recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals 
to non-controlling interests are also recorded  
in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any 
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to 
its fair value, with the change in carrying amount 
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is 
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of 
subsequently accounting for the retained interest 
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.  
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income in respect of that 
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly 
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may 
mean that amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit  
or loss.

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling 
interests that do not result in a loss of control as 
transactions with equity owners of the Group. 
A change in ownership interest results in  
an adjustment between the carrying amounts of 
the controlling and non-controlling interests to  
reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary.  
Any difference between the amount of the 
adjustment to non-controlling interests and any 
consideration paid or received is recognised in a 
separate reserve within equity attributable to owners 
of the Group.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity 
account for an investment because of a loss of 
control, joint control or significant influence, any 
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to 
its fair value, with the change in carrying amount 
recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes 
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of 
subsequently accounting for the retained interest 
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.  
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income in respect of that 
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly 
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may 
mean that amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit  
or loss.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an 
associate is reduced but joint control or significant 
influence is retained, only a proportionate share 
of the amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit  
or loss where appropriate.

(e) Investment in associates

Separate financial statements of the investor

In the separate financial statements of the investor, 
investments in associated companies are carried at 
cost. The carrying amount is reduced to recognise any 
impairment in the value of individual investments.

Consolidated financial statements

An associate is an entity over which the Group 
has significant influence but not control, or joint 
control, generally accompanying a shareholding 
between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.

Investment in associates is accounted for using 
the equity method, except when classified as 
held-for-sale. Investments in associates are initially 
recognised at cost as adjusted by post acquisition 
changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of 
the associate less any impairment in the value of 
individual investments.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition and the 
Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s 

identifiable assets and liabilities recognised at 
the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill, 
which is included in the carrying amount of the 
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of 
the net fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities 
over the cost of acquisition, after assessment, is 
included as income in the determination of the 
Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss. 

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its 
interest in an associate, the Group discontinues 
recognising further losses, unless it has incurred 
legal or constructive obligation or made payments 
on behalf of the associate. 

Unrealised profits and losses are eliminated to the 
extent of the Group’s interest in the associate.  
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of an impairment  
of the asset transferred. 

Where necessary, appropriate adjustments are  
made to the financial statements of associates 
to bring the accounting policies used in line with 
those adopted by the Group. 

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced 
but significant influence is retained, only a 
proportionate share of the amounts previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate. 

Dilution gains and losses arising on investment in 
associates are recognised in profit or loss.

(f) Biological assets

Biological assets are living animals that are capable of 
biological transformation. Biological transformation 
comprises the processes of growth, degeneration, 
production and procreation that cause qualitative 
or quantitative changes in a biological asset.

A biological asset is recognised when the Group 
controls the assets as a result of past events, it is 
probable that future economic benefits will flow to 
the Group and the fair value or cost of the asset can 
be measured reliably.

NOTES TO THE  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(f) Biological assets (cont’d)

A biological asset is measured at its fair value less 
costs to sell. Cost may sometimes approximate  
fair value. Costs to sell include the incremental 
selling costs, commission paid to brokers and 
dealers and estimated costs of transport to the 
market but exclude finance costs and income 
taxes. Biological assets including eggs, breeders, 
broilers (including contract growers) are stated  
as follows:

(i) Bearer biological assets

 - Breeders
   Breeders are initially capitalised at cost and are 

depreciated over the anticipated productive 
cycle over which the Group expects to benefit 
from the assets, usually 65 weeks.

(ii) Consumable biological assets

 -  Eggs and broilers (including contract growers) 
Consumable biological assets are measured 
at fair value less estimated costs to sell,  
with gains or losses arising from changes  
in the fair values recognised in profit or loss.  
The fair values are determined by estimating 
the expected cash flows as adjusted by the 
hatchability, mortality and margin rates and 
the present condition of the asset.

(g) Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets into one of 
the categories below. The classification of financial 
assets at initial recognition depends on the financial 
assets contractual cash flow characteristics and the 
Group’s model for managing them.

The Group’s business model for managing 
financial assets refers to how it manages its 
financial assets in order to generate cash flows. 
The business model determines whether cash 
flows will result from collecting contractual cash 
flows, selling the financial assets or both. 

Other than financial assets in a qualifying hedging 
relationship, the Group’s accounting policy for 
each category is as follows:

(i) Amortised cost

These assets arise principally from the provision 
of goods and services to customers (e.g trade 
receivables), but also incorporate other types of 
financial assets where the objective is to hold these 
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and 
the contractual cash flows are solely payments of 
principal and interest. They are initially recognised 
at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to their acquisition or issue, and are 
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method, less provision for 
impairment.

Impairment provisions for trade receivables are 
recognised based on the simplified approach 
within IFRS 9 using the lifetime expected credit 
losses. During this process the probability of 
the non-payment of the trade receivables is 
assessed. This probability is then multiplied by the 
amount of the expected loss arising from default 
to determine the lifetime expected credit loss for 
the trade receivables. For trade receivables which 
are reported net, such provisions are recorded in 
a separate provision account with the loss being 
recognised within cost of sales in the statements 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
On confirmation that the trade receivable will  
not be collectable, the gross carrying value  
of the asset is written off against the associated 
provision.

From time to time, the Group elects to renegotiate 
the terms of trade receivables due from customer 
with which it has previously had a good trading 
history. Such renegotiations will lead to changes 
in the timing of payments rather than changes to 
the amounts owed, and in consequence, the new 
expected cash flows are discounted at the original 
effective interest rate and any difference to the 
carrying value is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets measured at amortised 
cost comprise trade and other receivables, cash 
and cash equivalents and other financial assets 
at amortised cost in the statement of financial 
position.

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, 
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of 
three months or less, and – for the purpose of the 
statement of cash flows – bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current 
liabilities on the statement of financial position.

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is 
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented 
in other income.

(ii)  Fair value through other comprehensive 
income

The Group has a number of strategic investments 
in listed and unlisted entities which are not 
accounted for as subsidiaries, associates or 
jointly controlled entities. For those investments, 
the Group has made an irrevocable election to 
classify the investments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income rather than through profit 
or loss as the Group considers this measurement 
to be the most representative of the business 
model for these assets. They are carried at fair 
value with changes in fair value recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in the 
fair value through other comprehensive income 
reserve. Upon disposal any balance within fair value 
through other comprehensive income reserve is 
reclassified directly to retained earnings and is not 
reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends are recognised in profit or loss, unless 
the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of 
the cost of the investment, in which case the full or 
partial amount of the dividend is recorded against 
the associated investments carrying amount. 

Purchases and sales of financial assets are 
recognised on trade date, being the date on which 

the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights 
to receive cash flows from the financial assets 
have expired or have been transferred and the 
Group has transferred substantially all the risks  
and rewards of ownership.

(h) Financial liabilities

(i) Preference shares

Preference shares are classified as debt based on 
its contractual terms. The terms of the preference 
shares include a mandatory fixed cumulative 
dividend of 10%, meeting the definition of a liability 
under the requirements of IAS 32. Dividend on the 
preference shares is accounted for as finance cost 
in profit or loss.

(ii) Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, 
net of any transaction costs directly attributable to 
the issue of the instrument. Such interest bearing 
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method, which 
ensures that any interest expense over the period 
to repayment is at a constant rate on the balance 
of the liability carried in the statement of financial 
position. For the purposes of each financial liability, 
interest expense includes initial transaction costs 
and any premium payable on redemption, as well 
as any interest or coupon payable while the liability 
is outstanding.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets are capitalised until such time as the assets 
are substantially ready for their intended use or 
sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed.

(iii) Trade and other payables

Trade payables represent liabilities for goods and 
services provided to the Group or the Company, 
prior to the end of the financial year which are 
unpaid. These amounts are initially recognised at 
fair value and subsequently carried at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

NOTES TO THE  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(i) Hedge accounting

Hedge accounting is applied to financial assets and 
financial liabilities only where all of the following 
criteria are met:

At the inception of the hedge there is formal 
designation and documentation of the hedging 
relationship and the Group’s risk management 
objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge;

The hedge relationship meets all of the hedge 
effectiveness requirements including that an 
economic relationship exists between the hedged 
item and the hedging instrument, the credit risk 
effect does not dominate the value changes, and 
the hedge ratio is designated based on actual 
quantities of the hedged item and the hedging 
instrument.

(i) Cash flow hedges

The effective part of forward contracts designated 
as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of foreign 
currency risk arising from firm commitments, and 
highly probable forecast transactions, are measured 
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised 
in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in the cash flow hedge reserve. The Group uses 
such contracts to fix the cost of inventories in the 
functional currency of the entity concerned.

If a highly probable forecast transaction results 
in the recognition of a non-monetary asset, the 
cumulative loss/(gain) is added to/(subtracted from) 
the cost of the asset acquired (“basis adjustment”). 
The same approach is followed where a cash flow 
hedge of a hedged forecast transaction for a non- 
financial asset or non-financial liability becomes 
a firm commitment to which fair value hedge 
accounting is applied. Otherwise the cumulative 
gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive 
income is reclassified from the cash flow hedge 
reserve to profit or loss at the same time as the 
hedged transaction affects profit or loss. 

If a forecast transaction is no longer considered 
highly probable but the forecast transaction is 

still expected to occur, the cumulative gain or 
loss recognised in other comprehensive income 
is frozen and recognised in profit or loss in 
accordance with the policy set out in the paragraph 
above. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the 
derivative are recognised in profit or loss. If the 
Group closes out its position before the transaction 
takes place (even though it is still expected to take 
place) the cumulative gain or loss on changes in 
fair value of the derivative is similarly recognised in 
accordance with the policy set out in the paragraph 
above. If, at any point, the hedged transaction is no 
longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or 
loss is reclassified from the cash flow hedge reserve 
to profit or loss immediately. 

(j) Share capital

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental 
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares 
or options are shown in equity as deduction, net of 
tax, from proceeds.

(k) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted 
average cost basis. The cost of finished goods and 
work in progress comprises raw materials, direct 
labour, other direct costs and related production 
overheads (based on normal operating capacity), 
but excludes borrowings costs. Net realisable 
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less the costs of completion 
and applicable variable selling expenses. Cost of 
inventories include the transfer from equity of any 
gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges relating 
to purchases of raw materials.

(l) Retirement benefit obligations

(i) Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a 
defined contribution plan. Typically defined benefit 
plans define an amount of pension benefit that 
an employee will receive on retirement, usually 
dependent on one or more factors such as age, 
years of service and compensation.

The liability recognised in the statement of financial 
position in respect of defined benefit pension plans 
is the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
at the end of the reporting period, less the fair value 
of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is 
calculated annually by independent actuaries using 
the projected unit credit method.

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability, 
which comprise actuarial gains and losses arising from 
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions, the return on plan assets (excluding 
interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, 
excluding interest), is recognised immediately in 
other comprehensive income in the period in which 
they occur. Remeasurements recognised in other 
comprehensive income shall not be reclassified to 
profit or loss in subsequent period. 

The Group determines the net interest expense/
(income) on the net defined benefit liability/
(asset) for the period by applying the discount rate 
used to measure the defined benefit obligation 
at the beginning of the annual period to the net 
defined benefit liability/(asset), taking into account 
any changes in the net defined liability/(asset) 
during the period as a result of contributions and 
benefit payments. Net interest expense/(income) is 
recognised in profit or loss. 

Service costs comprising current service cost, 
past service cost, as well as gains and losses on 
curtailments and settlements are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. 

(ii) Gratuity on retirement

For employees who are not covered (or who are 
insufficiently covered by the above pension plans), 
the net present value of gratuity on retirement 
payable under the Workers’ Rights Act 2019 is 
calculated by a qualified actuary and provided  
for. The obligations arising under this item are  
not funded.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment 
is terminated before the normal retirement date, 

or whenever an employee accepts voluntary 
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The 
Group recognises termination benefits when it is 
demonstrably committed to either: terminating 
the employment of current employees according 
to a detailed formal plan without the possibility of 
withdrawal; or providing termination benefits as 
a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary 
redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 
months after the end of the reporting period are 
discounted to present value.

(iv) Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under 
which the Group pays fixed contributions into a 
separate entity.

Payments to defined contribution plans are 
recognised as an expense when employees 
have rendered service that entitle them to the 
contributions. Unpaid contrbutions are recognised 
as a liability.

(m) Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period 
is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable 
income, based on the applicable income tax rate for 
each jurisdiction, adjusted by changes in deferred 
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary 
differences and to unused tax losses.

Current tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on 
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period in the 
countries where the Company and its subsidiaries 
operate and generate taxable income. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns 
with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulation is subject to interpretation and considers 
whether it is probable that a taxation authority will 
accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Group 
measures its tax balances either based on the most 
likely amount or the expected value, depending on 
which method provides a better prediction of the 
resolution of the uncertainty.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(m) Current and deferred income tax (cont’d)

Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the 
liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated 
financial statements. However, deferred tax 
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from 
the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred 
income tax is also not accounted for if it arises 
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction other than a business combination 
that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does 
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible 
temporary differences. Deferred income tax is 
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of the reporting period and are expected to apply  
when the related deferred income tax asset is 
realised or the deferred income tax liability is 
settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is 
probable that future taxable amounts will be 
available to utilise those temporary differences  
and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised 
for temporary differences between the carrying 
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign 
operations where the Company is able to control  
the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences and it is probable that the differences 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred 
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. 
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset 
where the entity has a legally enforceable right 
to offset and intends either to settle on a net 
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or 
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity, respectively.

(n) Foreign currencies

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of 
each of the Group’s entities are measured using 
Mauritian Rupee, the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates 
(“functional currency”), except for the subsidiaries 
located in Madagascar, Seychelles and Rwanda 
and whose functional currency is the Madagascar 
Ariary (MGA), the Seychellois Rupee (SCR) and  
the Rwandan Franc (RWF) respectively. The 
consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Mauritian Rupee.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into  
the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in profit or loss, except 
when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow 
hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to 
the purchase of raw materials are presented in 
profit or loss within “cost of sales”. All other foreign 
exchange gains and losses are presented in profit 
or loss within “finance costs”. 

Non-monetary items that are measured at historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. 

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value 
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date the fair value was determined.

(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group 
entities (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional 
currency different from the presentation currency 
are translated into the presentation currency as 
follows:

-  assets and liabilities for each statement of financial 
position presented are translated at the closing 
rate at the date of that statement of financial 
position;

-  income and expenses for each statement 
representing profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income are translated at average exchange rates; 

-  all resulting exchange differences are recognised 
in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising 
from the translation of the net investment in foreign 
entities are taken to shareholders’ equity. 

When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part 
of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the 
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets 
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at 
the closing rate.

(o) Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed 
for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. Any impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which the carrying 
amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in 
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, 
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash 
 generating units).

 
 

(p) Leases

The Group leases land, building and plant and 
machinery.

All leases are accounted for by recognising a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability except for:

(i) Leases of low value assets; and

(ii) Leases with a duration of 12 months or less.

The Group accounts for a contract, or a portion 
of a contract, as a lease when it conveys the right 
to use an asset for a period of time in exchange 
for consideration. Leases are those contracts that 
satisfy the following criteria:

- There is an identified asset;
-  The Group obtains substantially all the economic 

benefits from use of the asset, and
-  The Group has the right to direct use of the asset. 

In determining whether the Group obtains 
substantially all the economic benefits from use of 
the asset, the Group considers only the economic 
benefits that arise through use of the asset, not 
those incidental to legal ownership or other 
potential benefits.

In determining whether the Group has the right to 
direct use of the asset, the Group considers whether 
it directs how and for what purpose the asset is 
used throughout the period of use. If there are no 
significant decisions to be made because they are 
pre-determined due to the nature of the asset, the 
Group considers whether it was involved in the design 
of the asset in a way that predetermines how and 
for what purpose the asset will be used throughout 
the period of use. If the contract or portion of a 
contract does not satisfy these criteria, the Group 
applies other applicable IFRSs rather than IFRS 16. 

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value 
of the contractual payments due to the lessor over 
the lease term, with the discount rate determined by 
reference to the rate inherent in the lease unless (as 
is typically the case) this is not readily determinable, 
in which case the Group’s incremental borrowing 
rate on commencement of the lease is used.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(p) Leases (cont’d)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably 
certain extension options are also included in  
the measurement of the liability. 

Incremental borrowing rate is the rate that the 
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the 
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value 
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic 
environment with similar terms, security and 
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the 
Group uses recent third-party financing received 
by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted 
to reflect changes in financing conditions since 
third party financing was received. Variable lease 
payments are only included in the measurement of 
the lease liability if they depend on an index or rate. 
In such cases, the initial measurement of the lease 
liability assumes the variable element will remain 
unchanged throughout the lease term. Other 
variable lease payments are expensed in the period 
to which they relate. Lease payments to be made 
under reasonably certain extension options are 
also included in the measurement of the liability.

On initial recognition, the carrying value of the 
lease liability also includes:

-  amounts expected to be payable under any 
residual value guarantee;

-  the exercise price of any purchase option granted 
in favour of the Group if it is reasonably to assess 
that option; and

-  any penalties payable for terminating the lease,  
if the term of the lease has been estimated on 
the basis of termination option being exercised.

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at the 
amount of the lease liability, reduced for any lease 
incentives received, and increased for:

-  lease payments made at or before commencement 
of the lease;

- initial direct costs incurred; and

-  the amount of any provision recognised where 
the Group is contractually required to dismantle, 
remove or restore the leased asset (typically 
leasehold dilapidations).

Subsequent to initial measurement lease liabilities 
increase as a result of interest charged at a constant 
rate on the balance outstanding and are reduced 
for lease payments made. Right-of-use assets 
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the 
remaining term of the lease or over the remaining 
economic life of the asset if, rarely, this is judged 
to be shorter than the lease term. The terms of the 
leases previously classified as operating lease under 
IAS 17 are disclosed in note 5B. The lease liability 
classified as finance lease obligations under IAS 17 
is disclosed in note 5B. In addition, the right-of-use 
asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, 
if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of 
the lease liability. 

When the Group revises its estimate of the 
term of any lease (because, for example, it re-
assesses the probability of a lessee extension or 
termination option being exercised), it adjusts the 
carrying amount of the lease liability to reflect the 
payments to make over the revised term, which are 
discounted at the same discount rate that applied 
on lease commencement. The carrying value of 
lease liabilities is similarly revised when the variable 
element of future lease payments dependent on a 
rate or index is revised. In both cases an equivalent 
adjustment is made to the carrying value of the 
right-of-use asset, with the revised carrying 
amount being depreciated over the remaining 
(revised) lease term. 

When the Group renegotiates the contractual 
terms of a lease with the lessor, the accounting 
depends on the nature of the modification: 

If the renegotiation results in one or more additional 
assets being leased for an amount commensurate 

with the standalone price for the additional rights-of-
use obtained, the modification is accounted for as a 
separate lease in accordance with the above policy. 

In all other cases where the renegotiated increases 
the scope of the lease (whether that is an extension 
to the lease term, or one or more additional assets 
being leased), the lease liability is remeasured using 
the discount rate applicable on the modification 
date, with the right-of-use asset being adjusted by 
the same amount.

If the renegotiation results in a decrease in the 
scope of the lease, both the carrying amount of the 
lease liability and right-of-use asset are reduced 
by the same proportion to reflect the partial or 
full termination of the lease with any difference 
recognised in profit or loss. The lease liability is 
then further adjusted to ensure its carrying amount 
reflects the amount of the renegotiated payments 
over the renegotiated term, with the modified 
lease payments discounted at the rate applicable 
on the modification date. The right-of-use asset is 
adjusted by the same amount.

For contracts that both convey a right to the 
Group to use an identified asset and require 
services to be provided to the Group by the  
lessor, the Group has elected to account for  
the entire contract as a lease, i.e. it does allocate 
any amount of the contractual payments to, and 
account separately for, any services provided by 
the supplier as part of the contract. 

Payments associated with short-term leases and all 
leases of low-value assets such as IT equipments 
are recognised on a straight-line basis as an 
expense in profit or loss.

Right-of-use assets comprise land, buildings and 
plant and machinery.

(q) Revenue recognition

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

Performance obligations and timing of revenue 
recognition

The majority of the revenue is derived from selling 
goods with revenue recognised at a point in time 

when control of the goods has transferred to the 
customer. This is generally when the goods are 
delivered to the customer. However, for export 
sales, control might also be transferred when 
delivered either to the port of departure or port 
of arrival, depending on the specific terms of 
the contract with a customer. There is limited 
judgement needed in identifying the point control 
passes: once physical delivery of the products to 
the agreed location has occurred, the Company no 
longer has physical possession, usually will have a 
present right to payment (as a single payment on 
delivery) and retains none of the significant risks 
and rewards of the goods in question.

Determining the transaction price 

Most of the revenue is derived from fixed price 
contracts and therefore the amount of revenue  
to be earned from each contract is determined  
by reference to those fixed prices. 

Allocating amounts to performance obligations  

For most contracts, there is a fixed unit price for 
each product sold. Therefore, there is no judgement 
involved in allocating the contract price to each unit 
ordered in such contracts (it is the total contract 
price divided by the number of units ordered). 
Where a customer orders more than one product 
line, the Company is able to determine the split of 
the total contract price between each product line 
by reference to each product’s standalone selling 
prices (all product lines are capable of being, and 
are, sold separately).

(ii) Other revenues earned by the Group are 
recognised on the following bases:

Interest income – by applying the effective interest 
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset 
except for financial assets that subsequently become 
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets 
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset (after deduction of 
the loss allowance).

Dividend income – when the shareholder’s right to 
receive payment is established.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(r) Preference dividend distribution

Preference dividend distribution to the Company’s 
shareholders is recognised as a liability in the 
Group’s financial statements in the period in  
which the dividends are declared.

(s) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result 
of past events and it is probable that an outflow  
of resources that can be reliably estimated will  
be required to settle the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the 
best estimate of the consideration required to 
settle the present obligation at the end of the 
reporting period, taking into account the risks 
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 
When a provision is measured using the cash 
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, 
its carrying amount is the present value of those  
cash flows.

(t) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner 
consistent with the internal reporting provided  
to the decision makers.

Management monitors the operating results of its 
business units seperately for the purpose of making 
decisions about resource allocation and performs 
assessment.

(u) Basics earnings per share

(i) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

-  the profit attributable to owners of the company, 
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than 
ordinary shares; and

-  by number of ordinary shares adjusted for any 
bonus issue.

(ii) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used 

in the determination of basic earnings per share to 
take into account:

-  the after-income tax effect of interest and other 
financing costs associated with dilutive potential 
ordinary shares; and

-  the weighted average number of additional 
ordinary shares that would have been outstanding 
assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential 
ordinary shares.

3. Financial Risk Management

3.1 Financial Risk Factors

The other activities expose it to a variety of financial 
risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest 
rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity 
risk. 

The Group’s overall risk management programme 
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets 
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on 
the Group’s financial performance. The Company 
uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain 
risk exposures. 

A description of the significant risk factors is given 
below together with the risk management policies 
applicable.

(a) Market risk

(i) Currency risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed 
to foreign exchange risk arising from various 
currency exposures primarily with respect to the 
Euro, the US dollar, Malagasy ariary, Seychellois 
rupee and Rwanda franc.

The Group uses forward contracts to hedge its 
exposure to foreign currency risk when future 
commercial transactions, recognised assets and 
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not 
the entity’s functional currency. External foreign 
exchange contracts are designated at Group level 
as hedges of foreign exchange risk on specific 
assets, liabilities or future transactions.

3. Financial Risk Management (cont’d)

                     
3.1 Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)              
                     
(a) Market risk (cont’d)              
                 
(i) Currency risk (cont’d)              

Currency profile

The currency profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and liabilities are summarised below:

THE GROUP
MUR 
Rs000

MGA 
Rs000

USD 
Rs000

EUR 
Rs000

SCR 
Rs000

Other 
currencies 

Rs000
Total 
Rs000

At 30 June 2022

Financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 217,217 -   -   -   -   -   217,217 

Trade receivables 186,284 88,697 113,317 39 41,332 13,177 442,846 
Other receivables (see note below) 25,769 12,982 22,966 -   2,090 -   63,807 
Derivative financial instruments -   -   5,001 -   -   -   5,001 
Cash and cash equivalents 6,100 22,187 114,004 22,697 8,484 7,372 180,844 
Total financial assets 435,370 123,866 255,288 22,736 51,906 20,549 909,715 

Trade payables 35,480 116,092 152,624 4,358 3,210 21,396 333,160 
Borrowings 552,436 396,510 200,863 189 3,042 9,640 1,162,680 
Lease liabilities 12,080 5,759 -   -   -   -   17,839 
Total financial liabilities 599,996 518,361 353,487 4,547 6,252 31,036 1,513,679 

Note: Prepayments and advances to suppliers have been excluded.
 

THE GROUP
MUR 
Rs000

MGA 
Rs000

USD 
Rs000

EUR 
Rs000

SCR 
Rs000

Other 
currencies 

Rs000
Total 
Rs000

At 30 June 2021

Financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 144,458 -   -   -   -   -   144,458 

Trade and other receivables 183,969 73,760 15,868 8,725 -   21,793 304,115 
Other receivables (see note below) 24,004 -   -   -   -   18,337 42,341 
Derivative financial instruments -   -   11,256 -   -   -   11,256 
Cash and cash equivalents 149,447 31,167 -   -   44 6,960 187,618 
Total financial assets 501,878 104,927 27,124 8,725 44 47,090 689,788 

Trade payables 174,840 75,423 9,895 2,465 -   6,778 269,401 
Borrowings 134,847 418,055 314,829 23 424 -   868,178 
Lease liabilities 12,912 7,638 -   -   -   -   20,550 
Total financial liabilities 322,599 501,116 324,724 2,488 424 6,778 1,158,129 
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3. Financial Risk Management (cont’d)

                     
3.1 Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)              
                     
(a) Market risk (cont’d)              
                 
(i) Currency risk (cont’d)              

Currency profile (cont’d)

THE COMPANY
MUR 
Rs000

MGA 
Rs000

USD 
Rs000

EUR 
Rs000

SCR 
Rs000

Other 
currencies 

Rs000
Total 
Rs000

At 30 June 2022

Financial assets at fair value through  
other comprehensive income 1 -   -   -   -   -   1 

Other receivables 85,460 27,137 31,170 -   309 -   144,076 
Trade receivables 276,345 -   110,833 39 -   -   387,217 
Derivative financial instruments -   -   5,001 -   -   -   5,001 
Cash and cash equivalents 217 -   115,304 22,654 343 -   138,518 
Total financial assets 362,023 27,137 262,308 22,693 652 -   674,813 

Trade payables 139,762 -   20,653 1,515 -   21,048 182,978 
Borrowings 562,402 -   200,820 189 -   -   763,411 
Lease liabilities 12,080 -   -   -   -   -   12,080 
Total financial liabilities 714,244 -   221,473 1,704 -   21,048 958,469 

Note: Prepayments and advances to suppliers have been excluded.

THE COMPANY
MUR 
Rs000

MGA 
Rs000

USD 
Rs000

EUR 
Rs000

SCR 
Rs000

Other 
currencies 

Rs000
Total 
Rs000

At 30 June 2021

Financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 1 -   -   -   -   -   1 

Trade and other receivables 196,003 -   135,010 1,630 -   -   332,643 
Derivative financial instruments -   -   11,256 -   -   -   11,256 
Cash and cash equivalents 37,478 -   84,777 9,005 973 3 132,236 
Total financial assets 233,482 -   231,043 10,635 973 3 476,136 

Trade payables 185,733 -   11,826 2,465 -   3,310 203,334 
Borrowings 140,087 -   314,829 -   -   23 454,939 
Lease liabilities 12,912 -   -   -   -   -   12,912 
Total financial liabilities 338,732 -   326,655 2,465 -   3,333 671,185 

Note: Prepayments and advances to suppliers have been excluded.

The following significant exchange rates have been applied.

Average Rate Year-end Spot Rate

2022 
Rs

2021 
Rs

2022 
Rs

2021 
Rs

MGA 0.013 0.011 0.013 0.011 
USD 43.02 39.98 44.15 42.50 
EUR 48.51 48.14 46.25 50.55 
SCR 2.98 2.099 3.250 2.60
RWF 0.041 0.041 0.041 0.041 

Sensitivity analysis

At 30 June 2022, if the rupee had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the US dollar/Euro/Malagasy ariary/Seychellois 
rupee, with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year and equity would have been impacted as 
follows mainly as a result of measurement of financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency.

THE GROUP
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

+/-5% +/-5%
MGA (19,725) (19,809)

+/-5% +/-5%
USD (4,910) (14,880)

+/-5% +/-5%
EUR 909 312 

+/-5% +/-5%
SCR 2,283 (19)

THE COMPANY
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

+/-5% +/-5%
USD 2,042 (3,170)

+/-5% +/-5%
EUR 1,049 409 

Given that the Group has limited foreign currency exposure to RWF, no sensitivity analysis was carried out.

(ii) Other price risk        

  The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments held by the Group and classified on the 
consolidated statement of financial position as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.  
To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of 
the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the Group.
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3. Financial Risk Management (cont’d)      

           
3.1 Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)    
           
(a) Market risk (cont’d)    
           
(ii) Other price risk (cont’d)        
           
  Sensitivity analysis        

 
The table below summarises the impact of increases/decreases in the fair value of the investments on the Group’s 
equity.

           
  The analysis is based on the assumption that the fair value had increased/decreased by 5%.  
           

       
Impact on equity

     
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Categories of investments:        
  Designated at fair value through other comprehensive income  10,861 7,223 
           
(b) Credit risk        

  Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, contractual cash flows of debt investments carried at amortised cost, 
favourable derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures 
to customers, including outstanding trade and other receivables. The maximum exposure of the Group to the credit risk 
is the carrying value of these assets.

Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. For banks and financial institution, only independently rated parties are  
accepted.

Risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience, and 
other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. 
The compliance with credit limits by customers is regularly monitored by line management. No security is taken for the 
credit sales.

The Group’s trade receivables is concentrated amongst its related parties.

The table below shows the balance of major counterparties at the end of the reporting period for the Company: 

 
2022 2021

 

 Overdue 
balance 

Rs000
Balance 

Rs000

 Overdue 
balance 

Rs000
 Balance 

Rs000

  Major counterparties 8,628 303,097 -   267,850 
  Others 136 87,789 49 68,726 
  8,764 390,886 49 336,576 
 
  Management does not expect any losses from non-performance by these counterparties.  
           

  The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate 
credit history.  

(c) Interest rate risk        

  The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to 
cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

At 30 June 2022, if interest rates on rupee-denominated borrowings had been 50 basis points higher/lower with all 
other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been Rs 10,716,068 (2021: Rs 334,753) lower/
higher for the Group and Rs 3,101,081 (2021: Rs 29,523) lower/higher for the Company, mainly as a result of higher/
lower interest expense on floating rate borrowings. 

 

 
           
(d) Liquidity risk        

  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated 
with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivery of cash or another financial asset.

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the availability of 
funding from an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.

The Group and the Company aim at maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available.

The tables below analyse the Group’s and the Company’s financial exposure into relevant maturity groupings based on 
the remaining period at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. 

THE GROUP

Less than  
1 year 
Rs000

1 - 2  
years 
Rs000

2 - 5  
years 
Rs000

Total  
Rs000

At 30 June 2022
Money market lines 430,000 -   -   430,000 
Trade and other payables 333,160 -   -   333,160 
Bank overdraft 157,750 -   -   157,750 
Import loan 495,052 -   -   495,052 
Bank loans 25,493 54,385 -   79,878 
Lease liabilities 4,769 3,150 21,875 29,794 

1,446,224 57,535 21,875 1,525,634 

At 30 June 2021
Money market lines 100,000 25,825 61,529 187,354 
Trade and other payables 269,401 -   -   269,401 
Bank overdraft 38,557 -   -   38,557 
Import loan 604,674 -   -   604,674 
Lease liabilities 781 22,489 -   23,270 
Other loans 23,360 -   -   23,360 

1,036,773 48,314 61,529 1,146,616 

THE COMPANY

Less than  
1 year 
Rs000

1 - 2  
years 
Rs000

2 - 5  
years 
Rs000

Total  
Rs000

At 30 June 2022
Money market lines 430,000 -   -   430,000 
Trade and other payables 182,978 -   -   182,978 
Bank overdraft 127,699 -   -   127,699 
Import loan 200,689 -   -   200,689
Bank loan 5,023 -   -   5,023 
Lease liabilities 1,220 940 21,875 24,035 

947,609 940 21,875 970,424 

  At 30 June 2021
  Money market lines 100,000 -   100,000 
  Trade and other payables 203,334 -   -   203,334 
  Bank overdraft 23 -   -   23 
  Import loan 314,829 -   -   314,829 
  Other loans 40,087 -   -   40,087 
  Lease liabilities 781 12,131 -   12,912 
  659,054 12,131 -   671,185 
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3.2 Fair value estimation        

 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the end of the 
reporting period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, 
dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly 
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by 
the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1. Instruments included in level 1 comprise 
primarily quoted equity investments classified as financial assets at FVOCI.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation 
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as 
little as possible on specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the 
instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3  
as detailed on Note 9 to the financial statements.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

- Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments. 

- Discounted cash flow analysis is also used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate 
their fair values.

           

3.3 Capital risk management        

  The Group’s objectives when managing capital are: 

• to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for 
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and 

• to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes 
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistently with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. 
This ratio is calculated as net debt to adjusted capital. Net debt is calculated as total debt less cash and cash equivalents. 
Adjusted capital comprises all components of equity (i.e., share capital, retained earnings, revaluation and other 
reserves), other than amounts recognised in equity relating to cash flow hedges.

During the year 30 June 2022, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from 2021, was to maintain the debt-to-
adjusted capital ratio to a reasonable level in order to secure access to finance at reasonable costs.

 

 

 

  The debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021 were as follows:  
           

   
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Total debt 1,180,519 888,728 775,491 467,851 
  Less: cash and cash equivalents (180,844) (187,618) (138,518) (132,236)
  Net debt 999,675 701,110 636,973 335,615 
           
  Total equity 2,528,727 2,204,453 1,514,268 1,379,112 

 
Less: amounts recognised in equity relating  
to cash flow hedges (Note 16(a)/(c)) (5,102) (20,964) (5,102) (20,964)

  Adjusted capital 2,523,625 2,183,489 1,509,166 1,358,148 
           
  Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio 40% 32% 42% 25%
           
  There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital risk management during the year.  

4. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

 
Estimates and judgements are continuously evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

           

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions      

  The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 

           

(a) Estimated impairment of goodwill        

  The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy 
stated in note 2(c)(i). These calculations require the use of estimates.

           

(b) Impairment of financial assets        

  The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.  
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based 
on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting 
period.  

(c) Pension benefits        

  The present value of the pension obligations depend on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis 
using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost/(income) for pensions include the 
discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of pension obligations. 

The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest rate that should be 
used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the pension 
obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers the interest rates of high-quality 
corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity 
approximating the terms of the related pension obligation.

Other key assumptions for pension obligations are based in part on current market conditions. Additional information 
is disclosed in note 19. 
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(d) Revaluation of property, plant and equipment      

  The Group carries land and buildings, plant and machinery and factory equipments at revalued amounts with changes 
in fair value being recognised in other comprehensive income. Land and buildings, and plant and machinery and factory 
equipment have been revalued as at 30 June 2021. Despite the formal revaluation exercise at the last financial year 
end, the current economic conditions prevailing have resulted in significant and volatile changes in fair value thus 
necessitating a revaluation at 30 June 2022 as well. Revaluation includes various inputs which requires judgements and 
assumptions as disclosed in note 5. 

 

(e) Asset lives and residual values        

  Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their useful lives taking into account residual values, where 
appropriate. The actual lives of the assets and residual values are assessed annually and may vary depending on a number 
of factors. In reassessing assets’ lives, factors such as technological innovation, product life cycles and maintenance 
programmes are taken into account. Residual value assessments consider issues such as future market conditions, the 
remaining life of the asset and projected disposal values. Consideration is also given to the extent of current profits and 
losses on the disposal of similar assets.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated to their residual values over their estimated useful lives. The residual 
value of an asset is the estimated net amount that the Group and the Company would currently obtain from disposal of 
the asset, if the asset was already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.

The directors therefore make estimates based on historical experience and use best judgement to assess the useful lives 
of assets and to forecast the expected residual values of the assets at the end of their expected useful lives. 

(f) Impairment of assets        

  Property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets, are considered for impairment if there is a reason to believe that 
impairment may be necessary. Factors taken into consideration in reaching such a decision include the economic 
viability of the asset itself and where it is a component of a larger economic unit, the viability of that unit itself.

Future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets or cash-generating units are projected, taking into account 
market conditions and the expected useful lives of the assets. The present value of these cash flows, determined using 
an appropriate discount rate, is compared to the current net asset value and, if lower, the assets are impaired to the 
present value. The impairment loss is first allocated to goodwill and then to the other assets of a cash-generating unit. 

 

           

(g) Fair value of securities not quoted in an active market

  The fair value of securities not quoted in an active market may be determined by the Group using valuation techniques, 
including third party transaction values, earnings, net asset value or discounted cash flows, whichever is considered 
to be appropriate. The Group would exercise judgement and estimates on the quantity and quality of pricing sources 
used. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. Further 
information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in note 9 to the financial statements. 

(h) Biological assets

Biological assets consist of breeders, hatchable eggs and broilers and are carried at fair value less costs to sell.  
The fair value was determined by using valuation techniques which are based on certain assumptions such as hatchability 
rates, expected costs, mortality rates and margin rate. Valuation techniques used include estimating the expected cash 
flows. Management also exercises judgement when cost approximates fair value.

(i) Provision for loss allowance of trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not track 
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group 
has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking 
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates and ECLs is a significant estimate.  
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Group’s 
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of customer’s 
actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 12.

(j) Hedge effectiveness

The Group is exposed to price risk, on the purchase of raw materials. The Group hedges these exposures by entering 
into option contracts (“hedging instruments”) that will match the terms of the physical commodity contract (“hedged 
item”). To apply hedge accounting, a condition is that the forecast transaction must be “highly probable”. The Group has 
applied judgement in assessing whether the hedge effectiveness is highly probable.

5. Property, Plant and Equipment

Land & 
building 

Rs000

Plant &  
machinery 

Rs000

Factory 
equipment 

Rs000

Furniture, 
fittings & 

equipment 
Rs000

Motor 
vehicles 

Rs000

Work-in-
progress 

Rs000
Total 
Rs000

(a) THE GROUP
COST OR VALUATION  
At 1 July 2021 572,069 554,430 212,347 60,211 34,695 152,521 1,586,273 
Reclassification adjustments -   (483) 573 (90) -   -   -   
Additions 22,480 2,838 36,689 3,840 3,352 148,252 217,451 
Transfers from work-in-progress 78,157 33,278 147,570 1,034 1,032 (261,071) -   

Transfers from/(to) Right-of-use 
assets (Note 5A) (969)               89 

                  
-                    -                  -                    -   (880)

Disposals -   (23) (13) (55) (730) -   (821)
Exchange differences 75 3 239 98 - -   415 
Scrap -   (1,127) (3,628) (304) - -   (5,059)
Revaluation adjustment 6,203 64,367 21,430 -   -   -   92,000 
At 30 June 2022 678,015 653,372 415,207 64,734 38,349 39,702 1,889,379 

DEPRECIATION 
At 1 July 2021 -   240,492 112,723 41,452 22,081 -   416,748 
Charge for the year 21,593 26,765 27,854 5,709 4,762 -   86,683 
Disposal adjustments -   (15) (8) (38) (730) -   (791)
Exchange differences -   14 33 81 -   -   128 
Scrap -   (606) (1,814) (296) -   -   (2,716)
Revaluation adjustment (18,397) 31,233 8,622 -   -   -   21,458 
At 30 June 2022 3,196 297,883 147,410 46,908       26,113 -   521,510 

             
NET BOOK VALUES              
At 30 June 2022 674,819 355,489 267,797 17,826 12,236 39,702 1,367,869 
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5. Property, Plant and Equipment (cont’d)

Land & 
building 

Rs000

Plant &  
machinery 

Rs000

Factory 
equipment 

Rs000

Furniture, 
fittings & 

equipment 
Rs000

Motor 
vehicles 

Rs000

Work-in-
progress 

Rs000
Total 
Rs000

(b) THE GROUP
COST OR VALUATION  
At 1 July 2020 498,610 444,141 194,382 60,166 34,390 45,452 1,277,141 
Reclassification adjustments -   -   1,380 (80) -   (1,300) -   
Additions 4,714 7,043 2,240 884 1,690 209,679 226,250 
Transfers from work-in-progress 62,568 36,656 3,658 1,382         1,183 (105,447) -   

Transfers from Right-of-use 
assets (Note 5A) -            7,784 

                  
-                    -                  -                    -   7,784 

Disposals -   (352) (1,830) (2,793) (3,501) -   (8,476)
Exchange differences 6,336 2,262 6,420 729 933 4,137 20,817 
Scrap -   -   (9,358) (77) -   -   (9,435)
Revaluation adjustment (159) 56,896 15,455 -   -   -   72,192 
At 30 June 2021 572,069 554,430 212,347 60,211 34,695 152,521 1,586,273 

DEPRECIATION
At 1 July 2020 100,856 195,400 101,791 35,684       19,315 -   453,046 
Reclassification adjustments -                  -   116 (116)                -   -   -   
Charge for the year 16,145 19,330 24,333 6,618 5,445 -   71,871 

Transfers from Right-of-use 
assets (Note 5A) -   561 -   -                  -   -   561 

Disposal adjustments -   (327) (1,702) (1,139) (3,085) -   (6,253)
Exchange differences 5,169 1,009 1,136 465 406 -   8,185 
Scrap -                  -   (9,199) (60)                -   -   (9,259)
Revaluation adjustment (122,170) 24,519 (3,752) -                  -   -   (101,403)
At 30 June 2021 -   240,492 112,723 41,452       22,081 -   416,748 

             
NET BOOK VALUES              
At 30 June 2021 572,069     313,938 99,624 18,759       12,614 152,521 1,169,525 

                 

 

Land & 
building 

Rs000

Plant &  
machinery 

Rs000

Factory 
equipment 

Rs000

Furniture, 
fittings & 

equipment 
Rs000

Motor 
vehicles 

Rs000

Work-in-
progress 

Rs000
Total 
Rs000

(c) THE COMPANY
  COST OR VALUATION

At 1 July 2021 449,350 454,088 97,090 40,565 14,441 10,826 1,066,360 
  Additions -                  -   -   -                  -   95,276 95,276 
  Transfers from work-in-progress 25,670 31,729 9,377 891         1,032 (68,699) -   

 
Transfers from/(to) Right-of-use 
assets (Note 5A)

                  
(248)               89 

                  
-                    -                  -                    -   

              
(159)

  Disposals -                  -   -   -   (730) -   (730)
Scrap -   (1,127) (3,628) (304)                -   -   (5,059)

  Revaluation surplus 15,266 60,506 8,758 -                  -   -   84,530 
  At 30 June 2022 490,038 545,285 111,597 41,152       14,743 37,403 1,240,218 
 
  DEPRECIATION 

At 1 July 2021 -       214,437 47,106 30,306       11,034 -   302,883 
  Charge for the year 13,256 19,209 9,646 3,816         1,381 -   47,308 
  Disposal adjustments -                  -   -   -   (730) -   (730)
  Scrap -   (606) (1,814) (297)                -   -   (2,717)
  Revaluation adjustment (11,378) 29,472 3,905 -                  -   -   21,999 
  At 30 June 2022 1,878     262,512 58,843 33,825       11,685 -   368,743 
  NET BOOK VALUES              
  At 30 June  2022 488,160 282,773 52,754 7,327 3,058 37,403 871,475 

               
(d) THE COMPANY            
  COST OR VALUATION            
  At 1 July 2020 379,796 363,068 96,106 42,031 15,007 12,669 908,677
  Additions -                  -   -   -                  -   103,604 103,604 
  Transfers from work-in-progress 62,568 36,656 3,658 1,382         1,183 (105,447) -   

 
Transfers from Right-of-use 
assets (Note 5A)

                       
-            7,784 

                  
-                    -                  -                    -   

             
7,784 

  Disposals -   (352) (1,117) (2,771) (1,749) -   (5,989)
  Scrap -                  -   (9,358) (77)                -   -   (9,435)
  Revaluation surplus 6,986 46,932 7,801 -                  -   -   61,719 
  At 30 June 2021 449,350 454,088 97,090 40,565       14,441 10,826 1,066,360 
               
  DEPRECIATION  
  At 1 July 2020 31,566 175,731 49,183 26,373 11,033 -   293,886
  Charge for the year 10,309 15,733 9,458 5,129         1,561 -   42,190 

 
Transfers from Right-of-use 
assets (Note 5A)

                       
-               561 

                  
-                    -                  -                    -   

                
561 

  Disposal adjustments -   (327) (989) (1,136) (1,560) -   (4,012)
  Scrap -   4 (9,199) (60)                -   -   (9,255)
  Revaluation adjustment (41,875) 22,735 (1,347) -                  -   -   (20,487)
  At 30 June 2021 -       214,437 47,106 30,306       11,034 -   302,883 
               . 
  NET BOOK VALUES              
  At 30 June 2021 449,350     239,651 49,984 10,259 3,407 10,826 763,477 
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5. Property, Plant and Equipment (cont’d)  

(e) The Group’s and Company’s  buildings were revalued by independent qualified valuers namely Elevante Property 
Services Ltd and by Cabinet Razafindratandra as of 30 June 2022. Plant & machinery, and factory equipment were 
revalued  by Engineering Technical and Management Services Ltd as of 30 June 2022. 

The valuation method is the open market value approach. The valuation consideration takes into account three broad 
valuation methodologies, namely the cost approach, the sales comparison approach and the income capitalisation 
approach. Specialised buildings are valued using the cost approach after accounting for obsolescence, namely 
physical, functional and economic. Plant & machinery and factory equipment were revalued on the basis of depreciated 
replacement cost.

The revaluation surplus/deficit net of deferred income taxes was credited/charged to revaluation reserve in shareholders’ 
equity.

Details of the Group’s land, buildings, plant & machinery and factory equipment, measured at fair value and information 
about the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

           
         

   
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 
Level 2 
Rs000

Level 3 
Rs000

Level 2 
Rs000

Level 3 
Rs000

2022

Land and buildings 674,819 -   488,160 -   
Plant and machinery -   213,293 -   169,664 
Factory equipment -   53,559 -   31,652 

674,819 266,852 488,160 201,316 
   
  2021  
  Land and buildings 572,069 -   -   -   
  Plant and machinery -   103,510 -   85,067 
  Factory equipment -   22,022 -   22,022 
  572,069 125,532 -   107,089 
   

 

There were no transfers between level 2 and 3 during the year. 

The fair value of land was derived using the sales comparison approach. Sales prices of comparable land in close 
proximity are adjusted for differences in key attributes such as property size. The most significant input into this valuation 
approach is price per square metre.

At 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021, the most significant observable inputs for the valuation of land were as follows:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

Range of 
observable 

input (Rs/m2)

Range of 
observable 

input (Rs/m2)

Land
Price per square metre  400 - 4,400  3,200 - 4,400 

Significant increase/(decrease) in the above observable input, price per square metre in isolation would result in a 
significant higher/(lower) fair value.

At 30 June 2022, the most significant observable inputs for the valuation of building were as follows:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

Range of 
observable 

input (Rs/m2)

Range of 
observable 

input (Rs/m2)

Buildings

Price per square metre  8,000 - 33,000  15,000 - 33,000 

At 30 June 2021:

Buildings

  Price per square metre  8,000 - 30,000  15,000 - 30,000 

 
Significant increase/(decrease) in the above observable input, price per square metre in isolation would result in a 
significant higher/(lower) fair value.

The fair value of plant & machinery and factory equipment was determined using the depreciated replacement cost 
basis. 

(f) If the land & buildings and plant & machinery were stated on the historical cost basis, the amounts would be as follows:
         

   
Land & Buildings Plant and Machinery

 
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

THE GROUP

  Cost 533,166 433,423 469,675 435,100 
  Accumulated depreciation (172,724) (140,411) (249,065) (230,730)
  Net book value 360,442 293,012 220,610 204,370 

  THE COMPANY  
  Cost 326,433 301,011 351,817 321,126 
  Accumulated depreciation (61,714) (56,908) (222,499) (203,089)
  Net book value 264,719 244,103 129,318 118,037 
     
     
(g) Depreciation charge is allocated as follows in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income:

   
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Cost of sales 80,310 52,009 41,267 33,827 
  Administrative expenses 6,373 19,862 6,041 8,363 
    86,683 71,871 47,308 42,190 
         

(h) Bank borrowings are secured by floating charges on the assets of the Group, including property, plant and equipment 
(note 18).   
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5A Right-of-Use Assets

Land 
Rs000

Buildings 
Rs000

Plant & 
machinery 

Rs000
Total 
Rs000

THE GROUP
At 1 July 2021 10,646 7,355 1,948 19,949 
Additions -   4,230 -   4,230 

Transfer from/(to) Property, plant and 
equipment (Note 5) 969 -   (89)

                              
880 

Transfer from intangible assets (Note 6) 2,870 -   -   2,870 
Effect of modification to lease terms (245) -   -   (245)
Amortisation (444) (5,698) (149) (6,291)
Exchange differences 12 (2) -   10 
At 30 June 2022 13,808 5,885 1,710 21,403 

At 30 June 2020 9,405 16,709 9,319 35,433 
Additions 1,622 11,316 -   12,938 
Termination -   (20,524) -   (20,524)

Transfer from/(to) Property, plant and 
equipment (Note 5) -   -   (7,223)

                         
(7,223)

Effect of modification to lease terms -   4,806 -   4,806 
Amortisation (381) (5,599) (148) (6,128)
Exchange differences -   647 -   647 
At 30 June 2021 10,646 7,355 1,948 19,949 

           

 
Land 
Rs000

Plant & 
machinery 

Rs000
Total 
Rs000

THE COMPANY  
At 1 July 2021   10,646 1,948 12,594 
Effect of modification to lease terms   (245) -   (245)
Transfer to Property, plant and equipment (Note 5)  248 (89) 159 
Amortisation (382) (149) (531)
At 30 June 2022 10,267 1,710 11,977 
   
   
At 1 July 2020   9,405 9,319 18,724 
Additions   1,622 -   1,622 
Transfer to Property, plant and equipment (Note 5)  -   (7,223) (7,223)
Amortisation   (381) (148) (529)
At 30 June 2021 10,646 1,948 12,594 

5B Lease Liabilities

Land 
Rs000

Buildings 
Rs000

Plant & 
machinery 

Rs000
Total 
Rs000

THE GROUP
At 1 July 2021 11,374 7,639 1,537 20,550 
Additions -   4,230 -   4,230 
Interest expense 493 189   67 749 
Lease payments (700) (6,105) (881) (7,686)
Exchange differences -   (4) -   (4)
At 30 June 2022 11,167 5,949 723 17,839 

Current 4,057 
Non current 13,782 

17,839 

At 1 July 2020 9,610 17,527 3,306 30,443 
Additions -   11,316 -   11,316 
Interest expense 2,464 1,118 146 3,728 
Lease payments (700) (6,890) (1,915) (9,505)
Termination -   (20,524) -   (20,524)
Effect of modification to lease terms -   4,806 -   4,806 
Exchange differences -   286 -   286 
At 30 June 2021 11,374 7,639 1,537 20,550 

Current 781 
Non-current 19,769 

20,550 

 
Land 
Rs000

Plant & 
machinery 

Rs000
Total 
Rs000

THE COMPANY  
At 1 July 2021   11,375 1,537 12,912 
Interest expense 682 67 749 
Lease payments (700) (881) (1,581)
At 30 June 2022 11,357 723 12,080 

Current 508 
Non-current 11,572 

12,080 

At 1 July 2020 11,392 3,306 14,698 
Interest expense 683 146 829 
Lease payments (700) (1,915) (2,615)
At 30 June 2021 11,375 1,537 12,912 

Current 781 
Non-current 12,131 

12,912 
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(a) Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee)

The Group and the Company lease a plot of land at Quay D for their operations.

The Group also leases a number of buildings in Madagascar for its operations. In some jurisdictions it is customary for 
lease contracts to provide for payments to increase each year by inflation and in others to be reset periodically to market 
rental rates.

(b) Lease payments 

The lease payments for the plot of land is a fixed yearly amount of Rs 700,000. The lease payments for the buildings and 
motor vehicles are fixed yearly amounts.

(c) Lease term 
The lease term for land is for a period of 30 years. The lease terms for buildings varies between 1 to 13 years.

(d) Interest expense and cash outflows 
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

Interest expense (included in finance cost) 749 3,728 749 829 

Total cash outflows (7,686) (9,505) (1,581) (2,615)
           
(e) The effective interest rates ranges in the relevant financial years were as follows:  

           

       
2022 

%
2021 

%

  THE GROUP    
  Lease liabilities  6.25 - 7.50  6.25 - 7.50 
   
       
  THE COMPANY    
  Lease liabilities      6.25 - 7.50 6.25 - 7.50

         

           

6. Intangible Assets  
   

 
Goodwill 

Rs000

Computer 
software 

Rs000
Total 
Rs000

  THE GROUP  
(a) COST  
  At 1 July 2021   1,575 78,582 80,157 
  Transfer to Right-of-use assets (Note 5A)   - (2,901) (2,901)
  Additions   29,704 1,405 31,109 
  Scrap   - (1,044) (1,044)
  Exchange differences   (1,346) 169 (1,177)
  At 30 June 2022   29,933 76,211 106,144 
     
  AMORTISATION  
  At 1 July 2021   - 26,022 26,022 
  Transfer to Right-of-use assets (Note 5A)   - (31) (31)
  Charge for the year   - 10,159 10,159 
  Impairment charge for the year   - - - 
  Scrap   - (1,044) (1,044)
  Exchange differences   - 136 136
  At 30 June 2022   - 35,242 35,242 
           
  NET BOOK VALUES        
  At 30 June 2022   29,933 40,969 70,902 
           
  THE GROUP  
(b) COST        
  At 1 July 2020   1,575 74,607 76,182 
  Additions   - 3,994 3,994 
  Scrap   - (487) (487)
  Exchange differences   - 468 468 
  At 30 June 2021   1,575 78,582 80,157 
           
  AMORTISATION        
  At 1 July 2020   - 15,997 15,997 
  Charge for the year   - 10,242 10,242 
  Scrap   - (487) (487)
  Exchange differences   - 270 270 
  At 30 June 2021   - 26,022 26,022 
           
  NET BOOK VALUES        
  At 30 June 2021   1,575 52,560 54,135 
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6. Intangible Assets (cont’d)

 

The goodwill arose on the acquisition of LFL Madagascar SA and LFL Rwanda Ltd. The Group has carried out an 
impairment assessment of goodwill at 30 June 2022 by assessing the recoverable value based on price to earning ratio 
method, which requires use of assumptions. The method took into account the ratio of the comparable companies in 
the industry. The Group concluded that no impairment of goodwill is required.  

           

(c) THE COMPANY    
Computer software

     
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  COST    
At 1 July   69,930 66,460 

  Additions     1,283 3,957 
  Scrap     (1,044) (487)
  At 30 June     70,169 69,930 
         
  AMORTISATION      

At 1 July   22,199 13,043 
  Charge for the year     9,519 9,643 
  Scrap     (1,044) (487)
  At 30 June     30,674 22,199 
           
  NET BOOK VALUES        
  At 30 June     39,495 47,731 

           
(d) Amortisation charge is allocated as follows in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income: 

   
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

           
  Administrative expenses 10,159 10,242 9,519 9,643 

7. Investment in Subsidiaries
THE COMPANY

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Unquoted
  COST
  At 1 July 273,817 246,464 
  Reversal of impairment (Note 26) 1,001 27,353 
  At 30 June 274,818 273,817 

  Details of the subsidiary companies are as follows:     

2022 2021

    Stated Class of 
Proportion of  

ownership
Proportion of  

ownership
Country of 

incorporation    
  Name capital shares held Direct Indirect Direct Indirect and operation Main business

 
Les Pondeuses Réunies Ltée Rs 27,000,000 Ordinary  100% 0% 100% 0% Mauritius

Sale and distribution of 
animal feed and chicks

 
LFL Investment Ltd Rs 158,001,000 Ordinary  100% 0% 100% 0% Mauritius Investment holding 

 
LFL Madagascar SA

MGA 
2,744,540,000

Ordinary  100% 0% 100% 0% Madagascar Production of animal feed 

 
LFL (Seychelles) Ltd SCR 8,115,000 Ordinary  100% 0% 100% 0% Seychelles

Sale and distribution of 
animal feed and chicks

 
LFL International Rwanda Ltd Rs 50,000,000 Ordinary  100% 0% 100% 0% Mauritius Investment holding 

 
LFL Rwanda Ltd RWF 1,250,000,000 Ordinary  0% 100% 0% 100% Rwanda Production of animal feed

8. Investment in Associates
 

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

(a) Investments in associates 616,626 554,884 58,798 58,798 

 
Reconciliation to carrying amounts:

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

THE GROUP  
At 1 July 554,884 459,185 
Share of profit after tax and non-controlling interests 18,200 52,897 
Dividends (9,439)        (11,623)
Exchange difference -          (1,107)
Share of other comprehensive income 52,981 55,635 
Transfer to subsidiary - (103)
At 30 June 616,626 554,884 

 
THE COMPANY (COST)
 
At 1 July 58,798 73,162
Disposal (see note below) - (14,364)
At 30 June 58,798 58,798 

 
Note:

  The above disposal relates to investment held in Entreprise Céréalière de Madagascar SA which was disposed of during 
the year 30 June 2021 to LFL Madagascar SA. 
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8. Investment in Associates (cont’d)

(b) THE GROUP (cont’d)                

(i) The summarised financial information of the Group’s associates were as follows: 

 
     

Cash & cash 
equivalents

Other  
current  
assets

    Financial  
liabilities 

(excluding  
trade  

payables)

Other  
current 
liabilities

Total  
current  
liabilities

Total  
non-current 

liabilities Net assets  Year end

Total  
current  
assets

Total  
assets

      Rs000 Rs000 Rs000 Rs000 Rs000 Rs000 Rs000 Rs000 Rs000

  2022                      

 
Les Moulins de la 
Concorde Ltée 30 June

                 
71,844 

     
1,264,197 

      
1,336,041 

            
3,111,558 

                
40,453       613,979 

                
654,432       344,611 

         
2,112,515 

                         

  2021                      

 
Les Moulins de la 
Concorde Ltée 30 June 129,076 834,920 963,996 2,597,690 39,354       311,498 350,852       347,571 

         
1,899,267 

Revenues
Interest 
income

Depreciation 
and 

amortisation
Interest 
expense

Income  
tax 

expense
Profit/(loss)
for the year

Other 
comprehensive 

income for  
the year

Total 
comprehensive 

income for  
the year

Dividends 
received 
during  

the year
Proportion of  

ownership interest
Main 

business

Country of 
incorporation 
& operation

Rs000 Rs000 Rs000 Rs000 Rs000 Rs000 Rs000 Rs000 Rs000 Direct Indirect

2022                        

Les Moulins de la 
Concorde Ltée

      
2,634,430 14 

           
(85,395)

               
(15,442)

           
(5,062)

            
65,881 181,867 247,748  2,153 29.13% -   

Milling  
of wheat  Mauritius 

           

2021                

Milling  
of wheat

Les Moulins de la 
Concorde Ltée 2,112,941 41

           
(73,164)

               
(15,140)

         
(25,869)

          
177,302 

               
185,605 362,907 2,327 29.13% -   Mauritius

                       

(ii) Reconciliation of summarised financial information to the carrying amount recognised in the financial statements in 
respect of the associates is set out below:

 
Net assets  
as at 1 July

Profit for  
the year Dividends

Ownership 
interest

Interest in 
associates Goodwill

 Carrying 
value

  GROUP  Rs000 Rs000 Rs000 Rs000 Rs000 % Rs000 Rs000 Rs000

  2022

 
Les Moulins de la 
Concorde Ltée 1,899,267      65,881 (34,500) 181,867 2,112,515 29.13% 615,376  n/a 615,376

   
  2021

 
Les Moulins de la 
Concorde Ltée 1,576,260    177,302 (39,900) 185,605 1,899,267 29.13% 553,256  n/a 553,256 

   

(i) The above associate is accounted for using the equity method. 

(ii) As at 30 June 2022, the fair value of the Group’s interest in Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée which is DEM quoted was Rs 499M 
(2021: Rs 508M) based on the quoted market price available, which is a level 1 input in terms of IFRS 13.

9. Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income  
           
(i) Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 

   
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  At 1 July 144,458 119,583 1 1 
  Change in fair value recognised in OCI 72,759 24,875 -   -   
  At 30 June 217,217 144,458 1 1 

           
(ii) Fair value through other comprehensive income financial assets include the following: 

   
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Quoted:
  Equity securities - Mauritius 26,183 23,047 -   -   
  Unquoted:      
  Equity securities - Mauritius 191,033 121,410 -   -   
  Equity securities - Madagascar 1 1 1 1 
    217,217 144,458 1 1 

           
(iii) Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income include the Group’s strategic equity 

investments not held for trading. The Group has made an irrevocable election to classify the equity investments at fair 
value through other comprehensive income rather than through profit or loss. 

           

(iv) Fair value through other comprehensive income financial assets include the following: 

   
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Quoted - Level 1 :
  Mauritius Freeport Development Co Ltd 21,735          18,975 -   -   

  Constance Hotels Ltd 1,944 1,203 -   -   

 
C-Care (Mauritius) Ltd (Formally known as 
Medical & Surgical Centre Limited) 2,504 2,869 

-   -   

  Unquoted - Level 3 :        
  Indigo Hotels & Resorts Ltd 80,857 74,991 -   -   
  Premier Logistics Co Ltd 107,757 44,000 -   -   
  Moka Sports Club (S & W Synergy Ltd) 1,000 1,000 -   -   
  Ecocentre Ltée 1,003 1,003 -   -   
  Progos 50 50 -   -   
  Les Lycées Associées 350 350 -   -   
  Ferme Laitière de L’Avenir 15 15 -   -   
  Mer Rouge Trading Ltd 1 1 -   -   
  Avitech SARL 1 1 1 1 
    217,217 144,458 1 1 
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9. Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (cont’d)

(v) Fair value through other comprehensive income financial assets are denominated in Mauritian Rupees (Rs). 
           
(vi)             Level 1

The fair value of quoted securities is based on published market prices. 

Level 3

In assessing the fair value of equity investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, the 
Group uses a variety of methods, such as expected cash flows discounted using a rate based on the market interest 
rate and the risk premium specific to the unlisted securities; PE/NAV/EBIDA multiples, and makes assumptions that are 
based on market conditions existing at each reporting date.

The significant unobservable inputs used in measuring the fair value of Level 3 securities are as follows:

Description
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

Valuation 
technique Unobservable inputs

Indigo Hotels & Resorts Ltd 80,857 74,991 
NAV multiple

Price/NAV multiple of 0.35 - 0.53
Illiquidity discount of 20% - 25%

Discounted Growth rate

cash flow Discount rate of 10% - 13%

Premier Logistics Co Ltd 107,757 44,000 Dividend 
yield

Dividend yield ratio 2% - 3%
Illiquidity discount 20% - 25%

Earnings 
multiple

Illiquidity discount 20% - 25%
Price/Earnings multiple 7 - 9

Other remaining investments are not materially sensitive to changes in unobservable inputs and have therefore not been 
presented in table above.

A reconciliation of equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (Level 3) is as follows:

   
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  At 1 July 121,411 97,890 1 1 
  Change in fair value recognised in OCI 69,623 23,521 -   -   
  At 30 June 191,034 121,411 1 1 

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s equity in response to reasonably possible changes in net 
asset value of investment.

Impact on equity

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

5% increase in net asset value (2021: 5%) 9,552 6,071 

10. Biological Assets
THE GROUP

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

(a) At 1 July -   -   
Purchase cost of growing and fair value gains 5,755 -   
Disposals and decrease due to depletion (2,235) -   
At 30 June 3,520 -   

Analysed as follows:
Non-current -   -   
Current 3,520 -   

3,520 -   

(b) The carrying amounts of biological assets are as follows:
Bearer biological assets -   -   
Consumable biological assets 3,520 -   

3,520 -   

(c) The fair value measurements for biological assets have been categorised as Level 3 fair value based on inputs to the 
valuation techniques used. There have been no transfers of assets to a different level.

The valuation technique used for consumable biological assets is based on the expected selling price less cost of 
sale for chickens of similar ages and weights, adjusted for mortality and hatchability rate, which represent significant 
unobservable inputs. The assumption for mortality and hatchability rates ranges from 0-5% and 55-84% respectively 
while a 5% change in each assumption would change the fair value by Rs for the Group. 

           
(d) The Group is exposed to the risk of diseases which may cause mortality rate of live birds to increase. However, the 

Group has in place processes aimed at monitoring and mitigating this risk, including strict controls over health and 
safety. 

           

11. Inventories
 

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

Raw materials 934,219 758,362 564,847 379,153 
Work in progress 3,542 16 3,542 16 
Finished goods 69,021 59,314 39,393 18,694 

  Packing materials and sundry consumables 53,847 26,246 30,285 26,246 
  Goods-in-transit 38,872 -   -   -   
  Stock provision (11,135) (5,153) (8,687) (5,153)
    1,088,366 838,785 629,380 418,956 

 
Cost of inventories recognised  
as expense in cost of sales 3,562,133    2,579,543 2,496,362 1,800,689 

           

  The bank borrowings are secured by floating charges on the assets of the Group, including inventory (Note 18).
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12. Trade Receivables
 

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Trade receivables 498,575 330,303 390,886 336,576 
  Less: provision for impairment (55,729) (26,665) (3,669) (4,410)
  Trade receivables – net 442,846 303,638 387,217 332,166
  Prepayments -   477 -   477 
    442,846 304,115 387,217 332,643 
         
(i) Impairment of trade receivables  

     

 

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected 
loss allowance for all trade receivables.

In determining the expected credit loss, receivables covered by  a letter of credit, bank guarantee or credit protection 
cover are excluded from the calculation.

The closing loss allowances for trade receivables as at 30 June 2022 reconcile to the opening loss allowances as 
follows:

           

 
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  At 1 July 26,665 13,078 4,410 5,454
Increase/(decrease) in loss allowance 43,521 14,593 (661) 776 
Recoveries (14,960) (1,820) (80) (1,820)
Exchange differences 503 814 -   -   
At 30 June 55,729 26,665 3,669 4,410 

       

(ii) The carrying amounts of the trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

 
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

Malagasy Ariary 88,697 73,760 -   -   
Mauritian Rupee 186,284 183,969 276,345 196,003 
US Dollar 113,317 15,868 110,833 135,010 
Euro 39 8,725 39 1,630 
Seychelles Rupee 41,332 21,793 -   -   
Rwandan Franc 13,177 -   -   -   
  442,846 304,115 387,217 332,643 
         
The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

12A Prepayments & other Receivables 

 
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 

2022 
Rs000 

Current

2021 
Rs000 

Non-current

2022 
Rs000 

Current

2021 
Rs000 

Non-current

Advance to suppliers 73,293 -   167,328 2,710 
Dividends receivable 23 -   11,012 -   
Prepayment 8,328 -   31,329 -   
Other receivables 60,970 2,559 -   -   
  142,614 2,559 209,669 2,710 
     

 
THE COMPANY

 
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

Advance to suppliers 19,820 55,236 
Dividends receivable 35,160 11,012 
Other receivables 111,272 50,252 
  166,252 116,500 

           
  The carrying amounts of the prepayments and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

   
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Malagasy Ariary 74,215 73,865 27,136 -   
  Mauritian Rupee 18,399 68,329 90,910 60,437 
  US Dollar 43,957 32,215 43,273 32,215 
  Other currencies 8,602 37,970 4,933 23,848 
    145,173 212,379 166,252 116,500 

         

13. Derivative Financial Instruments
Fair value of assets

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  THE GROUP & THE COMPANY    
  Options     5,001 11,256 
        5,001 11,256 
           
           
  Options        

  The Group and the Company use maize and soya bean call options to hedge itself against future increases in the price 
of maize and soya beans. The options qualify as a cash flow hedge and the gains/losses on the hedging instrument are 
recognised in equity. The gains/losses are then removed from the cash flow hedge reserve and included directly in the 
initial cost of inventory. 
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13. Derivative Financial Instruments (cont’d)

  The effects of the options hedging relationships are as follows at 30 June:

     
THE GROUP & THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Carrying amount of derivatives     5,001 11,256 
  Change in fair value of designated hedging instruments  (1,947) 4,949 
  Change in fair value of designated hedged item  (1,947) 4,949 
  Notional amount     5,001 11,256

 
Maturity date  

 
September 22 - 
November 22

September 21 - 
November 21

  Hedge ratio     1:1 1:1
           

 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the fair value of the derivative assets in the 
statements of financial position.

The carrying amounts of the derivative financial assets are denominated in US Dollar.
           
  Hedging        

  The Company has elected to adopt the hedge accounting requirements of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The Group 
enters into hedge relationships where the critical terms of the hedging instrument and the hedge item match. Therefore, 
for the prospective assessment of effectiveness, a qualitative assessment is performed. 

           

14. Income Tax Expense
 

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

(a) Statement of financial position
At 1 July (3,053) 7,233 (4,978) 7,316

Current tax on the adjusted profit for the year 
at 3%/15%/20% (2021:3%/15%/20%) 30,749 8,865 12,693 (1,235)

Tax paid (20,479) (19,053) (718) (11,059)
Tax refund 1,591 -   1,591 -   
Investment tax credit (16,299) -   (16,299) -   
Corporate social responsibility paid (630) (1,136) (630) (1,235)

Provision for corporate social responsibility  
for the year 2,400 1,136 2,299 1,235 

Exchange differences (1,133) (98) - -   
(6,854) (3,053) (6,042) (4,978)

Disclosed as follows:
Current tax asset (31,098) (4,978) (6,042) (4,978)
Current tax liability 24,244 1,925 - - 
Net (6,854) (3,053) (6,042) (4,978)

Statement of profit or loss 
Current tax on the adjusted profit for the year 
at 3%/15%/20% (2021: 3%/15%/20%) 30,749 8,865 12,693 (1,235)

Investment tax credit (16,299) -   (16,299) -   

Movement in deferred taxation account 
(Note 20) (11,285) 1,346 (6,968) 1,736 

Provision for CSR 2,400 1,136 2,299 1,235 
5,565 11,347 (8,275) 1,736 

(b) The tax on the Group’s and the Company’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using 
the basic tax rate as follows:

 
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

Profit before income tax 211,681 86,642 140,666 81,993 

Tax calculated on accounting profit  
at 3%/15%/20% (2021: 3%/15%/20%) 28,599 16,261 9,661 12,299 

Income not subject to tax (15,683) (14,448) (14,747) (12,550)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 10,865 18,090 10,811 8,477 
Timing difference not recognised previously - (483) -   - 
Accelerated capital allowances (4,304) - -   - 
Utilised tax losses - (1,667) - - 
Investment income tax credit (16,299) (7,725) (16,299) (7,725)
Provision for CSR 2,387 1,319 2,299 1,235 
Tax charge 5,565 11,347 (8,275) 1,736 

           

15. Share Capital    

       
THE GROUP & THE COMPANY

       

Number of 
Ordinary 

shares 
(thousands)

Ordinary 
shares 
Rs000

  Issued and fully paid        
           
  At 30 June 2022     94,500 945,000 
           
  At 30 June 2021     94,500 945,000 
           

 
The total issued number of ordinary share is 94,500,000 shares (2021: 94,500,000 shares) with a par value of  
Rs 10 per share (2021: Rs 10 per share).

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and a right to dividends. 
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16. Revaluation & Other Reserves      

    Notes
Revaluation 

reserve 

Financial 
assets at 
FVOCI 
reserve

 Translation 
of foreign 
operations 

Actuarial 
losses 

 Reserve 
associates 

 Hedging 
reserve  Total 

Rs000 Rs000 Rs000 Rs000 Rs000 Rs000 Rs000

  THE GROUP  
(a) 2022                
  At 1 July 2021   200,446 (8,109) 6,097 (27,727) 217,703 20,964 409,374 

 
Items that will not be reclassified 
to profit or loss                

 
Gain on revaluation of property, 
plant and equipment 5(a) 70,542 

                    
- 

                    
- 

                 
- 

                    
- -   

         
70,542 

  Deferred tax on revaluation 20 (13,368) - - - - -   (13,368)

 
Remeasurement of post-
employment benefit obligations 19 - 

                    
- 

                    
- 

       
(3,840)

                    
- -   

         
(3,840)

 

Deferred tax on remeasurement 
of post-employment benefit 
obligations 20 - 

                    
- 

                    
- 4,583 

                    
- -   

           
4,583 

 

Change in fair value of equity 
instruments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 9(i) - 

         
72,759 

                    
- - 

                    
- -   

         
72,759 

 
Items that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss              

 
Share of other comprehensive 
income of associates 8(a) - 

                    
- 

                    
- - 

         
52,981 -   

         
52,981 

  Currency translation differences   - - (4,468) - - -   (4,468)
  Cash flow hedges   - - - - - (26,066) (26,066)
  At 30 June 2022   257,620 64,650 1,629 (26,984) 270,684 (5,102) 562,497 
               
  THE GROUP
(b) 2021                
   At 1 July 2020   135,645 (32,984) (12,615) (32,001) 162,068 (5,810) 214,303 

 
Items that will not be reclassified 
to profit or loss                                    

 
Gain on revaluation of property, 
plant and equipment 5(b) 173,595 

                    
- 

                    
- - 

                    
- -   

       
173,595 

  Deferred tax on revaluation 20 (35,736) - - - - -   (35,736)

 
Remeasurement of post-
employment benefit obligations 19

                 
- 

                    
- 

                    
- 5,218 

                    
- 

                  
-   

           
5,218 

 

Deferred tax on remeasurement 
of post-employment benefit 
obligations 20

                 
- 

                    
- 

                    
- 

          
(944)

                    
- 

                  
-   

            
(944)

 

Change in fair value of equity 
instruments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 9(i)

                 
- 

         
24,875 

                    
- - 

                    
- 

                  
-   

         
24,875 

 
Items that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss                

 
Share of other comprehensive 
income of associates 8(a)

                 
- 

                    
- 

                    
- - 

         
55,635 

                  
-   

         
55,635 

  Currency translation differences   - - 18,712 - - -   18,712 
  Cash flow hedges   - - - - - 26,774 26,774 
  Bonus issue   (73,058) - - - - - (73,058)
  At 30 June 2021   200,446 (8,109) 6,097 (27,727) 217,703 20,964 409,374 

    Notes

Revaluation 
reserve 
Rs000

Financial assets 
at FVOCI 
reserve 
Rs000

Actuarial  
reserve 
Rs000

Hedging  
reserve 
Rs000

Total 
Rs000

  THE COMPANY  
(c) 2022            

At 1 July 2021 123,164 -   (27,728) 20,964 116,400

 
Items that will not be reclassified  
to profit or loss  

 
Gain on revaluation of property,  
plant and equipment 5(c) 62,531 -   -   -   62,531 

  Deferred tax on revaluation 20 (10,646) -   -   -   (10,646)

 
Remeasurement of post-employment 
benefit obligations 19 -   -   (3,840) -   (3,840)

 
Deferred tax on remeasurement of 
post-employment benefit obligations 20

                    
-                    -            (799) -              (799)

 
Items that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss  

  Cash flow hedges   -   -   -   (26,066) (26,066)
  At 30 June 2022   175,049 -   (32,367) (5,102) 137,580 
     
(d) 2021            
  At  1 July 2020   134,537 -   (32,002) (5,810) 96,725

 
Items that will not be reclassified  
to profit or loss            

 
Gain on revaluation of property,  
plant and equipment 5(d)

           
82,206 -   -   -   82,206 

  Deferred tax on revaluation 20 (20,521) -   -   -   (20,521)

 
Remeasurement of post-employment 
benefit obligations 19

                    
-   -   5,218 -   5,218 

 
Deferred tax on remeasurement of 
post-employment benefit obligations 20

                    
-   -   (944) -              (944)

  Bonus issue   (73,058) -   -   -   (73,058)

 
Items that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss            

  Cash flow hedges   -   -   -   26,774 26,774 
  At 30 June 2021   123,164 -   (27,728) 20,964 116,400 

               

Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of property, plant and equipment.

Financial assets at FVOCI reserve
Financial assets at FVOCI reserve comprises the cumulative net change in financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income that has been recognised in other comprehensive income until the investments are derecognised 
or impaired.

Actuarial losses
The actuarial losses represents the cumulative remeasurement of post employment benefit obligations recognised.

Translation of foreign operations
The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements 
of foreign operations.

Hedging reserve
This reserve comprises of gains/losses arising on the effective portion of hedging instruments carried at fair value in a 
qualifying cash flow hedge.
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16. Revaluation & Other Reserves (cont’d)

THE GROUP & THE COMPANY

 
  Fair value of assets

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
  Gains recognised on hedging instruments   24,432 48,994 
  Transferred to profit or loss for the year (included in cost of sales) (27,494) (23,460)
  Transferred to initial carrying amount of inventory (2,040) (4,570)
        (5,102) 20,964 

           

17. Preference Shares  

        THE GROUP & THE COMPANY

       

Number of 
Preference 

shares 
(thousands)

 
Preference 

shares 
Rs000

  At 30 June 2022     354 3,536 

  At 30 June 2021     354 3,536

 
Preference shares of par value Rs 10 issued by the Company were prior to 2020 accounted for as equity in its entirety. 
The terms of the preference shares included a mandatory fixed cumulative dividend of 10%, meeting the definition 
of a liability under the requirements of IAS 32. The present value of the mandatory cash flows has been computed 
after applying a discount representing the effective interest rate applicable at the time of issue. An amount of  
Rs 3,536,000 was therefore adjusted from equity to non-current liability. Dividend on the preference shares is accounted 
for as finance cost in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, as opposed to an equity 
distribution in the past. 

 

 

 

18. Borrowings
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Non-current    
  Bank loans (Note 18(b)) 54,385 78,855 -   4,872 
    54,385 78,855 -   4,872 
   
  Current
  Bank overdrafts 157,750 38,557 127,699 23 
  Bank loans 25,493 22,732 5,023 6,615 
  Money market lines 430,000 100,000 430,000 100,000 
  Import loan 495,052 604,674 200,689 314,829 
  Related party loan -   23,360 -   28,600 
    1,108,295 789,323 763,411 450,067 
  Total borrowings 1,162,680 868,178 763,411 454,939 

           
(a) The bank borrowings (loans, overdrafts, money market lines and import loans) are secured by floating charges on the 

assets of the Group and the Company, including inventories, property, plant and equipment. The related party loan is 
unsecured.

(c) The effective interest rates ranges in the relevant financial years were as follows:

   
2022 2021

   
Rs 
%

MGA 
%

SCR 
%

Rs 
%

MGA 
%

SCR 
%

THE GROUP
  Bank overdrafts 4.25 - 4.50 9.75 - 10.50 11.50 4.10 - 4.40 9.75 - 10.50 10.50 
  Bank loans 4.25 - 4.50 8.00 -   4.10 8.00 -   
  Money market lines 2.70 - 3.05 -   -   2.5 - 2.8 -   -   
  Import loan 2.63 - 3.31 9.25 - 10.50 -   2.67 - 3.49 9.25 - 10.50 -   
  Related party loan -   -   -   1.85 -   -   

             

           
2022 2021

           
Rs 
%

Rs 
%

  THE COMPANY      
  Bank overdrafts          4.25 - 4.50 4.10 - 4.40 
  Bank loans          4.25 - 4.50 4.10 
  Money market lines          2.70 - 3.05 2.5 - 2.8 
  Import loan         2.632 - 3.314 2.67 - 3.49 
  Related party loan         -   1.85 

(b) The maturity of non-current borrowings is as follows:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  After 1 year and before 2 years 33,410 24,525 -   4,872 
  After 2 years and before 5 years 20,975 54,330 -   -   
    54,385 78,855 -   4,872 

(d) The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s borrowings are denominated in the following currencies: 

 
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Mauritian Rupee 552,436 134,847 562,402 140,087
  Malagasy Ariary 396,510 418,055 -   -   
  US Dollar 200,863 314,829 200,820 314,829 
  Euro 189 23 189 23 
  Seychelles Rupee 3,042 424 -   -   
  Rwandan Franc 9,640 -  -   -   
    1,162,680 868,178 763,411 454,939

           

(e) The carrying amounts of current and non-current borrowings are not materially different from the fair values. 

NOTES TO THE  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)



 

L F L  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 2 2    119118  

L F L  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 2 2

19. Retirement Benefit Obligations
           

  The following amounts are shown on the statements of financial position: 

 
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Retirement benefit obligations 30,462 41,111 29,560 40,490 
    30,462 41,111 29,560 40,490 
           

 
Amounts recognised in the statement of 
financial position:        

  Defined pension benefits (Note 19(a)(ii)) 14,542 24,863 14,542 24,863 
  Other post retirement benefits (Note 19(b)(i)) 15,920 16,248 15,018 15,627 
    30,462 41,111 29,560 40,490 
           
  Amounts charged to profit or loss:        
  - Defined pension benefits (Note 19(a)(v)) 1,677 904 1,677 904 
  - Other post retirement benefits (Note 19(b)(i)) 1,452 1,397 1,171 1,235 
    3,129 2,301 2,848 2,139 
           

 
Amounts charged to other comprehensive 
income:        

  - Defined pension benefits (Note 19(a)(vi)) 3,416 (4,850) 3,416 (4,850)
  - Other post retirement benefits (Note 19(b)(i)) 424 (368) 424 (368)
    3,840 (5,218) 3,840 (5,218)
           
(a) Defined pension benefits        
           
(i) The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme. The plan is a final salary plan, which provides benefits to 

members in the form of a guaranteed level of pension payable for life. The level of benefits provided depends on 
members’ length of service and their salary in the final years leading up to retirement.

The assets of the plan are independently administered by Swan Life.

The most recent actuarial valuation of the plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligations were 
carried out at 30 June 2022 by Swan Life. The present value of the defined benefit obligations, and the related current 
service cost and past service cost, were measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

(ii) The amounts recognised in the statements of financial position are as follows:  

 
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Present value of funded obligations 28,568 27,640 28,568 27,640 
  Fair value of plan assets (Note 19(a)(iv)) (16,563) (3,945) (16,563) (3,945)
  Deficit of funded plans 12,005 23,695 12,005 23,695 
  Present value of unfunded obligations 2,537 1,168 2,537 1,168 
  Liability in the statement of financial position 14,542 24,863 14,542 24,863 

       

  The reconciliation of the opening balances to the closing balances for the net defined benefit liability is as follows: 

 
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  At 1 July 24,863 38,522 24,863 38,522 
  Charged to profit or loss 1,677 904 1,677 904 
  Charged to other comprehensive income 3,416 (4,850) 3,416 (4,850)
  Contributions paid (15,414) (9,713) (15,414) (9,713)
  At 30 June 14,542 24,863 14,542 24,863 
           
(iii) The movement in the defined benefit obligations over the year is as follows: 

 
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  At 1 July 28,808 45,071 28,808 45,071 
  Current service cost 874 701 874 701 
  Interest expense 1,098 158 1,098 158 
  Actuarial (gain)/loss 3,249 (4,841) 3,249 (4,841)
  Employees’ contribution 258 226 258 226 
  Benefits paid (3,182) (12,507) (3,182) (12,507)
  At 30 June 31,105 28,808 31,105 28,808 
           
(iv) The movement in the fair value of plan assets of the year is as follows: 

 
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  At 1 July (3,945) (6,549) (3,945) (6,549)
  Remeasurements:        

 
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts 
included in interest expense (373) (65) (373) (65)

  Actuarial gain 166 (9) 166 (9)
  Employer’s contribution (15,414) (9,713) (15,414) (9,713)
  Employees’ contribution (258) (226) (258) (226)
  Cost of insuring risk benefits 79 109 79 109 
  Benefits paid 3,182 12,508 3,182 12,508 
  At 30 June (16,563) (3,945) (16,563) (3,945)

         
(v) The amounts recognised in profit or loss are as follows:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Current service cost 874 701 874 701 
  Cost of insuring risk benefits 79 109 79 109 
  Interest expense 724 94 724 94 
  Total included in employee benefit expense 1,677 904 1,677 904 
         
  Actual return on plan assets 207 74 207 74 
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19. Retirement Benefit Obligations (cont’d)

(a) Defined pension benefits (cont’d)

(vi) The amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are as follows: 

 
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

 
Remeasurement on the net defined benefit 
liability:        

  (Loss)/Gains on pension scheme assets 166 (9) 166 (9)

  Experience losses/(gains) on the liabilities 4,085 (4,904) 4,085 (4,904)

 
Change in assumption underlying the  
present value of the scheme (835) 63 (835) 63 

 
Actuarial loss recognised in other 
comprehensive income 3,416 (4,850) 3,416 (4,850)

           

(vii) The fair value of the plan assets at the end of the reporting period for each category, are as follows: 

 
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Local equities 2,869 552 2,869 552 
  Overseas equities 4,933 1,420 4,933 1,420 
  Fixed interest 8,481 1,815 8,481 1,815 
  Properties 280 158 280 158 
  Total market value of assets 16,563 3,945 16,563 3,945 
           

  The fair values of the above equity and debt instruments are determined based on quoted market prices in active 
markets whereas the fair values of properties and derivatives are not based on quoted market prices in active markets. 
The Company’s ordinary shares are not included in the pension plan assets. 

           
(viii) The principal actuarial assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuation were:

 
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Discount rate 3.6%/5.3% 3.7%/5.0% 3.6%/5.3% 3.7%/5.0%
  Future salary growth rate 2.0%/2.0% 2.0%/2.0% 2.0%/2.0% 2.0%/2.0%
  Expected return on plan assets 3.60% 3.7% 3.60% 3.70%

     

(ix) Sensitivity analysis on defined benefit obligations at end of the reporting period: 

 
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
Increase 

Rs000
Decrease 

Rs000
Increase 

Rs000
Decrease 

Rs000

  2022
  Discount rate (1% movement) 2,706 2,639 2,706 2,639 
  Future salary growth rate (1% movement) 3,109 2,612 3,109 2,612 
   
  2021
  Discount rate (1% movement) 1,353 4,279 1,353 4,279 
  Future salary growth rate (1% movement) 1,499 3,404 1,499 3,404 
           

 
The sensitivity above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on net defined benefit 
obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period. 

The sensitivity analysis may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely 
that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated. 

           
(x) The defined benefit pension plan exposes the Group to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, interest rate risk, market 

(investment) risk, and salary risk, as described below:
 

 

(xi) The funding requirements are based on the pension fund’s actuarial measurement framework set out in the funding 
policies of the plan.

 

(xii) The Group is expected to contribute Rs 5,800,000 to the pension scheme for the year ending 30 June 2023.

(xiii) The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation under the funded and unfunded plans are 6 and 17 
years respectively at the end of the reporting period (2021: 3 and 17 years respectively).

           

-  Interest rate risk: If the bond interest rate decreases, the liabilities would be calculated using a lower discount rate, and 
would therefore increase.

-  Investment risk: The present value of the liabilities of the plan are calculated using a discount rate. Should the returns 
on the assets of the plan be lower than the discount rate, a deficit will arise.

- Salary risk: If salary increases are higher than assumed in our basis, the liabilities would increase giving rise to actuarial losses

-  Longevity risk: Pensions are bought out with an insurance company at retirement. Once bought out, the risk is 
therefore shifted to the insurance company. However, there is the risk that the cost of annuities increases before 
buying out.
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19. Retirement Benefit Obligations (cont’d)

(b) Other post-retirement benefits        
           

 
Other post-retirement benefits comprise mainly gratuity on retirement payable under the Workers Rights Act 2019 and 
other benefits.

           
  Movement in gratuity on retirement:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

At 1 July 16,248 15,486 15,627 15,027 
Total expense charged to profit or loss 1,288 1,397 1,171 1,235 
Charged to other comprehensive income 424 (368) 424 (368)
Contributions and direct benefits paid (2,204) (267) (2,204) (267)
Exchange difference 164 -   -   -   
At 30 June 15,920 16,248 15,018 15,627 

(i) The principal actuarial assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuation were:

 
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Discount rate 4.36% 3.7% 4.36% 2.9%
  Future salary growth rate 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

   
(ii) Sensitivity analysis on other post retirement benefits at end of the reporting period:

 
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
Increase 

Rs000
Decrease 

Rs000
Increase 

Rs000
Decrease 

Rs000

  2022
  Discount rate (1% movement) 17,126 13,163 17,126 13,163 
  Future salary growth rate (1% movement) 16,803 13,476 16,803 13,476 
           
  2021
  Discount rate (1% movement) 17,896           13,620 17,896 13,620 
  Future salary growth rate (1% movement) 17,576           13,922            17,576 13,922 

20. Deferred Taxes

Deferred taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method at 17% (2021: 17%). 

(a) There is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets and 
liabilities when the deferred taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The following amounts are shown in the statements 
of financial position:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

Deferred tax assets (4,460) (952) - - 
Deferred tax liabilities 94,677 93,880 83,141 78,664 

90,217 92,928 83,141 78,664 

The movement on the deferred taxes account is as follows:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

At 1 July 92,928 55,011 78,664 55,463 

(Credited)/charged to profit or loss  
(Note 14(a)/20(c)) (11,285) 1,346 (6,968) 1,736 

Credited to equity (Note 20(cc)) 8,922 36,095 11,445 21,465 
Exchange differences (348) 476 -   -   
At 30 June 90,217 92,928 83,141 78,664 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities and deferred tax charge/(credit) in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income are attributable to the following items:

 

(b) THE GROUP

At 
1 July 
Rs000

(Credited)/
charged to 

profit or loss 
Rs000

(Credited)/
charged to 

equity 
Rs000

Exchange 
differences 

Rs000
At 30 June 

Rs000

2022
Deferred tax assets
Retirement benefit obligations (6,728) -   (4,583) (174) (11,485)
Others (1,061) (3,227) 137 (174) (4,325)

(7,789) (3,227) (4,446) (348) (15,810)

Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment 100,717 (8,058) 13,368 -   106,027 

100,717 (8,058) 13,368 -   106,027 

Net deferred tax liabilities 92,928 (11,285) 8,922 (348) 90,217 
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(c) THE COMPANY

At 
1 July 
Rs000

(Credited)/
charged to 

profit or loss 
Rs000

(Credited)/
charged to 

equity 
Rs000

At 30 June 
Rs000

2022
Deferred tax assets
Retirement benefit obligations (6,914) -   799 (6,115)
Others (52) -   -   (52)

(6,966) -   799 (6,167)
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment 85,720 (6,968) 10,646 89,398 
Others (90) -   -   (90)

85,630 (6,968) 10,646 89,308 

Net deferred tax liabilities 78,664 (6,968) 11,445 83,141 

2021
Deferred tax assets
Retirement benefit obligations (9,103) 1,245 944 (6,914)
Others -   (52) -   (52)

(9,103) 1,193 944 (6,966)
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment 64,566 633 20,521 85,720 
Others -   (90) -   (90)

64,566 543 20,521 85,630 

Net deferred tax liabilities 55,463 1,736 21,465 78,664 

20. Deferred Taxes (cont’d)

(b) THE GROUP (cont’d)

At 
1 July 
Rs000

(Credited)/
charged to 

profit or loss 
Rs000

(Credited)/
charged to 

equity 
Rs000

Exchange 
differences 

Rs000
At 30 June 

Rs000

2021  
Deferred tax assets  
Retirement benefit obligations (9,239) 1,264 944 303 (6,728)
Others (343) (629) -   (89) (1,061)

(9,582) 635 944 214 (7,789)

Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment 64,593 711 35,736 (323) 100,717 

64,593 711 35,151 262 100,717 

Net deferred tax liabilities 55,011 1,346 36,680 (109) 92,928 

21. Trade & Other Payables
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Trade payables 191,996 136,707 72,398 75,611 
  Dividend payable 2,506 39,434 2,506 39,434 
  Accrued expenses 92,133 65,980 81,883 65,980 
  Other payables 46,525 27,280 26,191 22,309 
    333,160 269,401 182,978 203,334 
           
  The carrying amount of trade and other payables approximate their fair value.    
           
  The carrying amount of trade and other payables are denominated in the following currencies: 

 
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Malagasy Ariary 116,092 75,423 -   -   
  Mauritian Rupee 35,480 174,840 139,758 ,733 
  US Dollar 152,624 9,895 20,653 11,826 
  Euro 4,358 2,465 1,515 2,465 
  Other currencies 24,606 6,778 21,052 3,310 
    333,160 269,401 182,978 203,334 

           

22. Revenue
           
  The following is an analysis of the Group’s and the Company’s revenue for the year: 

  THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Revenue from the sale of goods 4,185,112 3,137,997 2,694,549 2,084,069 
  Revenue from rendering of services 337,084 108,585 337,084 93,924 
  Revenue from contracts with customers 4,522,196 3,246,582 3,031,633 2,177,993 
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23. Expenses by Nature
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

(a) Cost of sales 3,886,900 2,815,833 2,683,486 1,921,032 
  Administrative expenses 328,874 329,743 208,816 195,226 
    4,215,774 3,145,576 2,892,302 2,116,258 
           
  Depreciation (Note 5(a)/5 (c)) 86,683 71,871 47,308 42,190 
  Amortisation (Note 6(a)/6 (c)) 10,159 10,242 9,519 9,643 
  Depreciation on right-of-use assets (Note 5A) 6,291 6,128 531 529 
  Employee benefit expense (Note 24) 216,109 196,235 134,453 126,464 

 
Cost of inventories recognised as expense 
(Note 11) 3,562,133 2,579,543 2,496,362 1,800,689 

  Utilities and other consumables 92,411 55,767 50,064 27,982 
  Transportation 11,406 30,935 6,463 4,117 
  Repairs and maintenance 30,223 23,593 28,063 19,947 
  Unloading cost 27,973 24,641 27,145 24,641 

Professional fees 40,840 40,479 18,774 17,186 
  Management fees 22,654 14,875 22,654 14,875 
  Advertising and marketing expenses 8,464 5,903 5,723 2,291 
  General administrative expenses 50,455 36,419 12,972 9,873 
  Impairment of goodwill on acquistion -   311 -   -   
  Other expenses 49,973 48,634 32,271 15,831 

 
Total cost of sales and administrative 
expenses (Note 23(a)) 4,215,774 3,145,576 2,892,302 2,116,258 

 
Primary geographic markets

   
Mauritius 

Rs000

International 
markets 

Rs000
Total 
Rs000

  THE COMPANY  
  2022        
  Revenue from contracts with external customers  2,162,729 868,904 3,031,633 
         
  2021        
  Revenue from contracts with external customers  1,702,013 475,980 2,177,993 
           

 
The Group has single performance obligations to deliver goods or services and revenue is recognised when the 
performance obligation is satisfied.

           
  Timing of revenue recognition:        
           
  THE GROUP        
  2022        
  At a point in time   1,454,428 3,067,768 4,522,196 
           
  2021        
  At a point in time   1,737,369 1,509,213 3,246,582 
           
  THE COMPANY        
  2022        
  At a point in time   2,162,729 868,904 3,031,633 
           
  2021        
  At a point in time   1,702,013 475,980 2,177,993 

22. Revenue (cont’d)

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers is as follows:    
         

 
Primary geographic markets

   
Mauritius 

Rs000

International 
markets 

Rs000
Total 
Rs000

  THE GROUP
2022

  Revenue from contracts with external customers 1,454,428 3,067,768       4,522,196 
 
  2021      
  Revenue from contracts with external customers      1,737,369        1,509,213       3,246,582 

24. Employee Benefit Expense
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

 
Wages and salaries, including termination 
benefits 194,969 

                  
180,192 

                  
118,143          114,612 

  Social security costs 12,700 9,926 7,987 5,735 
  Pension cost – defined pension benefits 455 4,851 455 4,851 
  Pension cost – other post retirement benefits 3,114 630 2,997 630 
  Pension cost – defined contribution plan 4,871 636 4,871 636 
    216,109 196,235 134,453 126,464 
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27. Net Finance Costs
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Net foreign exchange losses (24,280) (11,398) (24,037) (10,156)
    (24,280) (11,398) (24,037) (10,156)
  Interest expense:  
  - Bank overdrafts (4,790) (2,774) (4,777) (2,447)
  - Bank loans and MML (13,732) (9,599) (6,884) (1,676)
  - Dividends on preference shares (424) (424) (424) (424)
  - Import loan (43,444) (37,200) (8,820) (6,460)
  - Lease liabilities (749) (3,728) (749) (829)
  - Other interests (701) (1,123) - - 
    (63,840) (54,848)        (21,654) (11,836)
           
    (88,120) (66,246) (45,691) (21,992)

           

28. Profit Before Income Tax
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Profit before income tax is arrived at after:        

  Crediting:        

 
Dividends from equity investments held at 
FVOCI

 
- Related to investments held at the end of  
   the reporting period 58 3,369 9,438 

             
11,012 

  Dividends from subsidiaries                   -   -   35,137                      -   

 
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment                     8 

                 
222 -   

                  
222 

  and (charging):        
  Loss on scrappings of intangible assets 2,949 -             2,342 -   
  Depreciation on:        
  - owned assets (Note 5(a)/5 (c)) 86,683 71,871          47,308 42,190 
  - right-of-use assets (Note 5A)             6,291 6,128               531 529 
  Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 6(a)/6 (c))           10,159 10,242            9,519 9,643 
  Employee benefit expense (Note 24)        216,109 196,235        134,453 126,464 

           

29. Earnings per Share
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

 
Profit attributable to equityholders  
of the Company        206,116 

            
75,295        148,941 

             
80,257 

           206,116 75,295        148,941 80,257 
       
  Number of ordinary shares in issue 94,500 94,500 94,500 94,500 
     

 
Number of ordinary shares adjusted  
for bonus issue 94,500 94,500 94,500 94,500 

     
  Earnings per share (Rs)               2.18 0.80              1.58 0.85 

25. Other Income
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Interest income 471 160 96 -   
  Dividend income:        
  - DEM quoted 58 3,369 9,438            11,012 
  - Unquoted 5,282 - - -
  - Subsidiaries -   -   35,137 -   

 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 8 222 -   222 

 
Loss on scrappings of property, plant and 
equipment            (2,949) -   (2,342)                     -   

  Gain on disposal of associates -   -   -   636 
  Others 15,830 9,827 3,035 3,803 
    18,700 13,578 45,364 15,673 

           

26. Reversal of Impairment of Subsidiary  
THE COMPANY

       
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Reversal of impairment (Note 7)     (1,001) (27,353)
           

 
As at 30 June 2020, the directors have compared the recoverable value of investment held in subsidiary with 
the carrying value of the investment. The carrying value of the investment exceeded the recoverable value by  
Rs 28,354,000 and an impairment was recorded in the financial statements. The impairment was subsequently reversed 
during the year under review. The recoverable amount of the investment in subsidiary has been based on the fair values 
of the underlying investments. The key assumptions and sensitivities of the financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income has been detailed in Note 9. 
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30. Dividends per Share  

THE GROUP & THE COMPANY

       
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Amounts recognised as distributions to equityholders in the year:

 
Final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2022 of Rs 0.37 per share  
(2021: Rs 0.4 per share) 34,965 37,800 

           

31. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
 

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

(a) Cash generated from operations        
  Profit before income tax        211,681 86,642        140,666 81,993 
  Adjustments for:    

 
Depreciation on property, plant and 
equipment (Note 5(a)/5(c))           86,683 

            
71,871          47,308 

             
42,190 

  Amortisation of right-of-use assets (Note 5A)             6,291 6,128               531 529 

 
Reversal of impairment of investment in 
subsidiary (Note 26)                   -                       -            (1,001)

           
(27,353)

 
Loss/(gain) on disposal of investment in 
associate                   -   

                 
103                   -   

                
(636)

 
(Gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and 
equipment (Note 25)                   (8)                (222)                   -   

                
(222)

 
Loss on scrappings/impairment of property, 
plant and equipment (Note 25)             2,949 

                 
176            2,342 

                  
180 

 
Amortisation of intangible assets  
(Note 6(a)/6 (c))           10,159 

            
10,242            9,519 

               
9,643 

  Retirement benefit obligations (Note 19) 2,965 (7,680)            2,848 (7,841)
  Dividend income (Note 25) (5,340) -   (9,438) -   
  Interest expense (Note 27) 63,840 54,848          21,654 11,847 
  Interest income (Note 25) (471) -   (96) -   
  Share of results of associates (8,761) (52,897)                   -   -   
  Foreign exchange differences           21,175                     -            28,492                      -   
  Increase/(decrease) in loss allowance (Note 12)           43,521                     -               (661)                      -   

 
Fair value gain/(loss) on derivative financial 
instruments         (24,073)             (2,433)        (24,073)

             
(7,234)

  Impairment of goodwill on acquisition (Note 6)                   -   311                   -   -   
  Changes in working capital  
  - inventories (249,581) (118,463) (210,424) (127,004)
  - trade and other receivables      (183,675) 36,009 (55,336) 29,931 
  - other financial assets at amortised cost 67,206 (67,961) (49,752) (66,190)
  - trade and other payables           91,412 91,994          17,631 (29,335)
  Cash generated from operations        135,973 108,668 (79,790) (89,502)

(b) Cash and cash equivalents
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Cash in hand and at bank        180,844          187,618        138,518 132,236
  Bank overdrafts (Note 18)      (157,750) (38,557)      (127,699) (23)
    23,094 149,061          10,819 132,213 
           

  While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment 
loss was immaterial. 

           
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 

   
THE GROUP

   

At 1 July 
2021 
Rs000

Cash flows 
Rs000

Non-cash 
transactions 

Rs000

At 30 June 
2022 
Rs000

  Bank loans 178,855 331,023 -   509,878 
  Lease liabilities 20,550 (2,711) -   17,839 
  Related party loans 23,360 (23,360) -   -   
  Import loans 604,674 (109,622) -   495,052 
  Total liabilities from financing activities 827,439 195,330 -   1,022,769 
           

   
THE GROUP

   

At 1 July 
2020 
Rs000

Cash flows 
Rs000

Non-cash 
transactions 

Rs000

At 30 June 
2021 
Rs000

  Bank loans 126,713 52,142 -   178,855 
  Lease liabilities 30,443 (9,893) -   20,550 
  Related party loans -   23,360 -   23,360 
  Import loans 201,402 403,272 -   604,674 
  Total liabilities from financing activities 358,558 468,881 -   827,439 

           

   
THE COMPANY

   

At 1 July 
2021 
Rs000

Cash flows 
Rs000

Non-cash 
transactions 

Rs000

At 30 June 
2022 
Rs000

  Bank loans 111,484 323,539 -   435,023 
  Lease liabilities 12,912 (587) (245) 12,080 
  Related party loans 28,600 (28,600) -   -   
  Import loans 314,829 (114,140) -   200,689 
  Total liabilities from financing activities 467,825 180,212 (245) 647,792 
           

   
THE COMPANY

   

At 1 July 
2020 
Rs000

Cash flows 
Rs000

Non-cash 
transactions 

Rs000

At 30 June 
2021 
Rs000

  Bank loans 24,645 86,839                   -   111,484 
  Lease liabilities 14,698 (1,786)                   -   12,912 
  Related party loans 6,500 (20,922)          43,022 28,600 
  Import loans 201,402          113,427                   -   314,829 
  Total liabilities from financing activities        247,245 177,558          43,022 467,825 
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32. Ultimate Holding Company

 

The directors regard Management and Development Company Limited (MADCO), a limited liability company 
incorporated in Mauritius, as its holding company. The ultimate control of the Company remains with Société Beauvoir 
Holdings, a société civile.

           

33. Commitments        

 
Capital expenditure authorised for at end of the reporting period but not recognised in the financial statements is as 
follows: 

 
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Authorised but not contracted for 119,701 103,405 119,701 92,685 
  Authorised and contracted for 54,581 114,485 50,247 23,125 
    174,282 217,890 169,948 115,810 

           

34. Bank Guarantees
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Bank guarantees to third parties 665 150 665 150 

           
           
           

35. Related Party Transactions
   

Purchase of  
goods or services 

Rs000

Sales of goods  
or services 

Rs000

Amount owed 
to related parties 

Rs000

Amount owed 
by related parties 

Rs000

  THE GROUP
  2022        
  Holding company 23,083 -                 914 -   
  Fellow subsidiary companies 509,796 1,055,887          56,495 204,704 
  Enterprise with common directors                   -   1,528                   -   310 
  Associated companies        134,594 1,547          21,619 6,500 
           667,473 1,058,962          79,028 211,514 
           
  2021        
  Holding company           15,981 -              9,834 -   
  Fellow subsidiary companies           34,167 633,328            2,267 134,756 
  Enterprise with common directors        344,707 133,944          27,672 53,349 
  Associated companies        114,721 166          19,016 -   
           509,576 767,438          58,789 188,105 

         

 

Purchase of  
goods or services 

Rs000

Sales of goods  
or services 

Rs000

Amount owed 
to related parties 

Rs000

Amount owed 
by related parties 

Rs000

  THE COMPANY
  2022        
  Holding company 23,083 -                 914 -   
  Subsidiary companies           11,169 740,379               982 186,956 
  Fellow subsidiary companies        147,103 895,516          16,241 159,377 
  Enterprise with common directors                   -   1,528                   -   310 
  Associated companies        134,594 1,462          21,619 1,362 
           315,949 1,638,885          39,756 348,005 
           
  2021        
  Holding company           15,955 -              9,808 -   
  Subsidiary companies           11,488 344,934          18,722 128,514 
  Fellow subsidiary companies           34,167 711,092            2,267 142,942 
  Enterprise with common directors 36,650 4,208          24,291 386 
  Associated companies        114,721 166          19,016 -   
           212,981 1,060,400          74,104 271,842 
           
(a) The transactions to and from related parties are made at normal market prices. There has been no guarantees provided 

or received for any related party receivables or payables and outstanding balances at year end are unsecured. For the 
year ended 30 June 2022, the Group has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to amounts owed by 
related parties (2021: nil). This assessment is undertaken each financial year through examining the financial position of 
the related party and the market in which the related party operates. 

 

           
(b) Key management personnel compensation

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   
2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

2022 
Rs000

2021 
Rs000

  Salaries, bonuses and car benefits 34,780 33,015 22,367 20,192 
  Pension and other benefits 2,481 2,338 1,904 1,535 
    37,261 35,353 24,271 21,727 
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2022  2021 

   

Mauritian 
operations 

Rs000

International 
operations 

Rs000
Total 
Rs000

Mauritian 
operations 

Rs000

International 
operations 

Rs000
Total 
Rs000

  Segment assets 2,365,000 1,213,699 3,578,699 1,851,665 1,096,485 2,948,150 
  Associates 616,626 - 616,626 554,884 - 554,884 
    2,981,626 1,213,699 4,195,325 2,406,549 1,096,485 3,503,034 
               
  Segment liabilities 926,317 740,281 1,666,598 751,281 547,300 1,298,581 
               
     
  Interest expense (Note 27) 21,732 42,108 63,840 12,241 42,607 54,848 
  Cost of sales 2,699,039 1,187,861 3,886,900 1,910,282 905,551 2,815,833 
  Capital expenditure (Note 5) 140,591 76,860 217,451 141,310 84,940 226,250 
  Depreciation (Note 5) 50,424 36,259 86,683 42,586 29,285 71,871 
  Amortisation (Note 6) 9,519 640 10,159 9,643 599 10,242 

               

 
Group transactions represent elimination of intra group transactions which are entered into under the normal commercial terms and 
conditions that would be available to unrelated third parties. Segment assets consist of property, plant and equipment, intangible 
assets, inventories and receivables, investments, investment properties and cash and cash equivalents and exclude associates.  
Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities. Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets.

 

 

36. Segment Information

2022 2021

   

Mauritian 
operations 

Rs000

International 
operations 

Rs000

Group 
transactions 

Rs000
Total 
Rs000

Mauritian 
operations 

Rs000

International 
operations 

Rs000

Group 
transactions 

Rs000
Total 
Rs000

  Total segment revenues 2,189,254 3,067,768 13,928 5,270,950 2,190,950 1,509,213 (23,113) 3,677,050 
  Inter-segment sales (748,754) -   -   (748,754) (430,468) -   -   (430,468)

 
Revenues from external 
customers 1,440,500 3,067,768 13,928 4,522,196 1,760,482 1,509,213 (23,113) 3,246,582 

       
  Operating profit 151,784 115,889 13,928 281,601 74,987 48,117 (23,113) 99,991 
  Share of results of associates 18,200  -   -   18,200 52,785 112 -   52,897 
  Segment results 169,984 115,889 13,928 299,801 127,772 48,229 (23,113) 152,888 
  Net finance cost       (88,120)       (66,246)
  Profit before tax       211,681       86,642 
  Tax expense       (5,565)       (11,347)
  Profit for the year       206,116       75,295 
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